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Financial Highlights

REVENUE
$ billions

$ 2.3

$ 2.6

GROSS
MARGIN
%
$ 2.9

26.2

28.5

INCOME (LOSS)
FROM CONTINUING
OPERATIONS
$ millions
$ 48.9

29.5

FY
04
FY
04

FY
05

FY
06

FY
04

FY
05

FY
06

FY
05

$ (42.0)

DIVIDENDS PAID
$ millions
$ 49.2

EPS FROM
CONTINUING
OPERATIONS
$ dollars
$ 0.33

$ 35.5 $ 35.6

FY
04
FY
04

FY
05

FY
06

$ 0.08

FY
05

$ (0.28)
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$ 11.7

FY
06

FY
06

Introduction

Sales are up.
Gross margins are up.
Profits are up.
The dividend increased.
This year’s results make it easy to feel upbeat. But
there’s a new kind of optimism building at Steelcase.
It’s a sustainable optimism that takes into account
our challenges as well as our victories. An optimism
that won’t be shaken by the ups and downs of the
business cycle. Seeing what we’ve achieved gives us
the confidence to take on the next round of challenges.
Steelcase is the global leader in the office furniture
industry, and our emphasis on how people work—
and how we can improve the experience for everyone
connected to that work—is paying off.
On March 16, 2006, as Steelcase began its new
fiscal year, members of the senior leadership team
came together to reflect on the past year and discuss
the opportunities for continued growth. Given the
challenges of leading a global company, “together”
is a relative term. One leader joined the conversation
on his cell phone from a car on the Autobahn,
following a visit to a German plant. Another called in
from our International headquarters in France.
Together, their dialogue provides insight into the
company’s performance and direction.
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dialogue
participants
JIM HACKETT / President and Chief Executive Officer
MARK BAKER / Senior VP, Global Operations Officer
MARK GREINER / Senior VP, WorkSpace Futures
NANCY HICKEY / Senior VP, Chief Administrative Officer
JIM KEANE / Senior VP, Chief Financial Officer
MIKE LOVE / President and CEO, Steelcase Design Partnership
FRANK MERLOTTI / President, Steelcase North America
JIM MITCHELL / President, Steelcase International
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Senior Leadership Team › Dialogue

“Now we
recognize
that we can
change…”
JIM HACKETT:
FRANK MERLOTTI:

NANCY HICKEY:
MIKE LOVE:

JIM KEANE:

JIM HACKETT:

MARK BAKER:

JIM HACKETT:

Our meetings are normally more about problem-solving. It’s a
pleasure to spend a few minutes talking about a positive year.
The headline for me is that Steelcase grew faster than the market
in North America and all of our business segments were
profitable before restructuring charges.
I think the key is that we stayed the course.
That’s right. We’re following the strategies that we put in place
a few years ago, when we began to consolidate manufacturing
and reduce complexity. The payoff from those actions is just
beginning, and we expect to see continued improvement in
our earnings.
I think everyone has a different view of change. It used to be
something people were afraid of, because they were leaving
behind practices that had worked and were well understood.
But those practices don’t fit in today’s world. Now we recognize
that we can change—from old business models to new models,
from older products to newer ones, from a customer mix made
up of predominantly larger accounts to a more diversified one.
At the same time, we know the changes we’ve made in manufacturing and physical distribution created some temporary
disruption in our business. During those times, we didn’t live up
to our reputation for quality and on-time delivery.
We need to constantly earn the trust of our customers and
dealers. We’re taking steps in Operations to increase the emphasis on great service.
And that’s one of the reasons we created our new Leadership
Collaborative space, with technology that keeps our progress on
key measures visible all the time. We not only need customer
experience to be top of mind, we need to make sure our dealers
have a great experience, too.
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Senior Leadership Team › Dialogue

In surveys and focus groups, Steelcase employees say they are
more closely connecting to the strategy of delivering a better
work experience—they can understand it, get behind it and see
that they can contribute.
Exactly. I was just in our plant in Durlangen, Germany, one of
the sites where we’ve seen amazing improvements financially
and in service levels, and also in employee commitment.
Overall, our manufacturing employees tell me they have a
greater appreciation for the benefits of lean manufacturing,
but they’re still trying to get their arms fully around the
change to a new industrial system.

NANCY HICKEY:

MARK BAKER:

“We gained
a lot of traction
over the past
year…”
JIM MITCHELL:

FRANK MERLOTTI:

JIM KEANE:
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Lean has certainly had an impact on our gross margins, in
addition to the improvement in sales revenue. On the International side of our business, we performed especially well in
growth markets like France, Eastern and Central Europe,
Latin America and Asia.
If we’re listing reasons for optimism, here’s one: It may not
have a huge impact on our bottom line yet, but we’re getting
great feedback on the launch of our FolioFive program that
focuses on smaller customers in North America. They have
different needs than the Fortune 1000 and we need to serve
them differently. We’re looking at ways to broaden the offering
that we can put through this pipeline because the demand is
already there and it continues to grow.
And FolioFive is one of the reasons our Turnstone brand has
done so well. Turnstone is gaining ground in that mid-market
segment where Steelcase has not been the dominant player.

Senior Leadership Team › Dialogue

MARK BAKER:

MARK GREINER:

FRANK MERLOTTI:

MARK GREINER:

MIKE LOVE:

JIM MITCHELL:

MARK GREINER:

JIM HACKETT:

We also took a lot of cost out of the manufacturing system this
year. We’re almost done with the physical changes—we’re a year
away from completing the transition in North America from 13
million square feet of manufacturing space to around 5 million.
Moving to common product platforms and simplifying our
portfolio, along with other process improvements, will now be
key to helping us reach our operational excellence goals.
Meeting the needs of the A&D community is always a challenge,
but I’m optimistic based on my conversations with architects and
designers. We gained a lot of traction over the past year with
those groups.
That’s really happened over the past several years, hasn’t it?
The image of the Steelcase brand has definitely changed. We’re
being recognized more for our product innovation. The Think®
chair, for example, has been recognized for great design, as well
as for environmental innovation.
On multiple fronts, we have justified the science behind the work
that we do. We often hear customers start the conversation with
cost, but they don’t just want to be sold product; they want to
be informed.
I think it’s more than just being informed—we need to translate
that knowledge into products and applications that our customers can implement.
We have been strong advocates for the power of space and
we’ve seen customers increase their productivity. Now we’re
demonstrating it here in France. This is day four at our new
building in Strasbourg. We’re seeing new behaviors in people
who never had to change their work patterns before. It’s really
intriguing—people who always worked in private offices are
moving around with smiles on their faces. There’s more
collaboration, more connectivity.
A customer came through Grand Rapids the other day. They’re
building a new corporate headquarters and spent two days at
Steelcase talking with us about the future of work. One of them
sent me an e-mail this week that said, “Your company has
documented ‘the science of we.’” That’s his phrase—but it’s a
good way to describe our insights into how people work, both
individually and in teams.
Our Duo™ storage product, designed to help people work in
pairs, is an example of how we’ve taken those insights and
applied them to product innovation.
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Senior Leadership Team › Dialogue

“…and we want
to be the best
at delivering a
great customer
experience.”
MIKE LOVE:

FRANK MERLOTTI:

JIM KEANE:

MARK BAKER:

JIM HACKETT:
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Mark’s team has done some great observational research in
healthcare. And that learning has influenced our development of
a new healthcare brand, NurtureTM by Steelcase. We’re making
inroads into an industry that is growing, and we believe we can
leverage the Steelcase reputation for quality and durability with
a stronger focus on the specific needs of healthcare providers
and consumers.
In this coming year, we’re going to see a marked improvement
in the focus that we put on customer experience. We’ve already
begun by specifically asking our customers about the kind of
experiences they want from Steelcase. Customers will feel a
difference in terms of how we engage them, service them and
deliver to them. Ultimately, it will be a differentiating factor for us.
In some ways, delivering a great experience isn’t really a new
thing for us—it’s what made Steelcase great in the late
1980s. Now we’re designing different experiences because
the customers have different needs and expectations.
What you’re describing is happening on a global basis, too.
We’re developing a global supply chain that will allow us to take
control of the customer experience in China. The other concepts
we’ve been talking about in North America are quickly making
their way into Europe and other markets.
I remember Bob Pew, our former chairman of the board, saying,
“Jim, we don’t have to be everywhere. We want to be in the
places where our customers want us to go, and where we can
win.” Our customers are going to China. We’re going to China,

Senior Leadership Team › Dialogue

NANCY HICKEY:

FRANK MERLOTTI:

JIM KEANE:

MIKE LOVE:

JIM KEANE:

not to take it by storm the first year but to build a long-term
presence, and we want to be the best at delivering a great
customer experience.
China presents a mix of opportunities and challenges. It’s
certainly a growth market, but some of our bigger customers
are telling us that as they put more focus on Asia, they
will need less office space in North America. And there’s an
opportunity to establish a foothold in China around our
environmental work. Our director of environmental strategy
is now on the board of the China-U.S. Center for
Sustainable Development.
More and more, customers are asking us about environmental
issues and I think we have a great story to tell. To be in the
EPA’s Climate Leaders program, to be studying the chemical
composition of all of our products so we can eliminate harmful
compounds from the start...these are big steps. We’re thinking
about doing good for the environment instead of just doing
less harm.
From a financial perspective, there are more reasons to be
excited about the coming year. We have a balance sheet that’s
very strong; we’re generating strong cash flow to help fund
some of these growth initiatives. If there is another downturn,
we’re in a much better position to go through it, with a lower
breakeven point and less debt.
Steelcase today is a more diversified company, and we’ll be
even more diversified a year from now. Our base will include
not only the traditional corporate customer, but also healthcare,
higher education, smaller customers and companies in
emerging markets.
I go back to what we discussed with the global leadership
group. We have to believe in our vision, face our challenges
and celebrate our success. That creates a sustainable optimism
that takes you through good times and bad times. And that’s
what we’re starting to see at Steelcase.
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MANUFACTURING CONSOLIDATION
North America floorspace reduction

million sq. ft.

12.9
5.5
FY01

FY07

BEGINNING

END

(projected)
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CASH* / DEBT BALANCE
$ millions

$ 424

$ 354

$ 348

$ 326
$ 264

$ 263

Cash
Debt

FY04

FY05

FY06

*cash and short-term investments
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GLOBAL AIR EMISSIONS
VOCs* in tons

1111

612

391

116

CY01

CY02

*volatile organic compounds
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CY03

CY04

62
CY05

FY06 FRIENDS INDEED EMPLOYEE
VOLUNTEER PROGRAM

45

Agencies served

x10

629

Employee volunteers

x20

2868
Hours worked
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GLOBAL OFFICE FURNITURE MARKET SALES*
$ billions
$2.9

$1.9

$1.7
$1.4
$1.1

$1.1

*most recently
published
sales data
comparable
to Steelcase
FY06

$0.8

FY06 BUSINESS SEGMENT
REVENUE MIX

9%

12 %

Other

Steelcase
Design
Partnership

22%

International
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57 %
North America

$0.5

$0.5

TEKNION

SAMAS GROUP

KIMBALL

KNOLL

OKAMURA

KOKUYO

HAWORTH

HERMAN MILLER

HNI

STEELCASE

$0.6

Letter to Shareholders

to our fellow
shareholders:

MISSION:
Provide a better
work experience

STRATEGIES:
Design the “experience”
into everything we do
Achieve world class
process excellence
Grow the business

Fiscal year 2006 was a very good year
in many ways, but the single word that
best defines Steelcase’s performance
is “sustainable.”
Our recovery continues from the economic
downturn earlier in the decade, with
seven consecutive quarters of profitability.
We’re in the midst of changing our
business model so that results will be more
sustainable, even if the economy slows
again. Meanwhile, we believe the market
will continue to grow this year, catching
up from the period when many customers
elected to delay capital investment.

Treat people with
dignity and respect

Sustainability in our core business doesn’t
mean standing still. We have more changes
to make. We still face challenges. We
will never stop trying to improve. But there
is a new and sustainable optimism at
Steelcase, an optimism that gives us the
confidence to take on new challenges
because we can see how much we’ve
already achieved.

Promote positive
relationships

Sustainable Growth

CORE VALUES:
Act with integrity
Tell the truth
Keep commitments

Protect the
environment
Excel

I am proud of Steelcase and its people
for what we accomplished in fiscal 2006.
Let’s begin with financial performance.
Steelcase reported revenue of $2.9
billion, an increase of 9.8 percent over
the previous year. The company earned
a profit of $48.9 million, or $0.33 per
share, almost four times the earnings
reported in the prior year. We set

aggressive targets in each of our
business units, and we hit almost all of
them. Gross margins improved to 29.5
percent on a global basis. While this
number is still lower than we need it to
be, we are pleased with our progress.
Our balance sheet is even stronger this
year, with the combination of cash and
short-term investments reaching $424
million, a $76 million increase over the
end of fiscal 2005. We reduced debt by
$62 million to a year-end balance of
$264 million. Our shareholders saw an
annualized return of 26 percent over
the past three years.
What makes me confident that
this solid performance is sustainable?
Accomplishments like these:
As we continue to reinvent our industrial
model, we are nearing the end of a multiyear facility rationalization plan that
will reduce our manufacturing footprint
by nearly 60 percent—and still provide
capacity for volume growth.
We continue to simplify our product
platforms and streamline our supply chain,
while implementing lean manufacturing
practices around the world. Our plant in
Southern California won the 2006 Shingo
Business Prize, which one prominent
magazine calls the “Nobel Prize of lean.”
We are expanding our customer base, and
reducing the impact of future business
cycles, by launching a new healthcare
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Letter to Shareholders

company, aggressively going after smaller
customers and investing resources in
emerging markets such as China.
These achievements had a positive impact
on our fiscal 2006 results. We expect to
see a larger payback in the coming years.

This spring we launched a new healthcare
company, NurtureTM by Steelcase. The
name captures our intent: to leverage our
reputation for durability and quality while
making an emotional connection to
patients, caregivers and partners in care.
While we have always had a presence in
hospital office areas, we intend to become
a major player in clinical spaces as well.

A Passion for Great Experiences
Have you noticed that it’s harder to get
people to think about the future these
days? In politics, sports, business, media
—everyone is focused on the here and now.
The leaders who founded our company
believed in managing for the long term,
not just quarter-to-quarter. That philosophy has never changed, in good times
or in bad.
Today, there’s a new optimism in our
company based on sustainable results
and solid strategy. As we celebrate our
results, we’re confident that we can do
more, and do it faster.

Healthcare is just one example of our
focus on providing a better customer
experience. We begin with understanding
the needs of our audiences—users, facility
managers, architects, designers, dealers—
better than anyone else. We do that by
observing, asking the right questions and
listening intently. In healthcare, we’ve
watched how medical personnel work in
nurses’ stations, and how family members
try to make themselves comfortable in a
patient’s room. In healthcare, as in any
office environment, we want to spend as
much energy designing the experience
as we do designing our products.

Doing What’s Right
Steelcase has demonstrated industry
leadership in articulating the science
behind our products. I have challenged
our teams to move faster from thought
to action and bring our insights to
the market more quickly. Steelcase is
evolving as a global company, but I
believe we can do more to help our
people fully understand the nature of
global performance. And I want everyone to share a passion for delivering
great experiences.
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Sustainability is about more than just
financial results. A growing number of
customers are asking all of their partners
about their environmental performance.
That’s good for Steelcase because we’ve
been conscious of sustainable development for a long time. To understand the
environmental impact of what we build,
we have to start at the beginning. We are
currently engaged in a project to assess
the chemistry of each component of
our products.

We’re also interested in sustaining growth,
hope and prosperity in the communities
where we do business. The latest example
of that is our significant investment
in the West Michigan Center for Arts
and Technology in our corporate hometown of Grand Rapids, Michigan. The
center prepares at-risk students and
underskilled adults to be part of the 21st
century workforce, and gives them a
chance to discover their own brand of
sustainable optimism.
I’m also very proud of the growth in our
Friends InDeed employee volunteer
program. Steelcase people have a long
history of demonstrating their personal
commitment to our values and helping
to meet significant economic and
social needs. As we continue tracking
and encouraging participation, we
can make even more of a difference in
our communities.
Sustainable, innovative, focused on
the customer experience. These are the
attributes that will ensure Steelcase’s
continued leadership in our global
industry. I thank the 13,000 men and
women of Steelcase around the world
who continue to make this a company
we can all be proud of.

James P. Hackett
President and Chief Executive Officer

Steelcase Inc. 2006 Form 10-K

(Page Intentionally Left Blank)

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
¥

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended February 24, 2006
OR

n

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission File Number 1-13873

STEELCASE INC.
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its Charter)

Michigan

(State of incorporation)

38-0819050

(IRS employer identification number)

901 44th Street SE
Grand Rapids, Michigan

49508

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (616) 247-2710
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class

Class A Common Stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Name of each exchange on which registered

New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities
Act. Yes ≤
No n
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the
Act. Yes n
No ≤
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant
was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past
90 days. Yes ≤
No n
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained
herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements
incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. n
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated
filer. See definition of ""accelerated filer and large accelerated filer'' in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
Large accelerated filer ≤
Accelerated filer n
Non-accelerated filer n
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the
Act). Yes n No ≤
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity of the registrant held by non-affiliates,
computed by reference to the closing price of the Class A Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange, as of
August 26, 2005 (the last day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter) was approximately
$738 million. There is no quoted market for registrant's Class B Common Stock, but shares of Class B Common Stock
may be converted at any time into an equal number of shares of Class A Common Stock.
As of April 26, 2006, 77,169,035 shares of the registrant's Class A Common Stock and 72,774,442 shares of the
registrant's Class B Common Stock were outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE:
Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be held on
June 22, 2006, are incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K.

STEELCASE INC.
FORM 10-K
YEAR ENDED FEBRUARY 24, 2006
TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page No.

Part I
Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item
Item
Item
Item

1B.
2.
3.
4.

Part II
Item 5.
Item 6.
Item 7.
Item 7A.
Item 8.
Item 9.
Item 9A.
Item 9B.
Part III
Item 10.
Item 11.
Item 12.

Business ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Risk Factors ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

1
7

Unresolved Staff CommentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Properties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Legal Proceedings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Supplementary Item. Executive Officers of the Registrant ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

13
13
13
14
14

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Selected Financial Data ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosure ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Controls and Procedures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other Information ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

15
16
17
32
34
78
78
78

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Executive CompensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and
Related Stockholder Matters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

78
78

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Principal Accountant Fees and Services ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

79
80

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement SchedulesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Signatures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Schedule II ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Index of Exhibits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

80
81
S-1
E-1

Item 13.
Item 14.
Part IV

79

PART I
Item 1.

Business:

The following business overview is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information
included elsewhere or incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (""Report''). As
used in this Report, unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, all references
to ""Steelcase,'' ""we,'' ""our,'' ""the Company'' and similar references are to Steelcase Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a
fiscal year, ended in February of the year indicated, rather than a calendar year. Additionally, Q1, Q2,
Q3, and Q4 2006 reference the first, second, third, and fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, respectively, and
Q1 2007 references the first quarter of fiscal 2007. All amounts are in millions, except per share data,
data presented as a percentage or as otherwise indicated.
Our Business
Steelcase is the world's leading designer, marketer and manufacturer of office furniture and
complimentary products and services, with 2006 revenue of approximately $2.9 billion. We were
incorporated in 1912 as The Metal Office Furniture Company and changed our name to Steelcase Inc.
in 1954. We became a publicly-traded company in 1998 and our stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange.
The Company's mission is to provide knowledge, products and services that result in a better
work experience for our customers. We expect to grow our business by focusing on new geographic
and customer market segments while continuing to leverage our existing customer base, which we
believe represents the largest installed base in the industry.
Headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan, Steelcase is a global company with approximately
13,000 permanent employees. We sell our products through various channels including independent
dealers, company-owned dealers and direct sales to end-users and governmental units. Other
appropriate channels are employed to reach new customers and to serve existing customer segments
more efficiently. We operate using a global network of manufacturing and assembly facilities to supply
product to our various operating segments.
Our Products
We are focused on providing knowledge, products and services that enable our customers to
create work environments that help people in offices work more effectively while helping organizations
utilize space more efficiently. We offer a broad range of products with a variety of aesthetic options
and performance features, and at various price points that address three core elements of a work
environment: furniture, interior architecture and technology. Our reportable segments generally offer
similar or complementary products under some or all of the categories listed below:
Furniture
Panel-based and freestanding furniture systems. Moveable and reconfigurable furniture components used to create individual workstations and complete work environments. Systems furniture
provides visual and acoustical privacy, accommodates power and data cabling, and supports
technology and other worktools.
Storage.

Lateral and vertical files, cabinets, bins and shelves, carts, file pedestals and towers.

Seating. High-performance, ergonomic, executive, guest, lounge, team, health care, stackable
and general use chairs.
Tables. Conference, training, personal and cafeπ tables.
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Textiles and surface materials. Upholstery, wall covering, drapery, panel fabrics, architectural
panels, shades and screens and surface imaging.
Desks and Suites. Wood and non-wood desks, credenzas and casegoods.
Worktools. Computer support, technology management and information management products
and portable whiteboards.
Architecture
Interior architecture. Full and partial height walls and doors with a variety of surface materials,
raised floors and modular post and beam products.
Lighting. Task, ambient and accent lighting with energy efficient and user control features.
Technology
Infrastructure.
cabling.

Infrastructure products, such as modular communications, data and power

Appliances. Group communication tools, such as interactive and static whiteboards, image
capturing devices and web-based interactive space-scheduling devices.
Our Services
IDEO provides product design and innovation services to companies in a variety of industries.
IDEO's world-class consultants and engineers design products, services, environments and digital
experiences.
In addition, in North America we offer services to help our customers more fully leverage their
physical space to drive down and control occupancy costs while at the same time enhance the
performance of their employees. Our services include:
‚ Furniture and asset management, and
‚ Workplace strategies consulting.
Reportable Segments
We operate on a worldwide basis within three reportable segments: North America, the Steelcase
Design Partnership (""SDP'') and International, plus an ""Other'' category. Additional information about
our reportable segments, including financial information about geographic areas, is contained in
Item 7: Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
North America Segment
Our North America segment serves customers mainly through independent and company-owned
dealers in over 330 locations in the United States and Canada. Each of our dealers maintains their
own sales force which is complemented by our sales representatives who work closely with the
dealers throughout the sales process. No single independent dealer accounted for more than 5.0% of
our segment revenue for 2006. The five largest independent dealers collectively accounted for
approximately 12.4% of our segment revenue.
We do not believe our business is dependent on any single dealer, the loss of which would have
a material effect upon our business. However, temporary disruption of dealer coverage within a
specific local market due to financial failure or the inability to smoothly transition ownership could
temporarily have an adverse impact on our business within the affected market. From time to time, we
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obtain a controlling interest in dealers that are undergoing an ownership transition. It is typically our
intent to sell these dealerships as soon as it is practical.
Our offerings in the North America segment include furniture, architecture, and technology
products, as described above, under the Steelcase and Turnstone brands. In 2006, the North America
segment accounted for $1,628.0 or 56.7% of our total revenue and at the end of the year had
approximately 7,200 permanent employees and 1,200 temporary workers, of which 4,400 of the total
workers relate to manufacturing.
The North America office furniture markets are highly competitive, with a number of competitors
offering similar categories of product. In these markets, companies compete on price, delivery and
relationships with customers, architects and designers. Our most significant competitors in the United
States are Haworth, Inc., Herman Miller, Inc., HNI Corporation, Kimball International Inc., and Knoll, Inc.
Together with Steelcase, these companies represent approximately 60% of the United States office
furniture market.
Steelcase Design Partnership Segment
The SDP segment is comprised of five brands focused on higher end design furniture products
and niche applications. Each brand has its own competitors which are generally focused on a small
group of specialized products. DesignTex is focused on surface materials including textiles, wall
covering, shades, screens and surface imaging. Details designs and markets computer support and
ergonomic tools and accessories for the workplace. Brayton, Vecta, and Metro each provide different
furniture products, including solutions for lobby and reception areas, conference rooms, private offices,
health care and learning environments. The SDP segment markets and sells its products through
many of the same dealers as the North America segment. In 2006, the SDP segment accounted for
$340.8, or 11.9% of our total revenue and at the end of the year had approximately 1,300 permanent
employees and 100 temporary workers, of which 600 of the total workers relate to manufacturing.
International Segment
Our International segment serves customers outside of the United States and Canada primarily
under the Steelcase and SDP brands. The International office furniture market is highly competitive
and fragmented. We compete with many different local or regional manufacturers in many different
markets. In most cases, these competitors focus their strengths on selected product categories. The
International segment has its greatest presence in Europe where we have the leading market share.
The International segment serves customers through independent and company-owned dealers in
about 470 locations. In certain geographic markets the segment sells directly to customers. In 2006,
our International segment accounted for $644.5, or 22.5% of our total revenue and at the end of the
year had approximately 3,000 permanent employees and 400 temporary workers, and approximately
1,800 of the total workers relate to manufacturing.
Other Category
The Other category currently includes our PolyVision, IDEO and Steelcase Financial Services
subsidiaries and unallocated corporate expenses.
PolyVision designs and manufactures visual communications products, such as static and
electronic whiteboards. The majority of PolyVision's revenue relates to static whiteboards in the
primary and secondary education markets. PolyVision primarily sells to general contractors through a
direct bid process. PolyVision's remaining revenues are generated from electronic whiteboards and
group communication tools sold through our North America dealer network and other audio-visual
resellers.
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IDEO provides product design and innovation services to companies in a variety of industries
including communications, consumer products, healthcare, information technology and manufacturing
among others.
Steelcase Financial Services provides leasing services to North America and SDP customers and
selected financing services to our dealers.
Approximately 83% of corporate expenses for shared services are charged to the operating
segments as part of a corporate allocation. Unallocated expenses are reported within the Other
category.
In 2006, the Other category accounted for $255.6, or 8.9% of our total revenue.
Joint Ventures
We enter into joint ventures from time to time to expand our geographic presence or support our
distribution network. At February 24, 2006, our investment in joint ventures was $9.2. Our portion of
the income or loss from the joint ventures is recorded in Other income, net, in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. Our primary joint ventures include:
Steelcase JeraisyÌWe own 49% of this office furniture manufacturer in Saudi Arabia that serves
customers primarily in the Saudi market.
WorkstageÌWe own 44% of this U.S. based company that designs and constructs buildings that
focus on the integration of the three core elements of the work environment: architecture, furniture
and technology.
KSMÌWe own 25% of this Japanese office furniture manufacturer that supports our distribution
in the Japanese market.
Customer and Dealer Concentrations
Our largest direct sale customer accounted for approximately 1.4% of our total revenue in 2006
and our five largest direct sale customers accounted for approximately 4.1% of consolidated revenue.
However, these percentages do not include revenue from various government agencies and other
entities purchasing under our General Services Administration contract, which in the aggregate
accounted for approximately 2.1% of our consolidated revenue. We do not believe our business is
dependent on any single or small number of end-use customers, the loss of which would have a
material adverse effect upon our business.
No single independent dealer accounted for more than 2.9% of our consolidated revenue for
2006. The five largest independent dealers collectively accounted for approximately 8.5% of our
consolidated revenue.
Global Manufacturing and Supply Chain
Manufacturing and Logistics
Historically, each of our segments, and in some cases, brands within segments, had their own
dedicated manufacturing facilities. In many cases, these plants were highly vertically integrated which
helped us maintain control over our make-to-order system. We invested in automation which improved
labor productivity but also resulted in a relatively capital intensive operation with significant work in
process inventories because of a batch and queue approach.
Over the last several years, we have been migrating to a different industrial model based on lean
principles which emphasize continuous one-piece flow and discourage batch and queue. Moving to
this approach has reduced the capital needs of our business, reduced inventories, and reduced the
amount of floor space we need to produce products.
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The recent industry downturn along with the migration to lean manufacturing created significant
excess manufacturing capacity which we have been reducing over the last few years. At the end of
2000, we had approximately 17.5 million square feet of manufacturing facilities worldwide. During
fiscal years 2001 to 2005, we have undergone significant restructuring driven by the need to reduce
our excess capacity in response to lower industry demand. At the end of 2006, we had reduced our
square footage dedicated to manufacturing by approximately 5.6 million square feet to approximately
11.9 million square feet. We currently manufacture and distribute our products in 28 principal
locations throughout the world. See Item 2: Properties for additional information regarding real estate
held for sale and idle property. We will continue to examine opportunities to consolidate our
manufacturing and distribution operations and dispose of assets that represent excess capacity.
The increased breadth of our product line over the last 10 years has increased the number of
parts and manufacturing stock keeping units (""SKUs''), which has increased the complexity and cost
of many of our manufacturing operations. The Company launched an initiative in 2005 to utilize more
common part platforms, streamline our product offerings and increase sales volume per SKU to
reduce complexity in our industrial system. During 2006, we implemented projects to simplify large
case manufacturing and panel manufacturing and we expect to continue to implement additional
projects during 2007.
We are continuing to create a more flexible industrial modelÌone that moves away from facilities
dedicated to manufacturing for a single or limited number of geographic locations and towards a
global network of manufacturing, assembly and logistics operations with a global network of integrated
suppliers that can serve customer needs across multiple brands and geographies. In 2005, we
centralized our global manufacturing under a single organization to help achieve this goal. This change
had no impact on how our operating results are reviewed by our chief operating decision maker.
Our physical distribution system in North America and Europe utilizes both our company-owned
trucking fleet and commercial transport and delivery services. In North America, we are in the process
of establishing a number of regional distribution centers throughout the United States to improve
service to customers and dealers and reduce freight cost throughout the value stream.
Raw Materials and Suppliers
The Company's manufacturing materials are available from a significant number of sources within
North America, Europe and Asia. To date, we have not experienced difficulties obtaining raw
materials, which include steel and other metals, wood, paper, paint, plastics, acoustical materials,
foam, laminates, particleboard, veneers, glass, fabrics, leathers and upholstery filling material. These
raw materials are not unique to our industry nor are they rare. Certain commodity prices have
fluctuated significantly in recent years due to changes in the global supply and demand. There is
some risk that these changes could lead to higher than expected costs or future supply interruptions
although we do not expect nor have we experienced any such interruptions to date. See Item 7:
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for a
discussion of raw materials prices.
Research, Design and Development
Steelcase's extensive researchÌa combination of user observations, feedback sessions and
sophisticated network analysisÌhas helped the Company develop unique expertise in helping people
work more effectively. We team up with other innovatorsÌleading universities, think tanks and
knowledge leadersÌto expand and deepen our understanding of how people work.
Understanding patterns of work enables us to identify and anticipate user needs. Our design
teams develop prototypical solutions to address these needs. These solutions are sometimes single
products and/or enhancements to existing products, and are sometimes integrated architecture,
furniture and technology solutions. Design work is organizationally distributed across our major
businesses and can involve outside design services.
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Our marketing team evaluates product concepts using several criteria, including financial return
metrics, and chooses which products will be developed and launched. Next, designers work closely
with our engineers and outside suppliers to co-develop products and processes that lead to more
efficient manufacturing while incorporating innovative user features. Products are tested for
performance, quality and compliance with applicable standards and regulations.
Exclusive of royalty payments, we have invested $135.4 in research, design and development
activities over the past three years. Royalties are sometimes paid to outside designers of our products
as the products are sold and are not included in the research, design and development costs since
they are variable, based on product sales. The Company continues to invest approximately two
percent of its revenue in research and development each year. See Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements for more information regarding research, design and development costs.
Intellectual Property
Steelcase's commitment to research and development has resulted in our being awarded more
U.S. design and utility patents than any other manufacturer in our industry. Currently, Steelcase holds
approximately 650 active U.S. design and utility patents for current and anticipated products, and
approximately 750 patents in other countries. The average remaining life of the utility patents in our
United States portfolio is approximately 10 years. We have also registered various trademarks and
service marks in the United States and other countries. Collectively, we hold registrations for
approximately 150 United States and 1,350 foreign trademarks.
We occasionally enter into license agreements under which we pay a royalty to third parties for
the use of patented products, designs or process technology. We have established a global network
of intellectual property licenses with our affiliates. We also selectively license our intellectual property
to third parties as a revenue source. For example, our Leap» seating technology has been licensed for
use in automotive and aircraft seating, and we are pursuing other licensing opportunities for this
technology.
We do not believe that any material part of our business is dependent on the continued
availability of any one or all of our patents or trademarks, or that our business would be materially
adversely affected by the loss of any of such, except the ""Brayton,'' ""DesignTex,'' ""Details,'' ""IDEO,''
""Leap,'' ""Metro,'' ""PolyVision,'' ""Steelcase,'' ""Turnstone'' and ""Vecta'' trademarks.
Working Capital
Our receivables are primarily from our dealers, and to a lesser degree, direct sale customers.
Payment terms vary by country and region. The terms of our North America and SDP segments, and
certain markets within the International segment, encourage prompt payment by offering a discount.
Other International markets have, by market convention, longer payment terms. In 2006 we changed
the terms for our North America and SDP segments to encourage faster payment. We are not aware
of any special or unusual practices or conditions related to working capital items, including accounts
receivable, inventory and accounts payable, which are significant to understanding our business or the
industry at large.
Backlog
Our products are generally manufactured and shipped within four to six weeks following receipt of
order; therefore, we do not view the amount of backlog at any particular time as a meaningful
indicator of longer-term shipments.
Environmental Matters
We are subject to a variety of federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the
discharge of materials into the environment, or otherwise relating to the protection of the environment
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(""Environmental Laws''). We believe our operations are in substantial compliance with all
Environmental Laws. We do not believe that existing Environmental Laws and regulations have had or
will have any material effects upon our capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position.
Under certain Environmental Laws, Steelcase could be held liable, without regard to fault, for the
costs of remediation associated with our existing or historical operations. We could also be held
responsible for third-party property and personal injury claims or for violations of Environmental Laws
relating to contamination. Steelcase is a party to, or otherwise involved in, proceedings relating to
several contaminated properties being investigated and remediated under Environmental Laws,
including as a potentially responsible party in several Superfund site cleanups. Based on our
information regarding the nature and volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released at these
properties, other financially viable potentially responsible parties and the total estimated cleanup
costs, we do not believe that the costs to us associated with these properties will be material, either
individually or in the aggregate. We have established reserves that we believe are adequate to cover
our anticipated remediation costs. However, certain events could cause our actual costs to vary from
the established reserves. These events include, but are not limited to: a change in governmental
regulations and/or cleanup standards or requirements; undiscovered information regarding the nature
and volume of wastes allegedly disposed of or released at these properties; and other factors
increasing the cost of remediation or the loss of other potentially responsible parties that are
financially capable of contributing towards cleanup costs.
Employees
As of February 24, 2006, Steelcase had approximately 13,000 permanent employees including
7,500 hourly employees and 5,500 salaried employees. Additionally, Steelcase had 1,800 temporary
workers who primarily work in manufacturing. 330 employees in the United States are covered by
collective bargaining agreements. Internationally, a significant number of employees are covered by
workers' councils that operate to promote the interests of workers. Management believes that we
continue to maintain strong relations with our employees.
Available Information
We file annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements, and other documents with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (""SEC'') under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
""Exchange Act''). The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC's
Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 2521, Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may
obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Internet website at www.sec.gov that contains reports,
proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers, including Steelcase, that file
electronically with the SEC.
We also make available free of charge through our Internet website, www.steelcase.com, our
annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and any
amendments to these reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such
reports with or furnish them to the SEC. In addition, the Company's Corporate Governance Principles
and the charters for the Audit, Compensation, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees
are available free of charge through our website or by writing to Investor Relations, PO Box 1967,
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49501-1967.
We are not including the information contained on our website as a part of, or incorporating it by
reference into, this Report.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors:

The following risk factors and other information included in this Form 10-K should be carefully
considered. The risks and uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional
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risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less significant may also
adversely affect our business, operating results, cash flows, and financial condition. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, operating results, cash flows and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected.
Our efforts to restructure our industrial model may not be successful.
Over the last several years, we have been migrating to a more flexible industrial model based on
lean manufacturing principles and a simpler product portfolio. We also began to adopt a global supply
chain. These strategies have led to restructuring of our manufacturing operations in our North America
and International segments. The restructuring of our manufacturing operations has involved actions
such as workforce reductions, facility rationalizations and the disposition of excess assets, including
real estate. The cost of these actions has had the effect of reducing our recent earnings until
expected cost savings are achieved. It is likely that these kinds of actions will continue to be
necessary as we pursue with our strategy. It is possible the scope of our restructuring efforts and the
related costs will be higher than we currently anticipate.
The success of our restructuring initiatives is dependent on several factors, including our ability to
manage facility consolidation without disrupting existing customer commitments, efficient implementation of lean manufacturing techniques, simplifying our product portfolio, establishing cost effective
regional distribution centers, and implementing global sourcing and supply chain initiatives. Such
actions may not be accomplished as quickly and effectively as anticipated, and we may not realize
the expected benefits of our restructuring activities, either of which would have a negative impact on
our results of operations.
We may not be able to successfully implement and manage our growth strategy.
Our growth strategy calls for expansion in:
‚ existing markets by leveraging our existing distribution to more fully serve existing customers
and to win new customers, and
‚ new adjacent markets such as the mid-market segment of the office furniture market, vertical
markets such as healthcare and education and emerging international markets.
We believe that our future success will depend upon our ability to deliver to our customers a
great experience, which includes innovative, well-made products and world class processes. Our
success will rely in part on our research and development and engineering efforts, our ability to
manufacture or source the products, and customer acceptance of our products. As it relates to new
markets, our success will also depend on our ability to create and implement distribution strategies to
reach these markets. Our inability to successfully implement and manage our growth strategy could
adversely affect our business and our results of operations.
Our efforts to grow our business in emerging markets include the risk factors listed below relating
to our global operations, but can also include other risks. In certain markets in Asia and Eastern
Europe where we are expanding our business, the legal and political environment can be unstable and
uncertain which could make it difficult for us to compete successfully and to protect our investments
or sell our investments in the future. As we hire new people and establish new processes in these
locations, we will implement our global business standards, but there is some risk our activities could
expose us to liabilities.
We also make investments in new business development initiatives which, like most startups,
have a high failure rate. We limit our investments in these initiatives and establish governance
procedures to contain the associated risks, but losses could result and may be material. In the past,
we have also made minority investments in external startup companies and we continue to hold some
of these investments. While we have established reserves related to these investments,
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it is possible these companies will not be successful or that it will be difficult for us to sell our
investment.
We operate in a highly competitive environment and may not be able to compete
successfully.
The office furniture industry is highly competitive, with a number of competitors offering similar
categories of product. We compete on a variety of factors, including: brand recognition and
reputation, price, lead time, delivery and service, product design and features, product quality,
strength of dealers and other distributors, and relationships with customers and key influencers, such
as architects, designers and facility managers. In North America, our top competitors in our primary
markets are Haworth, Inc., Herman Miller, Inc., HNI Corporation, Kimball International Inc. and Knoll,
Inc. Some of our competitors have lower cost structures and a broader offering of moderately priced
products, making it more difficult for us to compete in certain customer segments. In addition, such
competition may prevent us from maintaining or raising the prices of our products in response to
rising raw material prices and other inflationary pressures.
Although we do not have major offshore competitors in our North America segment, there are
other segments of the North America furniture industry, notably the residential furniture and made-tostock office furniture segments, where lower-cost imports have become dominant. It is possible we
could see increased competition from imports in our core markets.
In international markets, we tend to compete against a larger number of smaller size competitors.
Most of our top competitors have strong relationships with their existing customers that can be a
source of significant future sales through repeat and expansion orders. These competitors
manufacture products with strong acceptance in the marketplace and can develop products that
could have a competitive advantage over Steelcase products. In certain markets, we compete using
an import model which requires longer lead times than local competitors with domestic supply chains.
Our continued success will depend upon many things, including our ability to continue to
manufacture and market high quality, high performance products at competitive prices and our ability
to evolve our business model and implement world class processes to enable us to effectively
compete in the office furniture industry's increasingly competitive environment. Our success is also
dependent on our ability to sustain our positive brand reputation and recognition among existing and
potential customers and use our brand and our trademarks effectively as we enter new markets.
A downturn in the cyclical office furniture industry could adversely impact our revenues and
profits.
Office furniture industry revenues are impacted by a variety of cyclical macroeconomic factors
such as corporate profits, non-residential fixed investment, white-collar employment growth and
commercial office construction. Our product sales are directly tied to corporate spending which is
outside of our control. Geopolitical uncertainties, terrorist attacks, acts of war, natural disasters, and
other world events or combinations of such and other factors that are outside of our control could also
have a significant effect on business confidence, the global economy, and therefore, our business.
The global office furniture industry experienced a significant downturn in recent years which
dramatically impacted our profitability because of the high level of fixed costs associated with our
business. If another economic or industry downturn occurred in a similar magnitude as experienced
during recent years, we may not be able to react fast enough to counteract the decline which could
negatively impact our operating results, financial condition and access to capital. Other influences on
our industry include technology changes, organizational change, employee health and safety
concerns, and the globalization of companies. The trend towards outsourcing white collar jobs could
cause our major customers in our core markets to shift employment growth to countries where our
market share is not as strong.
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Our global operations subject us to risks that may negatively affect our results of operations
and financial condition.
We have sales offices and manufacturing facilities in many countries, and as a result, we are
subject to risks associated with doing business globally. Our global operations may be subject to risks
that may limit our ability to manufacture, design, develop or sell products in particular countries, which
could in turn have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition, including:
‚ differing employment practices and labor issues,
‚ local business and cultural factors that differ from our normal standards and practices,
‚ regulatory requirements and prohibitions that differ between jurisdictions,
‚ restrictions on our operations by governments seeking to support local industries, nationalization of our operations and restrictions on our ability to repatriate earnings, and
‚ natural disasters, security concerns, including crime, political instability, terrorist activity, armed
conflict and civil or military unrest, and global health issues.
In the United States and most countries in Europe, our revenues and costs are typically in the
same currency. However there are some situations where we export and import products in different
currencies. We also may hold assets, such as equity investments, real estate investments and cash
balances, or incur debt in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in the rate of exchange
between the U.S. dollar and the currencies of other countries in which we conduct business, and
changes in currency controls with respect to such countries, could negatively impact our business,
operating results and financial condition. In addition, changes in tariff and import regulations and
changes to U.S. and international monetary policies may also negatively impact our revenue. Varying
tax rates in different jurisdictions could negatively impact our overall tax rate.
Disruptions to the supply of raw materials, components and labor in our manufacturing
operations could adversely affect our supply chain management.
We are reliant on the timely flow of raw materials and components from third party suppliers and
our own manufacturing operations. The flow of such materials and components may be affected by:
‚ fluctuations in the availability and quality of the raw materials,
‚ damage and loss or disruption of production from accidents, natural disasters and other
causes, and
‚ disruptions caused by labor activities.
We expect to continue to migrate to a less vertically integrated manufacturing model, which will
increase our reliance on an international network of suppliers. Any disruptions in the supply and
delivery of products or deficiencies in our ability to develop and manage our international network of
suppliers could have an adverse impact on our business, operating results or financial condition.
We could be adversely affected by increasing raw material costs.
We procure raw materials from a significant number of sources within the United States, Canada,
Europe and Asia. These raw materials are not rare or unique to our industry. The absolute level and
volatility in steel and other commodity costs, such as energy, have significantly increased in recent
years due to changes in global supply and demand. These changes could also lead to supply
interruptions. Our gross margins could be affected if these types of costs remain high or escalate
further. In the short run, rapid changes in supply costs can be very difficult to offset because of price
hold agreements we have entered into with our customers. It is difficult to find effective hedge
markets to manage these risks. In the longer run, we may not be successful in passing along a
portion of the higher raw materials costs to our customers because of competitive pressures.
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Disruptions within our dealer network could adversely affect our business.
In the United States and Canada, we rely largely on a network of independent and companyowned dealers to market our products to customers. Our business is influenced by our ability to
initiate and manage new and existing relationships with dealers. We do not have written contracts
with our domestic dealers; however, they are subject to a uniform set of guidelines prescribed by us.
From time to time, an individual dealer or Steelcase may choose to terminate the relationship, or
the dealership could face financial difficulty leading to failure or difficulty in transitioning to new
ownership. In addition, our competitors or other third parties could engage in a strategy to attempt to
acquire or convert a number of our dealers to carry their products. We do not believe our business is
dependent on any single dealer, the loss of which would have a sustained material adverse effect
upon our business. However, temporary disruption of dealer coverage within a specific local market
could temporarily have an adverse impact on our business within the affected market. The loss or
termination of a significant number of dealers could cause difficulties in marketing and distributing our
products and have an adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition. In the
event that a dealer in a strategic market experiences financial difficulty, we may choose to make
financial investments in the dealership, thereby increasing our financial exposure.
A portion of our international distribution network is owned because of the need for us to make
financial investments in dealerships. If we are not able to effectively manage these dealerships, they
could have a negative effect on our operating results. In certain cases we have adopted a direct
model of distribution through which we establish a company-owned sales and service capability. This
model involves increased customer credit risk, the risk of conflict with other distribution channels, and
the risk that we will not be able to compete effectively to win business in those markets because of a
more limited breadth of product offering than a dealer who carries multiple lines of products.
We are exposed to credit risk associated with our dealer network.
In specific situations, the Company may choose to extend credit to or guarantee the obligations
of a dealer which can increase our financial exposure.
A significant portion of our accounts receivable is due from our dealers. Individual dealers may
not continue to be viable or profitable. If dealers go out of business or restructure, we may suffer
losses because such dealers may not be able to pay for products already delivered to them.
Sometimes we loan funds to, or invest funds in, dealers for project financing or to finance
ownership changes. We carefully monitor the financial condition of dealers involved in financial and
ownership transition transactions. While most of the dealers that have transition financing from us are
able to honor their financial obligations, some individual dealers could face financial challenges. If
these dealers experience declines in revenues, the likelihood of losses resulting from these financing
transactions could increase and we may have to record additional charges or reserves, as necessary.
Such losses could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial
condition.
We could be adversely affected by increasing healthcare costs.
We provide healthcare benefits to the majority of our employees and certain of our retirees and
their respective eligible dependents. The cost of providing such benefits has increased significantly in
recent years and is expected to continue to increase. Although we have taken various actions
intended to mitigate the impact of such cost increases, such as making changes in benefit plan
design, changing plan administrators and increasing the portion of the cost of healthcare benefits
borne by plan participants, if our actions are not effective in mitigating the cost increases, or if we are
unable to continue to mitigate such increases because of contractual obligations or competitive
pressures, our results of operations will be adversely affected.
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We could incur material costs related to product defects.
We incur various expenses related to product defects, including product warranty costs, product
recall and retrofit costs and product liability costs. The amount of our product defect expenses relative
to product sales varies from time to time and could increase in the future. We maintain a reserve for
our product warranty costs based on certain estimates and our knowledge of current events and
actions, but our actual warranty costs could exceed our reserve and we could need to increase our
accruals for warranty charges. Any significant increase in the rate of our product defect expenses
could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
There may be significant limitations to our utilization of net operating losses to offset future
taxable income.
We have significant asset values related to net operating loss carryforwards (""NOLs'') in various
jurisdictions. We may be unable to generate sufficient taxable income from future operations in the
applicable jurisdiction to fully utilize our NOLs. We have NOLs in various currencies that are also
subject to foreign exchange risk which could reduce the amount that we will ultimately realize.
Additionally, future changes in tax laws or interpretations of such tax laws may limit our ability to fully
utilize our NOLs.
Our investments in company-owned life insurance are subject to market risk which could
adversely affect our results of operation and financial condition.
We have investments in company-owned life insurance policies with the intention of utilizing them
as a long-term funding source for post-retirement medical benefits, deferred compensation and
supplemental retirement plan obligations. The cash value of these policies is based on the market
value of bond and equity investments and can fluctuate as these markets fluctuate. In addition, the
investment managers actively manage certain investments and their results could be better or worse
than the broader United States equity markets returns.
Our acquisition, joint venture, or alliance activities may not be successful.
Our growth strategy may involve acquisitions, joint ventures, alliances and additional channels of
distribution. Some of the risks associated with these activities are:
‚ we may not identify attractive opportunities or be able to enter into transactions on acceptable
terms and at the right price,
‚ we may not successfully integrate acquired entities into our operations and be able to retain
key employees of the acquired companies,
‚ our business philosophy may change which could affect the business rationale for our joint
ventures or alliances, and
‚ we may not successfully implement new distribution channels, and changes could create
discord in our existing channels of distribution.
We are subject to extensive environmental regulations.
Our operations are subject to federal, state, local and foreign environmental and occupational
health and safety laws, and our financial results could be adversely affected if we fail to comply with
such laws. We are currently liable for various investigations and remediation of environmental
contamination, and we have been identified as a potentially responsible party in several Superfund site
cleanups. Any present or future investigations and remedial efforts relating to environmental matters
could entail material costs or otherwise result in material liabilities. The amount of future clean-up
costs and other environmental liabilities could be material. See the discussion under ""Environmental
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Matters'' in Item 1: Business for additional information regarding potential liabilities that we may incur
in connection with environmental matters.
Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments:

None.
Item 2.

Properties:

The Company, has operations at locations throughout the United States and around the world.
None of our owned properties are mortgaged or are held subject to any significant encumbrance. We
believe our facilities are in good operating condition and that, at present, are in excess of that needed
to meet current volume needs and anticipated future increases. The Company is currently reducing its
owned properties to a more appropriate level. Our global headquarters is located in Grand Rapids,
Michigan. Our owned and leased principal manufacturing and distribution locations with greater than
60,000 square feet are as follows:
Number of Principal
Locations

Segment/Category Primarily Supported

Owned

Leased

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
SDPÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
PolyVision (within the ""Other'' category) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

11
4
8
5

9
1
7
3

2
3
1
2

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

28

20

8

In addition to the facilities included in the table above, the manufacturing and distribution facilities
in our Grand Rapids complex (the ""Grand Rapids complex'') plus five other facilities are being
actively marketed. The assets of the Grand Rapids complex and one other facility are reported as
assets held for sale included in Other Current Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
remaining four facilities consist of idle manufacturing, warehouse and office space. These four facilities
do not qualify as assets held for sale since we do not expect to sell the space within the next twelve
months.
Item 3.

Legal Proceedings:

We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. Based on
known information, we do not believe we are a party to any lawsuit or proceeding that is likely to have
a material adverse effect on the Company.
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Item 4.

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders:

None.
Supplementary Item.

Executive Officers of the Registrant:

Our executive officers are:
Name

Age

Position

Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

46

Senior Vice President, Global Operations Officer

Jon D. Botsford ÏÏÏÏÏÏ

51

Senior Vice President, Secretary and Chief Legal Officer

Mark T. Greiner ÏÏÏÏÏÏ

54

Senior Vice President, WorkSpace Futures

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏ

51

President and Chief Executive Officer, Director

Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏ

54

Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer

James P. KeaneÏÏÏÏÏÏ

46

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Michael I. Love ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

57

President and Chief Executive Officer, Steelcase Design Partnership

Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏ

55

President, Steelcase North America

James G. Mitchell ÏÏÏÏ

56

President, Steelcase International

Mark A. Baker has been Senior Vice President, Global Operations Officer since September 2004.
Mr. Baker served as Senior Vice President, Operations from November 2001 to September 2004.
Mr. Baker served as Vice President, Manufacturing Operations from March to November 2001.
Jon D. Botsford has been Senior Vice President, Secretary and Chief Legal Officer since June
2000.
Mark T. Greiner has been Senior Vice President, WorkSpace Futures since November 2002.
Mr. Greiner was Senior Vice President, Research & Development, Concepts and Ventures from 2001
to 2002. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Greiner held the position of Senior Vice President, Global E-Business
and Chief Information Officer.
James P. Hackett has been President, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company since
December 1994. Mr. Hackett also serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of the Northwestern
Mutual Life Insurance Company and the Board of Directors of Fifth Third Bancorp.
Nancy W. Hickey has been Senior Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer since November
2001. Ms. Hickey served as Senior Vice President, Global Human Resources from March to November
2001.
James P. Keane has been Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer since April 2001.
Michael I. Love has been President and Chief Executive Officer, Steelcase Design Partnership
since May 2000.
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. has been President, Steelcase North America since September 2002. From
1999 to 2002, Mr. Merlotti was President and Chief Executive Officer of G&T Industries, a
manufacturer and distributor of fabricated foam and soft-surface materials.
James G. Mitchell has been President, Steelcase International since June 2004. Mr. Mitchell
served as Managing Director, United Kingdom from 2003 to June 2004. From 1999 to 2003,
Mr. Mitchell was President, Steelcase Canada.
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PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities:

The Class A Common Stock of Steelcase Inc. is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under
the symbol ""SCS''. Our Class B Common Stock is neither registered under the Securities Act of 1933
nor publicly traded. See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our
common stock. As of April 26, 2006, we had outstanding 149,943,477 shares of common stock with
9,831 shareholders of record. Of these amounts, 77,169,035 shares are Class A Common Stock with
9,699 shareholders of record and 72,774,442 shares are Class B Common Stock with 132 shareholders of record.
Class A Common Stock End of
Day Per Share Price Range

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Fiscal 2006
High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$14.45
$12.40

$14.82
$12.70

$14.91
$13.57

$17.34
$14.69

Fiscal 2005
High ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$14.36
$11.40

$14.07
$11.80

$14.65
$12.71

$14.15
$12.72

The declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and to
compliance with applicable law. Dividends in 2006 and 2005 were declared and paid quarterly. During
Q1 2007, we announced an increase in the dividend rate to $0.10 per share for Q1 2007 which will
result in an increase in the dividend payment from Q4 2006 of $1.5. The amount and timing of future
dividends depends upon our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, future
business prospects, general business conditions and other factors that our Board may deem relevant
at the time.
Total Dividends Paid
First
Quarter

2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$8.9
$8.9

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Total

$13.4
$ 8.9

$13.4
$ 8.9

$13.5
$ 8.9

$49.2
$35.6

Our Board of Directors has authorized share repurchases of up to 11 million shares. During 2006,
we repurchased 250,000 shares of Class A Common Stock at an average price of $13.75 per share
(including commissions). The total cost of this repurchase was $3.4. We did not repurchase any
common shares during 2005 or 2004. Approximately 3.6 million shares remain available for repurchase
under the program and we have no outstanding share repurchase commitments. Since the inception
of our repurchase program in 1999, 7.4 million shares have been repurchased for $116.1.
See Item 12: Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters for information on our equity compensation plans.
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Item 6.

Selected Financial Data:
Financial Highlights

Operating Results
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Revenue increase (decrease) ÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profitÌ% of revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income tax
expense (benefit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income tax
expense (benefit)Ì% of
revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing
operations after income tax
expense (benefit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing
operations after income tax
expense (benefit)Ì% of
revenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from discontinued
operations(2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting
change, net of income taxes(3)
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income (loss)Ì% of revenue
Share and Per Share Data
Income (loss) from continuing
operationsÌbasic and diluted ÏÏ
Income from discontinued
operations:
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting
changeÌbasic and dilutedÏÏÏÏÏ
Net incomes (loss):
Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends declaredÌcommon
stock ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Financial Condition
Working capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

February 28,
2003 (1)

February 22,
2002

$2,868.9
9.8%
$ 846.3
29.5%

$2,613.8
11.4%
$ 745.7
28.5%

$2,345.6
$2,529.9
$3,038.3
(7.3)%
(16.7)%
(23.8)%
$ 615.3
$ 728.1
$ 918.2
26.2%
28.8%
30.2%

$

$

$ (92.9)

76.4

2.7%
$

48.9

0.2%
$

1.7%
Ì

5.0

11.7

(4.0)%
$ (42.0)

0.4%
$

1.0

$ (66.7)

(2.6)%
$ (41.6)

(1.8)%
$

22.4

$

(0.2)%
$

(1.6)%
$

4.7

(5.3)

(2.1)

(0.1)%
$

3.1

$

Ì
48.9
1.7%

$

Ì
12.7
0.5%

$ (4.2)
$ (229.9)
$ (23.8)
$ (266.8)
$
(1.0)%
(10.5)%

$

0.33

$

0.08

$ (0.28)

$ (0.28)

$ (0.01)

Ì
Ì

$
$

0.01
0.01

$
$

$
$

$
$

Ì

0.15
0.15

0.03
0.03

Ì

$ (0.03)

$ (1.56)

Ì
1.0
0.0%

0.02
0.02
Ì

$
$

0.33
0.33

$
$

0.09
0.09

$ (0.16)
$ (0.16)

$ (1.81)
$ (1.81)

$
$

0.01
0.01

$

0.33

$

0.24

$

$

$

0.39

$ 291.9
$2,344.5
$
2.2

$ 447.8
$2,364.7
$ 258.1

0.24

$ 401.0
$2,359.4
$ 319.6

0.24

$ 334.3
$2,354.9
$ 294.2

$ 208.9
$2,967.5
$ 433.6

(1) The fiscal year ended February 28, 2003 contained 53 weeks. All other years shown contained
52 weeks.
(2) Income from discontinued operations relate to the disposition of our Attwood subsidiary. See the
Consolidated Statements of Income and Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for more
information.
(3) Cumulative effect of accounting change for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2004 relates to our
adoption of FASB Interpretation Number (""FIN'') 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities.
See Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements for more information. Cumulative effect of
accounting change for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2003 relates to our adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (""SFAS'') No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.
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Item 7.

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations:

The following review of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes to the consolidated financial
statements included within this Report.
Financial Summary
Results of Operations
Income Statement DataÌ
Consolidated

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profitÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏ
Other income (expense), net
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income
tax expense (benefit) ÏÏÏÏÏ
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income (loss) from continuing
operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Discontinued operations, netÏÏ
Income (loss) before
cumulative effect of
accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of
accounting change, net ÏÏÏÏ
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended
February 25, 2005

February 24, 2006

$2,868.9
1,989.4
33.2
846.3
758.1
5.7
82.5
(6.1)

$

100.0%
69.3
1.2
29.5
26.4
0.2
2.9
(0.2)

$2,613.8
1,859.9
8.2
745.7
722.3
5.2
18.2
(13.2)

February 27, 2004

100.0% $2,345.6
71.2
1,688.0
0.3
42.3
28.5
615.3
27.6
678.5
0.2
11.2
0.7
(74.4)
(0.5)
(18.5)

100.0%
72.0
1.8
26.2
29.0
0.4
(3.2)
(0.8)

76.4
27.5

2.7
1.0

5.0
(6.7)

0.2
(0.3)

(92.9)
(50.9)

(4.0)
(2.2)

48.9
Ì

1.7
Ì

11.7
1.0

0.5
Ì

(42.0)
22.4

(1.8)
1.0

48.9

1.7

12.7

0.5

(19.6)

(0.8)

Ì
48.9

Ì
1.7%

Ì
12.7

Ì
(4.2)
0.5% $ (23.8)

$

(0.2)
(1.0)%

Overview
Steelcase improved net income significantly in 2006 and 2005. The $36.2 improvement in
2006 net income was due to increased revenue and improved gross margins. 2005 net income
improved $36.5 over 2004 for similar reasons.
Our revenue increased 9.8% in 2006 compared to 2005 following an increase of 11.4% from
2004 to 2005. Revenue in 2006 increased for all of our reportable segments, but was primarily driven
by 13.1% growth in our North America segment.
As compared to 2005, revenue benefited by $49.2 from service businesses in the North America
segment that were not reported in revenue in 2005 (see Note 2) and $20.6 from four small
acquisitions completed during the year. Current year revenue was negatively impacted by $13.7 from
currency translation effects as compared to the prior year.
Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue improved 1.9 percentage points in 2006 compared to
the prior year. Improved pricing yield, higher sales volume, and prior restructuring efforts were all
factors in this improvement.
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Operating income improved $64.3 in 2006, despite $25.5 of higher restructuring charges, due to
higher sales and improved cost of sales as a percentage of revenue.
We recorded net pre-tax operating charges for restructuring items totaling $38.9 in 2006, as
compared to $13.4 in 2005, and $53.5 in 2004. The net charges in 2006 primarily consisted of facility
rationalizations in the North America and International reportable segments. The North America
charges were part of a two year restructuring effort announced on March 28, 2005, to continue to
consolidate our North America operations by closing certain manufacturing and distribution facilities in
Grand Rapids, Michigan. See further discussion and detail of all these items in the Segment
Disclosure analysis below and in Notes 14 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
Other income (expense), net, improved $7.1 in 2006 due to higher interest income, unrealized
gains on derivative instruments, and lower interest expense, partially offset by the change in the
elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers and the change in the gain (loss) on dealer
transitions. See further detail of the items in Other income (expense), net, in Note 11.
During 2004, we sold substantially all of the net assets of our marine hardware and accessories
business with the operating results of this business segregated as discontinued operations for all
periods presented. See further discussion and detail in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.
The cumulative effect of accounting change in 2004 represents the net after-tax charge related to
our adoption of FIN 46(R), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. See further discussion and
detail in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
Interest Expense; Other Income (Expense), Net; and Income Taxes

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$18.1

$ 20.9

$ 18.5

Other income (expense), net:
Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers ÏÏÏ
Equity in income of unconsolidated venturesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain (loss) on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign exchange gain (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Miscellaneous expense, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total other income (expense), net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$11.1
2.1
(2.9)
2.0
1.2
(0.5)
1.9
(2.9)
12.0

$

$

Total interest expense and other income (expense), net ÏÏÏ

$(6.1)

$(13.2)

Effective income tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

36.0%

Interest Expense and Other Income (Expense), net

6.7
Ì
0.3
3.0
(0.1)
1.2
Ì
(3.4)
7.7

(133.9)%

3.5
Ì
Ì
1.4
9.8
(8.7)
(4.6)
(1.4)
Ì

$(18.5)
55.0%

The majority of the Company's debt over the past several years has consisted of fixed rate term
notes. Interest expense decreased in 2006 primarily due to the retirement of $47.1 of debt related to
our corporate aircraft in Q1 2006. Interest expense in 2005 increased from 2004 due to the
consolidation of debt from variable interest entities. Interest on our term notes has been stable since
2003 because the interest rates are fixed.
Interest income increased in 2006 and 2005 due to higher cash and investment balances and
higher interest rates.
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The unrealized gains on derivative instruments in 2006 relate to interest rate lock derivative
contracts. In anticipation of refinancing our senior notes which mature in November 2006, we entered
into derivative contracts with a notional amount of $225.0 to effectively lock in the five-year treasury
note interest rate which is expected to be the base component of the coupon rate for the debt. A
gain on these derivatives was recorded to adjust the contracts to fair value at February 24, 2006. On
March 16, 2006, we designated the interest rate locks as hedges. Therefore, beginning on the
designation date, all changes in the fair market value of the interest rate locks will be recorded in
other comprehensive income (loss). Although the designation date is later than the date that the
contracts were entered into, we expect the hedges to be highly effective as required for hedge
accounting.
Our consolidated results include the results of several dealers where we either own a majority
interest or we maintain participative control but our investments are structured such that we do not
share in the profits or losses. Elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers represents the
elimination of earnings where either our class of equity does not share in the earnings or the earnings
are allocated to the minority interest holder. These amounts were previously included in Miscellaneous
expense, net. Prior year amounts have been reclassified. The increase in the current year elimination is
due to improved profitability of the dealers.
Equity in income of unconsolidated ventures represents our portion of the income from our joint
ventures.
During 2006, the gain on disposal of property and equipment related to the sale of excess idle
land in Morocco for net cash proceeds and a pre-tax gain of $1.2. The gain in 2004 primarily related
to property sold in the United Kingdom for net cash proceeds of $11.5 and a pre-tax non-operating
gain of $7.0. This facility had been idle for about three years prior to the sale as a result of prior
restructuring activities.
The loss on dealer transitions recorded in 2006 relates to an additional reserve against a lease
that was retained as part of a previous dealer transition. In 2005, we recorded a gain on dealer
transitions which represented an equity return related to a previous International dealer transition and
a recovery on dealer transition financing that was previously reserved. The majority of the loss
recorded in 2004 related to an International dealer transition.
The foreign exchange gain in 2006 primarily represents the gain on derivative instruments related
to our euro-denominated intercompany loans.
We carefully monitor the financial condition of dealers in ownership transition. We have
established reserves for certain dealers facing difficult financial challenges. We believe our reserves
adequately reflect the credit risk associated with these dealers. If these dealers experience additional
financial challenges, the likelihood of losses would increase and we would record additional charges or
reserves, as necessary.
Although our tax rate can vary from year to year, we expect that our long-term effective tax rate
will be approximately 37%.
In 2005, we recorded an $8.2 reduction in a specific tax reserve. The tax reserve was originally
recorded in response to a fiscal 1997 tax calculation that was later rejected by the IRS. At the time of
the rejection, we recorded a reserve for the total amount of the deduction while we challenged the
IRS's decision. The matter was settled during 2005 resulting in the reversal of the reserve.
We calculated our tax expense for 2005 using a 30% rate and then adjusted it for the $8.2
favorable reserve reduction.
Segment Disclosure
See more information regarding segments in Item 1: Business and Note 14 of the consolidated
financial statements included with this Report.
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North America

Income Statement DataÌNorth America

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24, 2006

$1,628.0
1,177.7
22.6
427.7
363.1
Ì
$ 64.6

Year Ended
February 25, 2005

100.0% $1,439.4
72.3
1,086.3
1.4
7.8
26.3
345.3
22.3
338.8
Ì
1.0
4.0% $
5.5

February 27, 2004

100.0% $1,280.4 100.0%
75.5
981.2
76.6
0.5
21.6
1.7
24.0
277.6
21.7
23.5
319.1
24.9
0.1
5.4
0.4
0.4% $ (46.9) (3.6)%

The North America business generated $59.1 of additional profits in 2006 compared to 2005 after
an increase of $52.4 during 2005. The 2006 improvement was driven by increased revenues and an
improvement in gross profit margin and operating expenses as a percentage of revenue.
Revenues increased 13.1% and accounted for 56.7% of consolidated revenues for the year.
Revenue growth in 2006 is attributed to stronger market demand, improved pricing yield, a significant
increase in sales of the moderately priced Turnstone brand, along with solid sales growth across most
of our other product categories. Additionally, current year revenue included $49.2 of service revenue
and $11.6 of revenue from an acquisition (see Note 15), which had the net effect of increasing
revenue by 4.2% compared to the prior year.
Cost of sales improved 3.2 percentage points over the prior year because of improved pricing
yields, leverage from higher sales volume, and benefits from prior restructuring actions. From an
operational perspective, we also generated a number of productivity improvements from our
restructuring actions and our focus on lean manufacturing principles. We incurred ongoing costs of
moving and reconfiguring production lines as we continue to reduce our manufacturing footprint and
simplify our product offering. After a significant increase in steel costs in 2005, steel costs decreased
during 2006, but were still higher than in years prior to 2005. The decrease was largely offset by
increases in many other commodities as well as increases in fuel and utility costs. During Q4, we
implemented a price increase and ended the steel surcharge at the same time. The price increase did
not have a significant impact on 2006 results.
Cost of sales as a percent of revenue in our wood category is higher than our other product
categories. We are actively implementing initiatives to improve profitability including yield analysis,
common platforms, and simplicity projects.
Gross profit as a percent of revenue improved from 24.0% in the prior year to 26.3% in the
current year, despite $14.8 in higher restructuring costs. This year's change in accounting for service
revenue had the effect of reducing the North American gross margin percentage for the year by 0.5
points compared to the prior year. Service revenue and related expense was previously recorded as a
net adjustment within operating expenses.
Restructuring costs of $22.6, reported separately from cost of sales, primarily included $21.1 in
charges for the consolidation of several of our North America manufacturing plants, which was
announced on March 28, 2005 and $1.1 for a lease impairment. The charges included:
‚ severance charges,
‚ asset impairment costs,
‚ gain on the sale of a manufacturing plant, and
‚ curtailment gains related to post-retirement benefit plans.
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The asset impairment charges included a charge of $11.0 related to our Grand Rapids complex.
We are in the process of closing the plants in our Grand Rapids complex and we have been
marketing the properties to real estate developers. During Q4, we received proposals from multiple
developers that were lower than the book value that was recorded and our previous estimates of fair
value resulting in the impairment charge.
Operating expenses improved from 23.5% of revenue in 2005 to 22.3% in 2006. This
improvement reflects continued cost control as well as revenue growth. On a dollar basis, spending
increased $24.3 due to several factors including $7.2 in increased sales and marketing expenditures,
$6.2 of higher variable compensation, $5.2 from the change in reporting for certain service businesses
and $4.7 related to our acquisition.
Steelcase Design Partnership

Income Statement DataÌSteelcase Design Partnership

February 24, 2006

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$340.8
212.0
Ì
128.8
93.9
Ì
$ 34.9

Year Ended
February 25, 2005

100.0% $322.2
62.2
199.9
Ì
Ì
37.8
122.3
27.6
96.1
Ì
Ì
10.2% $ 26.2

February 27, 2004

100.0% $275.6
62.0
172.9
Ì
0.2
38.0
102.5
29.9
88.8
Ì
0.9
8.1% $ 12.8

100.0%
62.7
0.1
37.2
32.2
0.4
4.6%

SDP improved profitability in 2006 following a large increase in 2005. Revenue for the SDP
segment increased 5.8% in 2006 and 16.9% in 2005. Each of the brands within SDP reported sales
growth for the year, and growth was strong across most product categories. Most notably, growth
within the furniture brands was 16.1%.
SDP has the highest gross profit percentage among all of our segments. Gross profit as a
percent of revenue was consistent with 2005 despite the rising cost of commodities and higher
volume of lower margin furniture. These negative impacts were offset by the spread of fixed costs
over a higher volume of sales.
Operating expenses in dollars and as a percent of revenue decreased during 2006 primarily due
to higher volume and continued cost control.
International

Income Statement DataÌInternational

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costs (benefit)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$644.5 100.0% $590.5 100.0% $539.2 100.0%
442.8
68.7
411.7
69.7
383.5
71.1
8.6
1.3
(0.6) (0.1)
20.5
3.8
193.1
30.0
179.4
30.4
135.2
25.1
188.7
29.3
181.0
30.7
161.3
29.9
5.7
0.9
3.8
0.6
1.4
0.3
$ (1.3) (0.2)% $ (5.4) (0.9)% $(27.5) (5.1)%

International reported a loss in 2006 but improved $4.1 compared to 2005 despite an increase in
restructuring charges of $11.1. The improved results were primarily driven by higher revenue and
productivity improvements.
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Revenue increased 9.1% in 2006 primarily due to increased sales in France, eastern and central
Europe, Latin America, and Asia. Revenue also included $9.0 from newly acquired dealers (see
Note 15). These improvements were partially offset by $13.7 from unfavorable currency translation
effects compared to the prior year.
Cost of sales as a percent of revenue improved in 2006 and 2005 primarily due to increased
volume and productivity improvements, partially offset by higher sales of our lower margin products
and operational issues in the United Kingdom (""U.K.'').
Gross profit as a percent of revenue was 30.0% in 2006 compared to 30.4% in 2005. Gross
profit was favorably impacted by improved cost of sales as a percent of revenue; however, that
improvement was more than offset by higher restructuring costs. The 2006 restructuring costs
primarily relate to:
‚ costs associated with consolidating our French manufacturing operations which was initiated in
2004,
‚ impairment and severance charges to outsource our European wood manufacturing business,
‚ an impairment charge related to idle real estate on our Strasbourg campus, and
‚ charges to restructure our operations in Malaysia.
Restructuring charges were minimal in 2005. In 2004, restructuring costs primarily related to the
closure or consolidation of manufacturing facilities, including workforce reductions.
Operating expenses increased by $7.7 in 2006, primarily due to $4.3 from dealers acquired
during the year, $2.7 from charges to write off accounts receivable previously owed to us by the
dealers we acquired and $2.0 for lease impairment charges and related reserves recorded in the U.K.
These increases were partially offset by $3.8 in currency translation effects.
Restructuring costs related to operating expenses in 2006 are primarily the result of changes to
business and information technology processes in Europe and severance charges for the restructuring
of our operations in Italy. Restructuring costs related to operating expenses in 2005 and 2004
primarily consisted of charges related to workforce reductions and business exit costs.
Economic conditions in certain countries continue to put profitability pressure on some of our
dealers. We continue to monitor the financial condition of dealers for changes in credit quality but we
believe our reserves adequately reflect these credit risks. However, if dealers experience a deeper
reduction in revenues, the likelihood of losses would increase and additional charges or reserves
would be necessary.
Other

February 24,
2006

Income Statement DataÌOther

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$255.6
2.0
(15.7)

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$261.7
1.4
(8.1)

February 27,
2004

$250.4
3.5
(12.8)

Our Other category includes our PolyVision, IDEO, and Steelcase Financial Services subsidiaries,
and unallocated corporate expenses.
Revenue decreased by $6.1 in 2006 due to slower demand in the educational markets, a key
segment for PolyVision, and the run off of the lease portfolio at Steelcase Financial Services. These
decreases were partially offset by growth with key clients and expanded service offerings at IDEO.
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Restructuring costs included in 2006 relate to the consolidation of two PolyVision facilities.
Restructuring costs in 2005 included a PolyVision lease impairment and workforce reductions.
Restructuring costs in 2004 primarily related to workforce reductions.
The $7.6 increase in operating loss in 2006 is primarily due to lower revenue and higher new
product development and market development costs at PolyVision. This was partially offset by
improved operating income for IDEO.
Approximately 83% of corporate expenses representing shared services are charged to the
operating segments as part of a corporate allocation. The unallocated portion of these expenses is
considered general corporate costs and is reported within the Other category. Revenue and costs of
exploring new business opportunities within new market niches or areas related to, but not part of, our
core business activities are considered ventures, and are reported in the Other category.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
The following table summarizes our statement of cash flows:

February 24,
2006

Net cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Investing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of periodÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$ 175.5
127.7
(101.6)

$114.7
(25.7)
(60.3)

$ 87.9
19.3
(56.8)

5.6
207.2
216.6
$ 423.8

5.7
34.4
182.2
$216.6

2.9
53.3
128.9
$182.2

During 2006, we increased cash and cash equivalents by $207.2 to a balance of $423.8 as of
February 24, 2006, our highest level of cash as a public company. However, $131.6 of the increase
represents the conversion of short-term investments to cash and cash equivalents. Of our total cash
and cash equivalents, 64.3% was located in the United States and the remaining 35.7% was located
outside of the United States, primarily in Canada and Europe. These funds, in addition to cash
generated from future operations and available credit facilities, are expected to be sufficient to finance
our known or foreseeable liquidity and capital needs.
The increase in cash and cash equivalents was due to a number of factors. Operating activities
generated cash primarily from net income and from adjusting for depreciation and amortization which
are non-cash expenses. Depreciation and amortization continue to be much higher than current levels
of capital expenditures. The largest impact in investing activities was from converting short-term
investments to cash. Financing activities used cash to pay down debt and to pay dividends.
We look at various scenarios for cash planning purposes. In one possible scenarioÌa substantial
and rapid increase in revenue in a short period of timeÌwe anticipate we would likely experience a
corresponding rapid increase in accounts receivable and inventories. This rapid increase in required
working capital would represent a significant use of cash. We retain sufficient cash balances to
respond to working capital needs driven by a rapid increase in revenue.
We believe we currently need between $70 and $100 in cash to fund the day to day operating
needs of our business. Our cash balances fluctuate from quarter to quarter because our business has
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some seasonality and certain cash flows related to variable compensation, retirement funding and
insurance payments occur only annually. At this time, we expect to maintain an additional cushion of
$250 to $300 for funding investments in our business, including investments related to our growth
initiatives and restructuring activities, and to protect the Company in the event of a downturn while we
are still restructuring our operations. We will also use cash to return value to shareholders, primarily
through dividends but also through selective use of share repurchases. These are general guidelines
and our cash balance may be higher or lower at any point in time. We also may change this approach
as conditions change or new opportunities emerge.
Significant uses of cash in Q1 2007 include a payment of $48.9 related to 2006 variable
compensation contribution.
Cash provided by operating activities

February 24,
2006

Cash Flow DataÌOperating Activities

Net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation and amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Changes in operating assets and liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 48.9
119.4
Ì
0.2
Ì
(8.9)
15.9
$175.5

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$ 12.7
127.6
Ì
(13.7)
Ì
(25.3)
13.4
$114.7

February 27,
2004

$(23.8)
141.4
(31.9)
(34.2)
4.2
(13.7)
45.9
$ 87.9

Cash flow provided by operating activities was sufficient to fund our capital expenditure needs for
2006 and we expect this trend to continue.
The year-to-year change in cash generated from operating activities was primarily due to
improvements in year-over-year income from continuing operations. Additionally, changes in operating
assets and liabilities decreased in the current year compared to the prior year due to an improvement
in management of working capital, primarily through an improvement in accounts receivable days
sales outstanding.
Most of the change in cash generated from operating activities from 2004 to 2005 was due to the
improvements in year-over-year income from continuing operations. Additionally, Other, net decreased
primarily due to current year restructuring payments, lower charges related to dealer transitions and
fixed asset impairments and disposals.
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Cash provided by (used in) investing activities

February 24,
2006

Cash Flow DataÌInvesting Activities

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term investments, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net proceeds from repayments of lease fundings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net decrease (increase) in notes receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from the sales of leased assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds on sale of net assets of discontinued operations
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$(71.9)
131.6
39.3
17.7
15.3
Ì
(8.6)
Ì
4.3

$(49.2)
(51.4)
19.8
32.3
15.1
4.7
Ì
Ì
3.0

$(43.0)
(80.0)
28.8
23.2
(6.2)
48.8
Ì
47.9
(0.2)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$127.7

$(25.7)

$ 19.3

Net cash provided by investing activities in 2006 includes the sale and conversion of all of our
short-term investments in auction rate securities to investments in commercial paper, which are
classified as cash equivalents. In 2005 and 2004, we used cash to purchase auction rate securities.
We continue to closely scrutinize capital spending to ensure we are making the right investments
to sustain our business and to preserve our ability to introduce innovative, new products. Capital
expenditures continue to be less than depreciation, which represented a source of cash.
Capital expenditures increased in 2006 primarily due to $18.0 in payments for the replacement of
a corporate aircraft compared to progress payments of $6.0 in 2005. We received $14.8 in proceeds
from the sale of the aircraft that we replaced. Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets in 2006 also
included $9.8 from the sale of a manufacturing facility. Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets in
2005 and 2004 primarily relate to the sale of domestic and international manufacturing facilities and
related equipment.
In 2004, we generated cash from the sale of leased and fixed assets and the sale of our Attwood
facility. The sale of leased assets was primarily due to the new lease funding strategy implemented by
Steelcase Financial Services in 2004. In preparation for its new strategy, Steelcase Financial Services
sold a large portion of its lease portfolio in 2003 and continued to sell a portion of the remaining
leased assets during 2004 and 2005. Under its new strategy, Steelcase Financial Services continues
to originate leases for customers, but uses a third party to provide lease funding. During each of the
past three years, cash was generated from repayments on leases that were not sold. We expect to
continue to generate cash from the remaining owned leases in 2007, but at a lower level.
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired, represents the purchase of three small dealerships acquired
by our International segment and a small technology services company that was acquired by a
company-owned dealer as part of our North America segment.
We have an outstanding commitment to purchase a corporate aircraft that is intended to replace
an existing aircraft. We currently have $6.3 on deposit toward this purchase. We expect to take
delivery of the aircraft in 2008 with a total remaining commitment of $34.4.
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Cash used in financing activities

February 24,
2006

Cash Flow DataÌFinancing Activities

Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repayments of short-term and long-term debt, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock issuance, net of repurchasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash used in financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ (49.2)
(61.2)
8.8
$(101.6)

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$(35.6)
(28.8)
4.1
$(60.3)

February 27,
2004

$(35.5)
(22.9)
1.6
$(56.8)

We used cash in financing activities in 2006 primarily to pay down debt and to pay common
stock dividends to our shareholders. We paid common stock dividends of $0.33 per share in 2006
and $0.24 per share in 2005 and 2004. The dividend declared by the Board of Directors was
$0.09 per share for each of the last three quarters of 2006 and $0.06 per share for Q1 2006. In 2005
and 2004, the dividend declared by the Board of Directors was $0.06 per share in each of the
quarters. During Q1 2007, we announced an increase in the dividend rate to $0.10 per share for
Q1 2007. This increase is expected to use additional cash of approximately $1.5 in Q1 2007.
We issued common stock in 2006 for proceeds of $12.2 related to the exercise of employee
stock options. See Note 10 of the consolidated financial statements for further discussion regarding
the Company's stock-based incentive plans.
The Board of Directors has previously authorized share repurchases of up to 11 million shares.
During 2006, we repurchased 250,000 shares of common stock at an average price of $13.75 per
share (including commissions). The total cost of this repurchase was $3.4. Approximately 3.6 million
shares remain available for repurchase under our Board's authorization and we have no outstanding
share repurchase commitments. Since the inception of our repurchase program, 7.4 million shares
have been repurchased for $116.1. We consider the use of both share repurchases and dividends as
vehicles to return cash to shareholders.
Capital Resources
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We are contingently liable under loan and lease guarantees for certain Steelcase dealers and joint
ventures in the event of default or non-performance of the financial repayment of the liability. In certain
cases, we also guarantee completion of contracts for our dealers. Due to the contingent nature of
guarantees, the full value of the guarantees are not recorded on our consolidated balance sheets;
however, we have reserves recorded to cover potential losses. See Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements for more information regarding financial instruments, concentrations of credit risk,
commitments, guarantees and contingencies.
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Contractual Obligations
Our contractual obligations as of February 24, 2006 are as follows:

Contractual Obligations

Total

Payments Due by Period
Less than
1-3
3-5
1 Year
Years
Years

After 5
Years

Long-term debt and short-term borrowings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Estimated interest on debt obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating leases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Committed capital expendituresÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Purchase obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$264.0
8.7
270.8
36.9
10.0
226.1

$261.8
8.6
50.8
9.6
10.0
55.6

$

2.2
0.1
76.8
27.3
Ì
37.5

$ Ì
Ì
58.3
Ì
Ì
38.4

$

Ì
Ì
84.9
Ì
Ì
94.6

TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$816.5

$396.4

$143.9

$96.7

$179.5

Total consolidated debt as of February 24, 2006 was $264.0. The $61.7 decrease in total debt
from 2005 was driven by debt repayments including $47.1 to retire the debt related to our corporate
aircraft. Our debt to capital ratio was 18.1% at year-end. Of our total debt, $249.8 is in the form of
term notes due November 2006, which have been classified as a current liability in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets. We currently expect to replace the term notes with new term debt before the existing
notes mature.
Of the $261.8 of debt payments due in 2007 (as presented in the contractual obligations table
above), $249.8 relates to the term notes, $6.4 relates to foreign revolving credit facilities, capitalized
lease obligations and notes payable, and $5.6 relates to U.S. dollar notes payable obligations.
The Company has commitments related to certain sales offices, showrooms, and equipment
under non-cancelable operating leases that expire at various dates through 2018. Minimum payments
for operating leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are
presented in the contractual obligations table above.
Committed capital expenditures represent obligations we have related to property, plant and
equipment purchases and include an outstanding commitment to purchase a corporate aircraft that is
intended to replace an existing aircraft.
We define purchase obligations as non-cancelable signed contracts to purchase goods or
services beyond the needs of meeting current backlog or production.
Other long-term liabilities represent contribution and benefit payments expected to be made for
our post-retirement, pension, deferred compensation, and defined contribution benefit plans. It should
be noted that our obligations related to post-retirement benefit plans are not contractual and the plans
could be amended at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. We
limited our disclosure of contributions and benefit payments to 10 years as information beyond this
time period was not available. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion regarding these plans.
The contractual obligations table above is current as of February 24, 2006. The amounts of these
obligations could change materially over time as new contracts or obligations are initiated and existing
contracts or obligations are terminated or modified.
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Our total liquidity facilities as of February 24, 2006 were:
Amount

Global committed bank facility ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Various uncommitted lines ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$200.0
98.0

Total credit lines available ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Less: borrowings outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Available capacity (subject to covenant
constraints) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

298.0
4.9
$293.1

During Q2 2006, we entered into a new $200 global committed bank facility. The facility replaced
the $250 unsecured revolving credit facility that was originally scheduled to expire in July 2006. We
have the option of increasing the facility from $200 to $300, subject to customary conditions.
Borrowings under this facility are unsecured and unsubordinated. There are currently no borrowings
outstanding under the facility. This committed facility and another financing agreement require us to
satisfy financial covenants including a maximum debt ratio covenant and a minimum interest coverage
ratio covenant. We have $293.1 of available capacity and our maximum debt ratio covenant would
allow us to borrow the full amount as of February 24, 2006. The amounts available to us under the
various uncommitted lines are subject to change or cancellation by the banks at any time. We were in
compliance with all covenants under our financing facilities as of the end of 2006. The amounts
available to us under the various uncommitted lines are subject to change or cancellation by the
banks at any time. Our long-term debt rating is BBB- with a stable outlook from Standard & Poor's
and Ba1 with a positive outlook from Moody's Investor Service.
Critical accounting policies
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition is based
upon our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The Company's consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. These principles require the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Although these estimates are based on historical data and management's knowledge of current
events and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from the estimates if
different conditions occur. The accounting policies that typically involve a higher degree of judgment,
estimates and complexity are listed and explained below. These policies were discussed with the
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors and affect all segments of the Company.
Impairment of Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Long-Lived Assets
Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price and the related underlying
tangible and identifiable intangible net asset values resulting from business acquisitions. Annually, or if
conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the reporting unit is compared
to an estimate of its fair value. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, if the
estimated fair value is less than the carrying value, goodwill is impaired and will be written down to its
estimated fair value. Goodwill is assigned to and the fair value is tested at the reporting unit level. We
evaluate goodwill using five reporting unitsÌNorth America, SDP, International, PolyVision and IDEO.
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As of February 24, 2006, we had $211.1 of goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as
follows:
Recorded
Goodwill

Reporting Unit

North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏ
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
PolyVision ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
IDEO ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 46.0
63.1
42.1
53.9
6.0
$211.1

During Q4 2006, we performed our annual impairment assessment of goodwill in our reporting
units consistent with the prior year. In testing for potential impairment, we measured the estimated fair
value of our reporting units using a combination of two methods based upon a discounted cash flow
valuation (""DCF'') and a market value approach (""MVA''). The first method used a 100% weighting
factor based on DCF while the second valuation was based upon 50% of DCF and 50% of MVA. In
either case, we concluded no impairment existed in any reporting unit.
The DCF analysis was based on the present value of projected cash flows and a residual value
and used the following assumptions:
‚ a business is worth today what it can generate in future cash to its owners,
‚ cash received today is worth more than an equal amount of cash received in the future, and
‚ future cash flows can be reasonably estimated.
The MVA used a set of four comparable companies to derive a range of market multiples for the
last twelve months' revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. The
MVA was not calculated for PolyVision or IDEO as there is no comparable market data available to
make these calculations meaningful.
As of the valuation date, the enterprise value available for goodwill determined by each method
described above is in excess of the underlying reported value of the goodwill as follows:
Enterprise Value in Excess of Reported Goodwill
Using an 11.0% Discount Rate
Discounted
Market
Cash Flow
Value
Reporting Unit
Valuation
Approach

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏ
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
PolyVisionÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
IDEO ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$742.3
262.0
287.6
53.8
22.1

$869.3
277.0
190.6
n/a(1)
n/a(1)

(1) The MVA was not calculated for PolyVision or IDEO as there is no comparable market data
available to make these calculations meaningful.
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For each reporting unit, this excess is primarily driven by the residual value of future years. Thus,
increasing the discount rate from 11.0% to 12.0%, leaving all other assumptions unchanged, would
reduce the excess amounts above to the following amounts:
Enterprise Value in Excess of Reported Goodwill
Using a 12.0% Discount Rate
Discounted
Market
Cash Flow
Value
Reporting Unit
Valuation
Approach

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design PartnershipÏÏÏÏÏ
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
PolyVision ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
IDEO ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$552.5
214.9
233.7
36.0
17.3

$774.6
253.4
164.4
n/a(1)
n/a(1)

(1) The MVA was not calculated for PolyVision or IDEO as there is no comparable market data
available to make these calculations meaningful.
We also perform impairment analyses on our other intangible assets not subject to amortization
using an income approach based on the cash flows attributable to the related products. These
intangible assets primarily consist of trademarks within the PolyVision reporting unit. As of the
valuation date, the fair value exceeded the book value by approximately $2.0. A 5% decrease in
projected revenue would result in a reduction of the excess fair value by $1.7. A 1% increase in the
discount rate would result in a reduction of the excess fair value by $2.4.
For our intangible assets subject to amortization and our other long-lived assets including
property, plant and equipment, an impairment analysis is performed at least annually. In accordance
with SFAS No. 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, an impairment
loss is recognized if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and its carrying
amount exceeds its fair value. In testing for impairment, we first determined if the asset was
recoverable. We then compared the undiscounted cash flows over the asset's remaining life to the
carrying value.
See Note 2, Note 4 and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements for more information
regarding goodwill, other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment.
Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefits
The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits is
dependent on the selection of certain actuarial assumptions used in calculating such amounts. These
assumptions include, among others, the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets and rates of increase in compensation and health care costs. These assumptions are reviewed
and updated annually based on relevant external and internal factors and information, including but
not limited to, long-term expected fund returns, expenses paid from the fund, rates of termination,
medical inflation, technology and quality care changes, regulatory requirements, plan changes and
governmental coverage changes. See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements for more
information regarding employee benefit plan obligations including a sensitivity analysis.
Allowance for Credit Losses
The allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable, investments in leases and notes
receivable is maintained at a level considered by management to be adequate to absorb an estimate
of probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date. In estimating probable losses, we review
accounts that are past due, non-performing, or in bankruptcy. We also review accounts that may have
higher credit risk using information available about the customer or dealer, such as financial
statements, news reports, and published credit ratings. We also use general information regarding
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industry trends, the general economic environment and information gathered through our network of
field based employees. Using an estimate of current fair market value of the collateral and other credit
enhancements, such as third party guarantees, we arrive at an estimated loss for specific accounts
and estimate an additional amount for the remainder of the trade balance based on historical trends.
Our projection of credit losses is based on estimates, and as a result we cannot predict with certainty
the amount of such losses. Changes in economic conditions, the risk characteristics and composition
of the portfolio, bankruptcy laws or regulatory policies and other factors could impact our actual and
projected credit losses and the related allowance for possible credit losses. If we had made different
assumptions about probable credit losses, our financial position and results of operations could have
differed. Uncollectible receivable balances are written off when we determine that the balance is
uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance when received. See further
discussion regarding concentrations of credit risk in Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements.
Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.
The Company has operating loss carryforwards of $332.0 and tax credit carryforwards of $29.1
available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income. Future tax benefits for these
carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely
than not. We estimate a tax benefit from the operating loss carryforwards before valuation allowance
of $124.1, but we have recorded a valuation allowance of $36.3 which reduces our estimated tax
benefit to $87.8. Additionally, we have recorded a valuation allowance of $2.3 against our tax credit
carryforwards which reduces our estimated tax benefit to $26.8. It is considered more likely than not
that a benefit of $114.6 will be realized on these carryforwards. This determination is based on the
expectation that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax, business and other
planning strategies will enable us to utilize the carryforwards. To the extent that available evidence
raises doubt about the realization of a deferred income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established.
We cannot be assured that we will be able to realize these future tax benefits or that future valuation
allowances will not be required. A 10% decrease in the expected amount of benefit to be realized on
the carryforwards would result in a decrease in net income of approximately $11.5.

Year Ending February 24, 2006

Total carryforwards ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net benefit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Operating Loss
Carryforwards
(gross)

$332.0
Ì
$332.0

Operating Loss
Carryforwards
(tax effected)

$124.1
(36.3)
$ 87.8

Tax Credit
Carryforwards

$29.1
(2.3)
$26.8

Forward-looking Statements
From time to time, in written and oral statements, we discuss our expectations regarding future
events and our plans and objectives for future operations. These forward-looking statements generally
are accompanied by words such as ""anticipate,'' ""believe,'' ""could,'' ""estimate,'' ""expect,''
""forecast,'' ""intend,'' ""may,'' ""possible,'' ""potential,'' ""predict,'' ""project,'' or other similar words,
phrases or expressions. Forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties that
could cause actual results to vary from our expectations because of factors such as, but not limited
to, competitive and general economic conditions domestically and internationally; acts of terrorism,
war, governmental action, natural disasters and other Force Majeure events; changes in the legal and
regulatory environment; our restructuring activities; currency fluctuations; changes in customer
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demands; and the other risks and contingencies detailed in this Report and our other filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission. We undertake no obligation to update, amend, or clarify
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
There have not been any new accounting standards that are expected to have a significant
impact on the Company in the near term.
Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:

The principal market risks (i.e., the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and
prices) to which we are exposed include foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and bond and equity
price risk.
Foreign Exchange Risk
Operating in international markets involves exposure to the possibility of volatile movements in
foreign exchange rates. These exposures may impact future earnings and/or cash flows. Revenue
from foreign locations (primarily Europe and Canada) represented approximately 25% of our
consolidated revenue in 2006 and 2005. We actively manage the foreign currency exposures that are
associated with committed foreign currency purchases and sales created in the normal course of
business at the local entity level. Exposures that cannot be naturally offset within a local entity to an
immaterial amount are often hedged with foreign currency derivatives. We also have a significant
amount of foreign currency net asset exposures. We have entered into a series of forward contracts to
hedge our net investment in Canada to reduce the risk of exposure to changes in exchange rates. As
of February 24, 2006, the notional amount of these contracts was $78.4.
Changes in foreign exchange rates that had the largest impact on translating our international
operating profit for 2006 related to the Euro and the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar. We
estimate that a 10% devaluation of the U.S. dollar against the local currencies would have increased
our operating income by approximately $1.6 in 2006 and $1.1 in 2005, assuming no changes other
than the exchange rate itself. However, this quantitative measure has inherent limitations. The
sensitivity analysis disregards the possibility that rates can move in opposite directions and that gains
from one currency may or may not be offset by losses from another currency.
The translation of the assets and liabilities of our International subsidiaries is made using the
foreign exchange rates as of the end of the year. Translation adjustments are not included in
determining net income but are disclosed and accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income within
shareholders' equity until sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the
International subsidiary takes place. In certain markets, the Company could recognize a significant
gain or loss related to unrealized cumulative translation adjustments if we were to exit the market and
liquidate our net investment. As of February 24, 2006, the net foreign currency translation
adjustments reduced shareholders' equity by $34.5.
Foreign exchange gains and losses reflect transaction gains and losses. Transaction gains and
losses arise from monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than a business
unit's functional currency. For 2006, net transaction gains were $1.9.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily on our notes receivable, investments in companyowned life insurance, short-term borrowings and long-term debt. Substantially all of our interest rates
on our term borrowings were fixed during 2006; thus our interest rate risk was minimized. In
anticipation of refinancing our senior notes which mature in November 2006, we entered into
derivative contracts with a notional amount of $225 to effectively lock in the five-year treasury note
interest rate which is the base component of the coupon rate for the debt. We are still exposed to
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changes in the credit spreads in the corporate bond market until the new bonds are issued. The
interest rate locks expire at the same time that the existing debt matures.
A portion of our company-owned life insurance cash surrender value is invested in fixed income
securities. The valuation of these securities is sensitive to changes in market interest rates. We
estimate that a 1% change in interest rates would not have had a material impact on our results of
operations for 2006 or 2005.
See Notes 2 and 13 of the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of interest rate
swaps and derivative instruments. See Note 5 in the consolidated financial statements for further
discussion of our investments in company-owned life insurance.
Bond and Equity Price Risk
We are exposed to bond and equity price risk primarily on our investments in company-owned life
insurance. We estimate that a 10% adverse change in the value of the underlying funds, which could
be caused by changes in interest rates, portfolio duration or equity prices, would have reduced our
operating income by approximately $9.3 and $8.8 in 2006 and 2005, respectively. This quantitative
measure has inherent limitations since not all of our investments are in similar asset classes. In
addition, the investment managers actively manage certain equity investments and their results could
be better or worse than the market returns.
See Note 5 in the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of our investments in
company-owned life insurance.
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Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data:

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting of the Company. This system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that
receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the Company's assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, a system of internal control over financial reporting can provide
only reasonable assurance and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of
changes in conditions, effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.
Management assessed the effectiveness of the system of internal control over financial reporting
based on the framework in Internal ControlÌIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management
determined that the Company's system of internal control over financial reporting was effective as of
February 24, 2006.
BDO Seidman, LLP, the independent registered certified public accounting firm that audited our
financial statements included in this Form 10-K, has also audited our management's assessment of
the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, as stated in their report
which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN
We have audited management's assessment, included in the accompanying Management's
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Steelcase Inc. maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of February 24, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal
ControlÌIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Steelcase Inc.'s management is responsible for
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
management's assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control
over financial reporting, evaluating management's assessment, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree
of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management's assessment that Steelcase Inc. maintained effective internal control
over financial reporting as of February 24, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the
COSO criteria. Also in our opinion, Steelcase Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal
control over financial reporting as of February 24, 2006, based on the COSO criteria.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as
of February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 24, 2006 and our report dated April 7, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion.
BDO SEIDMAN, LLP
Grand Rapids, Michigan
April 7, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
STEELCASE INC.
GRAND RAPIDS, MICHIGAN
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Steelcase Inc. as of
February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005 and the related consolidated statements of income,
changes in shareholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 24, 2006. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule for the three years in
the period ended February 24, 2006 as listed in Item 15(a). These financial statements and schedule
are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and schedule are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements and schedule, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements and schedule. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Steelcase Inc. at February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005 and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
February 24, 2006, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 2, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 46(R), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, in the year ended February 27, 2004.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of Steelcase Inc.'s internal control over financial
reporting as of February 24, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal ControlÌIntegrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO) and our report dated April 7, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
BDO SEIDMAN, LLP
Grand Rapids, Michigan
April 7, 2006
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STEELCASE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share data)

Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cost of sales ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other income, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax
expense (benefit)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income tax expense (benefit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes ÏÏÏ
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operations, net of
income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting
change, net of income taxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of income taxes
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Basic and diluted per share data:
Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income and gain on sale of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting changeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earnings (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends declared per common shareÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$2,868.9
1,989.4
33.2

$2,613.8
1,859.9
8.2

$2,345.6
1,688.0
42.3

$
$

846.3
758.1
5.7
82.5
(18.1)
12.0

745.7
722.3
5.2
18.2
(20.9)
7.7

615.3
678.5
11.2
(74.4)
(18.5)
Ì

76.4
27.5
48.9
Ì

5.0
(6.7)
11.7
Ì

(92.9)
(50.9)
(42.0)
2.4

Ì

1.0

20.0

48.9
Ì
48.9

12.7
Ì
12.7

(19.6)
(4.2)
$ (23.8)
$ (0.28)
0.15
(0.03)
$ (0.16)
$

$
$

$

0.33
Ì
Ì
0.33

$

0.08
0.01
Ì
0.09

$

0.33

$

0.24

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $32.1 and $41.6 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
InventoriesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total current assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Property and equipment, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Company-owned life insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
GoodwillÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $47.9 and
$39.7 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

$ 423.8
Ì
381.9
147.9
80.3
94.2

$ 216.6
131.6
378.1
132.9
90.6
108.0

1,128.1
524.8
196.6
154.6
211.1

1,057.8
606.0
186.1
147.6
210.2

73.7
55.6
$2,344.5

79.8
77.2
$2,364.7

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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STEELCASE INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETSÌ(Continued)
(in millions, except share data)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued expenses:
Employee compensationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Employee benefit plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Workers' compensation claims ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income taxes payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Product warrantiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total current liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term debt less current maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Employee benefit plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other long-term liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total long-term liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred Stock-no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized, none
issued and outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Class A Common Stock-no par value; 475,000,000 shares
authorized, 72,482,658 and 61,084,925 issued and outstanding
Class B Convertible Common Stock-no par value;
475,000,000 shares authorized, 77,007,160 and 87,490,230
issued and outstanding ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Additional paid in capital ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred compensationÌrestricted stockÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Retained earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

$ 189.6
261.8

$ 175.9
67.6

127.9
34.1
28.5
28.9
21.4
144.0
836.2

123.3
31.7
29.1
22.5
20.9
140.0
611.0

2.2
239.7
61.5
303.4
1,139.6

258.1
249.7
49.3
557.1
1,168.1

Ì

Ì

205.5

162.5

104.4
3.4
(39.1)
(3.1)
933.8
1,204.9
$2,344.5

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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134.9
1.3
(33.1)
(3.1)
934.1
1,196.6
$2,364.7

STEELCASE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(in millions)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Common Stock

Foreign
Minimum
Total
Additional Currency
Pension
Derivative
Deferred
Total
Comprehensive
Paid in
Translation Liability, Adjustments, CompensationÌ Retained Shareholders'
Income
Class A Class B Capital Adjustments net of tax net of tax Restricted Stock Earnings
Equity
(Loss)

February 28, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock issuance
Issuance of restricted
stock, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred
compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restricted stock units
expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other comprehensive
income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock issuance
Issuance of restricted
stock, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred
compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Performance shares and
restricted stock units
expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other comprehensive
income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock
conversion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock issuance
Stock repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏ
Tax effect of exercise of
stock optionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Issuance of restricted
stock, netÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of deferred
compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Performance shares and
restricted stock units
expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other comprehensive
income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 24, 2006 ÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 93.6 $192.5
25.9
1.6

$Ì

$(40.3)

$(4.0)

$(3.3)

$Ì

$1,016.3

$1,254.8

(25.9)

Ì
1.6

2.1

(2.1)

Ì

0.7

0.7

0.2

0.2
6.6

Ì

Ì

123.2

166.6

31.7
4.1

(31.7)

Ì
0.2

Ì
(33.7)

(0.4)

0.6

Ì

Ì

Ì

(35.5)
(23.8)

(4.4)

(2.7)

(1.4)

957.0

6.8
(35.5)
(23.8)
1,204.8

(3.5)

Ì

1.8

1.8

1.1

1.1
7.3

Ì

Ì
134.9

Ì
1.3

Ì
(26.4)

(1.2)

1.6

Ì

Ì

Ì

(35.6)
12.7

(5.6)

(1.1)

(3.1)

934.1

7.7
(35.6)
12.7
1,196.6

30.5 (30.5)
12.2
(3.4)

$ 7.7
12.7
$ 20.4

Ì
12.2
(3.4)

1.2

1.2

2.5

(2.5)

Ì

2.5

2.5

2.1

2.1
(8.1)

Ì

(23.8)
$(17.0)

Ì
4.1

3.5

162.5

$ 6.8

Ì

$205.5 $104.4

1.0

Ì

Ì

Ì

$ 3.4

$(34.5)

$(4.6)

1.1
Ì
$Ì

Ì
$(3.1)

(6.0)
(49.2)
48.9

(49.2)
48.9
$ 933.8

$1,204.9

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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$ (6.0)
48.9
$ 42.9

STEELCASE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)
February 24,
2006

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortizationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Loss on disposal and write-down of fixed assets, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain on sale of net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
(Gain) loss on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cumulative effect of accounting change ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Pension and post-retirement benefit cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Restructuring charges (payments) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of corporate
acquisitions:
Accounts receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
InventoriesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accounts payable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accrued expenses and other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash provided by operating activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term investmentsÌacquisitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term investmentsÌliquidations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from repayments of lease fundings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net decrease (increase) in notes receivableÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds from sales of leased assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Increase in lease fundings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Proceeds on sale of net assets of discontinued operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repayments of long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Repayments of lines of credit, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock issuance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Common stock repurchases ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net cash used in financing activities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏ
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

48.9

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$

February 27,
2004

12.7

$(23.8)

119.4
4.5
Ì
0.5
0.2
Ì
11.9
(2.8)
1.8

127.6
5.8
Ì
(1.2)
(13.7)
Ì
17.1
(7.6)
(0.7)

141.4
16.4
(31.9)
8.7
(34.2)
4.2
17.3
3.7
(0.2)

(1.4)
(17.0)
(24.7)
16.9
17.3
175.5

(5.7)
(15.8)
(21.1)
7.9
9.4
114.7

42.4
19.4
(34.0)
(1.9)
(39.6)
87.9

(71.9)
Ì
131.6
39.3
17.7
15.3
Ì
Ì
(8.6)
Ì
4.3
127.7

(49.2)
(459.2)
407.8
19.8
32.3
15.1
4.7
Ì
Ì
Ì
3.0
(25.7)

(43.0)
(346.0)
266.0
28.8
44.4
(6.2)
48.8
(21.2)
Ì
47.9
(0.2)
19.3

(49.2)
(58.9)
(2.3)
12.2
(3.4)
(101.6)
5.6
207.2
216.6
$ 423.8

(35.6)
(28.0)
(0.8)
4.1
Ì
(60.3)
5.7
34.4
182.2
$ 216.6

(35.5)
(23.4)
0.5
1.6
Ì
(56.8)
2.9
53.3
128.9
$182.2

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Income taxes paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

14.7

$

16.2

$ 14.6

Interest paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

18.5

$

21.6

$ 20.8

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
41

STEELCASE INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Steelcase Inc. is the world's leading designer, marketer, and manufacturer of office furniture.
Founded in 1912, we are headquartered in Grand Rapids, Michigan, with approximately 13,000
permanent employees and we operate manufacturing and distribution facilities in 28 principal
locations. We distribute products through various channels including independent and companyowned dealers in more than 800 locations throughout the world and have led the global office
furniture industry in revenue every year since 1974. We operate under three reportable segments:
North America, Steelcase Design Partnership (""SDP'') and International, plus an ""Other'' category.
Additional information about our reportable segments is contained in Note 14.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Steelcase Inc. and its majorityowned subsidiaries, except as noted below in Majority-owned Dealer Transitions. Our consolidation
policy requires the consolidation of entities where a controlling financial interest is obtained as well as
consolidation of variable interest entities in which we are designated as the primary beneficiary in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (""FASB'') Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities (""FIN 46(R)''), as amended. We adopted FIN 46(R) in 2004 and
recorded a $4.2 net of tax charge in cumulative effect of accounting change upon adoption. All
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
In Q1 2006, we began reporting the operating results from our North America segment service
activity on a gross basis in our income statement. Previously, this activity was reported on a net cost
recovery basis in operating expenses since activities such as asset management and related
consulting were viewed as an extension of product sales support. These activities have gradually
evolved into revenue generating businesses and are expected to grow in the future as additional
resources are dedicated to these and other service activities. Accordingly, we believe it is now
appropriate to report revenues and related costs from service activities on a gross basis. The 2006
impact of this reporting change was an increase in revenue of $49.2, an increase in cost of sales of
$44.0 and an increase in operating expenses of $5.2. This change has no impact on operating
income, but it does slightly reduce operating income as a percent of sales.
Fiscal Year
Our fiscal year ends the last Friday in February with each fiscal quarter including 13 weeks. Each
of the last three fiscal years being presented, February 24, 2006, February 25, 2005, and
February 27, 2004 consisted of 52 weeks.
Unless the context otherwise indicates, reference to a year relates to a fiscal year rather than a
calendar year. Additionally, Q1, Q2, Q3, and Q4 2006 reference the first, second, third, and fourth
quarter of fiscal 2006, respectively. All amounts are in millions, except per share data, data presented
as a percentage or unless otherwise indicated.
Reclassifications
Certain immaterial amounts in the prior years' financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the current year's presentation.
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Majority-owned Dealer Transitions
From time to time, we obtain equity interests in dealers that we intend to resell as soon as
practicable (""dealer transitions''). We use the equity method of accounting for majority-owned
dealers with a transition plan in place and where the nature of the relationship is one in which we do
not exercise participative control.
In February 2004, we initiated a change in our participative control of eight dealers where we hold
a majority position in the voting stock of the dealer. Accordingly, we consolidated the balance sheets
of these dealers as of February 27, 2004 and in subsequent periods. The consolidation of these
dealers had the effect of increasing our total assets and liabilities by $10.9 at February 27, 2004. The
consolidation of these dealers had the impact of increasing revenue by $76.2 and $80.1 in 2006 and
2005, increasing cost of sales by $46.7 and $53.3 in 2006 and 2005 and increasing operating
expenses by $29.3 and $29.0 in 2006 and 2005. There was no effect on net income for those dealers
previously accounted for using the equity method of accounting since we have historically recognized
our share of income through Equity in income of unconsolidated ventures. For those dealers where we
do not share in the earnings and losses, the consolidation of the dealers had no impact on net income
since the pretax earnings or losses were eliminated in Other Income (Expense), net.
Foreign Currency Translation
For most international operations, local currencies are considered their functional currencies. We
translate assets and liabilities to United States dollar equivalents at exchange rates in effect as of the
balance sheet date. We translate Consolidated Statements of Income accounts at average rates for
the period. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net income but are disclosed and
accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) within the Consolidated Statements of Changes
in Shareholders' Equity until sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the
International subsidiary takes place. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are recorded in
Other Income (Expense), Net and included a net gain of $1.9 in 2006.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue consists substantially of product sales and related service revenues. We also have
finance revenue associated with Steelcase Financial Services.
Product sales are reported net of discounts and applicable returns and allowances and are
recognized when title and risks associated with ownership have passed to the customer or dealer.
Typically, this is when the product ships. Service and finance revenue are not material.
Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents include demand bank deposits and highly liquid investment securities with an
original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase. Cash equivalents are reported at
cost, which approximates fair value, and were $141.8 as of February 24, 2006 and $210.2 as of
February 25, 2005.
Short-term Investments
Short-term investments represent auction rate securities which are highly liquid, variable-rate debt
securities. While the underlying securities have maturities in excess of one year, the interest rate is
reset through auctions that are typically held every 7 to 28 days, creating short-term investments. The
securities trade at par on the auction dates. Interest is paid at the end of each auction period.
Because of the short interest rate reset period, the book value of the securities approximates fair
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value. In early 2006, we sold and converted all of our short-term investments in auction rate securities
to cash.
Accounts and Notes Receivable
The Company has accounts receivable for products sold to various unconsolidated affiliates on
terms generally similar to those prevailing with unrelated third parties. Affiliates include unconsolidated
dealers and minority interests in unconsolidated joint ventures. Accounts receivable from affiliates
were not material at February 24, 2006 or February 25, 2005.
Notes receivable includes project financing, asset-based lending and term financing with dealers.
Notes receivable of $37.6 and $57.3 as of February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005 are included
within Other Current Assets and Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The allowance for
uncollectible notes receivable was $8.0 and $6.2 at February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005,
respectively. Notes receivable from affiliates were not material at February 24, 2006 or February 25,
2005.
Allowance for Credit Losses
The allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable, notes receivable and our
investments in leases is maintained at a level considered by management to be adequate to absorb
an estimate of probable future losses existing at the balance sheet date. In estimating probable
losses, we review accounts that are past due or in bankruptcy. We also review accounts that may
have higher credit risk using information available about the customer or dealer, such as financial
statements, news reports and published credit ratings. We also use general information regarding
industry trends, the general economic environment and information gathered through our network of
field based employees. Using an estimate of current fair market value of the collateral and other credit
enhancements, such as third party guarantees, we arrive at an estimated loss for specific accounts
and estimate an additional amount for the remainder of the trade balance based on historical trends.
This process is based on estimates, and ultimate losses may differ from those estimates. Receivable
balances are written off when we determine that the balance is uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries,
if any, are credited to the allowance when received. We consider an accounts receivable balance past
due when payment has not been received within the stated terms. We consider a note receivable past
due when any installment of the note is unpaid for more than 30 days. There were no accounts past
due over 90 days and still accruing interest as of February 24, 2006.
Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The North America segment primarily uses
the last in, first out method to value its inventories. The SDP segment primarily uses the first in, first
out or the average cost inventory valuation methods. The International segment values inventories
primarily using the first in, first out method.
Property, Equipment and Other Long-lived Assets
Property and equipment, including some internally-developed internal use software, is stated at
cost. Major improvements that materially extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is
provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the assets.
We review the carrying value of our long-lived assets held and used and assets to be disposed of
using estimates of future undiscounted cash flows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is
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considered impaired, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount by which the carrying value of
the long-lived asset exceeds its fair value.
Due to the restructuring and plant consolidation activities over the past several years, we are
currently holding for sale several facilities that are no longer in use. These assets are stated at the
lower of cost or net realizable value and are included within Other Current Assets on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets since we expect them to be sold within one year. See Note 4 for further information.
Operating Leases
Rent expense for operating leases is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term unless
the lease contains an escalation clause which is not fixed and determinable. The lease term begins
when we have the right to control the use of the leased property, which is typically before rent
payments are due under the terms of the lease. If a lease has a fixed and determinable escalation
clause, the difference between rent expense and rent paid is recorded as deferred rent and is
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rent for operating leases that do not have an escalation
clause or where escalation is based on an inflation index is expensed over the lease term as it is
payable.
Long-Term Investments
Long-term investments primarily include privately-held equity securities. These investments are
carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair value. For these non-quoted investments, we review the
assumptions underlying the performance of the privately-held companies to determine if declines in
fair value below cost basis are other-than-temporary. A series of historic and projected operating
losses by investees are considered in the review. If a determination is made that a decline in fair value
below the cost basis is other-than-temporary, the investment is written down to its estimated fair
value. Gains on these investments are recorded when they are realized. At February 24, 2006 and
February 25, 2005, the carrying value of these investments was $6.1 and $5.8, respectively, and was
included within Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Investment in Leases
Steelcase Financial Services provides furniture leasing services to end-use customers and
showroom financing to dealers. Prior to 2004, we originated both direct financing and operating leases
and the remaining lease balance was recorded on our balance sheet. In 2004, we implemented a new
strategy in which we originate leases for customers and earn an origination fee for that service, but
we use third parties to provide lease funding. Our net investment in leases was $17.0 and $34.6 at
February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, respectively, and was included within Other Current Assets
and Other Assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. This investment has decreased over the past
few years due to our new strategy as the underlying lease schedules have run-off and certain leases
have been sold.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the difference between the purchase price and the related underlying
tangible and intangible net asset values resulting from business acquisitions. Annually, or more
frequently if conditions indicate an earlier review is necessary, the carrying value of the goodwill of a
reporting unit is compared to an estimate of its fair value. If the estimated fair value is less than the
carrying value, goodwill is impaired and is written down to its estimated fair value.
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Other intangible assets subject to amortization consist primarily of proprietary technology,
trademarks and non-compete agreements and are amortized over their estimated useful economic
lives using the straight-line method. Other intangible assets not subject to amortization are accounted
for and evaluated for potential impairment in a manner consistent with goodwill.
Self-Insurance
We are self-insured for certain losses relating to workers' compensation claims and product
liability claims. We have purchased insurance coverage to reduce our exposure to significant levels of
these claims. Self-insured losses are accrued based upon estimates of the aggregate liability for
uninsured claims incurred but not reported at the balance sheet date using certain actuarial
assumptions followed in the insurance industry and our historical experience.
Other accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets include a reserve for
estimated future product liability costs of $8.5 and $8.7 incurred as of February 24, 2006 and
February 25, 2005, respectively. Our accrual for workers' compensation claims included in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets was $34.3 and $31.7 as of February 24, 2006 and
February 25, 2005, respectively.
We are also self-insured for the majority of domestic employee and retiree medical benefits. On
February 28, 2005, we terminated our Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (""VEBA'') used
to fund self-insured employee healthcare costs which included medical, dental, and short-term
disability claims. In 2006, we began paying those claims directly from the general assets of the
Company. At February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, the estimate for incurred but not reported
employee medical, dental, and short-term disability claims was $2.1 and $3.5, respectively.
Product Warranty
We offer a lifetime warranty on most Steelcase and Turnstone brand products delivered in the
United States and Canada, subject to certain exceptions. For products delivered in the rest of the
world, we offer a 15-year warranty for most Steelcase brand products and a 10-year warranty for most
Turnstone brand products, subject to certain exceptions. These warranties provide for the free repair
or replacement of any covered product, part or component that fails during normal use because of a
defect in materials or workmanship. For all other brands, warranties range from one year to lifetime.
The accrued liability for warranty costs is based on an estimated amount needed to cover future
warranty obligations incurred as of the balance sheet date determined by historical product data and
management's knowledge of current events and actions.

Product Warranty

Balance at beginning of period ÏÏÏÏÏ
Accruals for warranty chargesÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Settlements and adjustments ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Balance at end of period ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

$ 20.9
11.8
(11.3)
$ 21.4

February 25,
2005

$20.9
5.9
(5.9)
$20.9

February 27,
2004

$ 26.0
8.5
(13.6)
$ 20.9

Environmental Matters
Environmental expenditures related to current operations are expensed or capitalized as
appropriate. Expenditures related to an existing condition allegedly caused by past operations, that
are not associated with current or future revenue generation, are expensed. Liabilities are recorded
when material environmental assessments and remedial efforts are probable and the costs can be
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reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility
study or our commitment to a formal plan of action. The accrued liability for environmental
contingencies included in other accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets
was $4.7 as of February 24, 2006 and $4.3 as of February 25, 2005. Based on our ongoing
evaluation of these matters, we believe we have accrued sufficient reserves to absorb the costs of all
known environmental assessments and the remediation costs of all known sites.
Product Related Expenses
Research and development expenses, which are expensed as incurred, were $47.4 for 2006,
$41.1 for 2005 and $46.9 for 2004.
Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax
consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. These assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which the
temporary differences are expected to reverse.
The Company has net operating loss carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce
future taxable income. Future tax benefits for net operating loss carryforwards are recognized to the
extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not. This determination is based
on the expectation that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax, business and
other planning strategies will enable us to utilize the operating loss carryforwards. We cannot be
assured that we will be able to realize these future tax benefits or that future valuation allowances will
not be required. To the extent that available evidence raises doubt about the realization of a deferred
income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. It excludes the dilutive effects of additional common shares that
would have been outstanding if the shares under our stock incentive plans had been issued and the
dilutive effect of restricted shares to the extent those shares have not vested (see Note 10).
Diluted earnings per share includes the effects of shares and potential shares issued under our
stock incentive plans. However, diluted earnings per share does not reflect the effects of 1.3 million
options for 2006, 4.5 million options for 2005, and 5.2 million options for 2004 because those shares
or potential shares were not dilutive.

Weighted Average Number of Shares of Common Stock Outstanding

Basic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Diluted (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

148.3
148.7

147.9
148.2

147.9
148.0

(1) The denominator for basic EPS is used for calculating EPS for 2004 because potentially dilutive
shares and diluted EPS are not applicable when a loss from continuing operations is reported.
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Stock-Based Compensation
Our stock-based compensation consists of performance shares, performance share units,
restricted stock, restricted stock units and non-qualified stock options. In December 2004, the FASB
issued SFAS No. 123(R) to expand and clarify SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, in several areas. The Statement requires companies to measure the cost of employee
services received in exchange for an award of an equity instrument based on the grant-date fair value
of the award and is effective for awards issued beginning in Q1 2007. Our policy is to expense stockbased compensation using the fair-value based method of accounting for all awards granted, modified
or settled. Upon adoption, SFAS No. 123(R) will not impact our Consolidated Statements of Income
because we currently expense stock-based compensation in accordance with this Statement.
Currently, the aggregate market value of restricted shares at the date of issuance is recorded as
deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders' equity, and is amortized over the
three-year vesting period of the grants. Upon adoption in Q1 2007, Deferred compensationÌ
restricted stock in the Consolidated Balance sheets will be eliminated and amounts will be reclassified
to Class A Common Stock.
Restricted stock units, performance shares, and performance units are credited to equity as they
are expensed over their vesting periods based on the current market value of the shares to be
granted. For stock options, fair value is measured on the grant date of the related equity instrument
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized as compensation expense over the
applicable vesting period. However no stock options were granted in 2006, 2005, or 2004.
Prior to 2004, our stock-based compensation consisted only of stock options, and we accounted
for them under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board (""APB'')
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations. Given the
terms of the Company's plans, no stock-based employee compensation cost was recognized, as all
options granted under those plans had an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying
common stock on the date of grant.
The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if we
had applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation to all outstanding awards. Further disclosure of our stock incentive plans is presented
in Note 10.

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

Net income (loss), as reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense
included in reported net income, net of related tax
effects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value based methods
for all awards, net of related tax effects ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$48.9

$12.7

3.0

2.0

0.6

(3.2)

(5.4)

(6.1)

Pro forma net income (loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$48.7

$ 9.3

$(29.3)

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and dilutedÌas reported ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$0.33

$0.09

$(0.16)

Basic and dilutedÌpro forma ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$0.33

$0.06

$(0.20)

SFAS No. 123 Pro Forma Data
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Financial Instruments
The carrying amount of our financial instruments, consisting of cash equivalents, short-term
investments, accounts and notes receivable, accounts and notes payable, short-term borrowings and
certain other liabilities, approximate their fair value due to their relatively short maturities. The carrying
amount of our long-term debt approximates fair value since the stated rate of interest approximates a
market rate of interest.
We use derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to movements in interest rates and
foreign exchange rates. The use of these financial instruments modifies the exposure of these risks
with the intention to reduce the risk or cost to the Company. We do not use derivatives for
speculative or trading purposes.
We recognize the fair value of all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value
on our balance sheet. Fair value is based on market quotes because the instruments that we enter
into are actively traded instruments. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative
depends on the use of the derivative. We formally document our hedging relationships, including
identification of the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as our risk management
objectives and strategies for undertaking hedge transactions. On the date that a derivative is entered
into, we designate it as one of the following types of hedging instruments, and we account for the
derivative as follows:
Cash Flow Hedge
A hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to be received or paid
related to a recognized asset or liability is declared as a cash flow hedge. A cash flow hedge requires
that the effective portion of the change in the fair value of a derivative instrument be recognized in
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax, and reclassified into earnings in the same line as the
hedged item in the period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Any
ineffective portion of a derivative instrument's change in fair value is immediately recognized in
earnings.
Net Investment Hedge
A hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation is declared as a net investment hedge. A net
investment hedge requires that the effective portion of the change in fair value of a derivative
instrument be recognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net of tax, and reclassified into
earnings in the period in which the net investment is liquidated. We determine if the hedge is effective
if the net investment balance exceeds the notional amount of the forward contracts.
Natural Hedge
A derivative used as a natural hedging instrument whose change in fair value is recognized to act
as an economic hedge against changes in the values of the hedged item is declared as a natural
hedge. For derivatives designated as natural hedges, changes in fair value are reported in earnings in
the Consolidated Statements of Income.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Although these estimates are based on historical data and management's knowledge of current
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events and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions.
3. INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. The North America segment primarily uses
the last in, first out (""LIFO'') method to value its inventories. The SDP segment primarily uses the
first in, first out (""FIFO'') or the average cost inventory valuation methods. The International segment
values inventories using the FIFO method.
February 24,
2006

Inventories

Finished goods ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Work in process ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Raw materials ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
LIFO reserve ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 25,
2005

$ 87.2
27.8
60.3
175.3
(27.4)
$147.9

$ 67.3
29.7
64.9
161.9
(29.0)
$132.9

The portion of inventories determined by the LIFO method aggregated $56.3 and $52.6 as of
February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, respectively. The effect of LIFO liquidations on net income
was not material in 2006 or 2005.
Finished goods inventory increased primarily in the North America and International segments due
to increased sales volume, acquisitions (see Note 15), and additional finished goods being produced
and held at regional distribution centers in North America as part of a strategy to improve customer
service.
4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Estimated
Useful Lives
(Years)

Property and Equipment

Land ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Buildings and improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Machinery and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Furniture and fixtures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Ì
10 Ó 50
3 Ó 15
5Ó 8

Leasehold improvements ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capitalized software ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

3 Ó 10
3 Ó 10
Ì

February 24,
2006

$

51.1
673.6
1,007.4
88.4

February 25,
2005

$

71.7
128.2
11.0

67.2
128.9
19.4

2,031.4
(1,506.6)

Accumulated depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
$

524.8

46.7
725.5
1,119.6
91.1

2,198.4
(1,592.4)
$

606.0

The net book value of capitalized software was $19.1 and $28.5 as of February 24, 2006 and
February 25, 2005, respectively. The majority of capitalized software has an estimated useful life of
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3 to 5 years. Approximately 30% of the gross value of capitalized software relates to the Company's
core enterprise resource planning system, which has an estimated useful life of 10 years.
Depreciation expense on property and equipment approximated $110.7 for 2006, $119.1 for 2005
and $131.4 for 2004.
The estimated cost to complete construction in progress as of February 24, 2006 was $12.5.
Included in Other Current Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets is property, plant and equipment
reclassified as real estate held for sale, which totaled $15.8 as of February 24, 2006 and $31.0 as of
February 25, 2005. Of the $15.8 in property, plant and equipment that is held for sale at February 24,
2006, the majority is related to the Grand Rapids complex which is expected to be sold during 2007.
Real estate that is held for sale is stated at the lower of depreciated cost or fair market value.
During 2006, we reclassified $21.4 of property, plant and equipment that we intend to sell in our
International and North America segments out of Other Current Assets to Property and Equipment, net
because we do not believe that it will be sold within a year.
5. COMPANY-OWNED LIFE INSURANCE
Investments in company-owned life insurance policies were made with the intention of utilizing
them as a long-term funding source for post-retirement medical benefits, deferred compensation and
supplemental retirement plan obligations aggregating $239.2 as of February 24, 2006 (see Note 8)
with a related deferred tax asset of approximately $90.4. However, the assets do not represent a
committed funding source. They are subject to claims from creditors, and the Company can designate
them to another purpose at any time. The policies are recorded at their net cash surrender values, as
reported by the four issuing insurance companies, whose Standard & Poor's credit ratings range from
BBB° to AAA, and totaled $196.6 as of February 24, 2006 and $186.1 as of February 25, 2005.
Investments in company-owned life insurance consist of $95.3 in traditional whole life policies and
$101.3 in variable life insurance policies as of February 24, 2006. In the traditional whole life policies,
the investments return a set dividend rate that is periodically adjusted by the insurance companies
based on the performance of their long-term investment portfolio. While the amount of the dividend
can vary subject to a minimum dividend rate, the cash surrender value of these policies is not subject
to market risk declines in that the insurance companies guarantee a minimum dividend rate on these
investments. In the variable life policies, we are able to allocate the investments across a set of
choices provided by the insurance companies. As of February 24, 2006, the investments in the
variable life policies were allocated 52% in fixed income securities and 48% in equity securities. The
valuation of these investments is sensitive to changes in market interest rates and equity values. The
annual net changes in market valuation, normal insurance expenses and any death benefit gains are
reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income. The net effect of these changes in
2006 and 2005 resulted in pre-tax income of approximately $10.6 and $9.0, respectively, recorded as
60% credits to cost of sales and 40% credits to operating expenses.
6. GOODWILL & OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill is assigned to and the fair value is tested at the reporting unit level. Goodwill impairment
exists if the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value. We evaluated goodwill
using five reporting unitsÌNorth America, SDP, International, PolyVision and IDEO. PolyVision and
IDEO are included in the ""Other'' category for reportable segment disclosure purposes.
We evaluated goodwill during Q4 2006, and no impairment was necessary for any reporting unit.
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A summary of the changes in goodwill at February 24, 2006, by business segment, is as follows:

February 25,
2005

Business Segment

North America ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏ
International ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Goodwill
Dispositions &
Acquisitions
Adjustments

$ 42.2
63.1
42.7
62.2
$210.2

$1.5
Ì
3.0
Ì
$4.5

$Ì
Ì
(3.6)
Ì
$(3.6)

February 24,
2006

$ 43.7
63.1
42.1
62.2
$211.1

As of February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, our other intangible assets and related
accumulated amortization consisted of the following:

Other Intangible Assets

Intangible assets
subject to
amortization:
Proprietary
technology ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
TrademarksÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Non-compete
agreementsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
TotalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Intangible assets not
subject to
amortization:
TrademarksÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total Intangible
Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Weighted
Average
Useful Lives
(Years)

February 24, 2006
Accumulated
Gross
Amortization

Net

February 25, 2005
Accumulated
Gross
Amortization

Net

12.4
9.9

$ 53.8
29.4

$20.2
25.7

$33.6
3.7

$ 53.8
31.7

$14.2
24.4

$39.6
7.3

7.0
6.7

1.0
5.2
89.4

0.1
1.9
47.9

0.9
3.3
41.5

Ì
2.8
88.3

Ì
1.1
39.7

Ì
1.7
48.6

n/a

32.2

Ì

32.2

31.2

Ì

31.2

$47.9

$73.7

$119.5

$39.7

$79.8

$121.6

During 2006, we completed acquisitions of a small technology services company and three small
international dealerships (see Note 15). As a result of the purchase price allocations, goodwill of $4.5
was recorded. Additionally, intangible assets of $3.7 were recorded including $1.0 of non-compete
agreements and $2.7 of intangible assets classified as other in the table above.
For 2006, we recorded amortization expense of $8.7 on intangible assets subject to amortization
compared to $8.5 for 2005 and $10.0 for 2004. Based on the current amount of intangible assets
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subject to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for each of the following five years is as
follows:
Estimated Amortization Expense
Year Ending February

Amount

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2011 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$8.2
7.2
7.1
4.9
4.6

As events, such as acquisitions, dispositions or impairments, occur in the future, these amounts
may vary.
7. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Interest Rates Range
at February 24, 2006

Fiscal Year
Maturity Range

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

U.S. dollar obligations:
Senior notes (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Notes payable (2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Revolving credit facilities (3)ÏÏÏ
Capitalized lease obligations ÏÏÏ

6.4%
6.0%-7.5%
Ì
Ì

2007
2007-2011
Ì
Ì

$249.8
7.8
Ì
Ì
257.6

$249.5
63.2
Ì
0.2
312.9

Foreign currency obligations:
Notes payable (2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Revolving credit facilities (3)ÏÏÏ
Capitalized lease obligations ÏÏÏ

7.4%
6.0%-6.5%
3.2%-4.1%

2007
2007
2007

0.2
4.9
1.3
6.4

3.6
7.8
1.4
12.8

264.0

325.7

261.8
$ 2.2

67.6
$258.1

Debt Obligations

Total short-term borrowings and
long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Short-term borrowings and current
portion of long-term debt (4) ÏÏÏ
Long-term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

(1) The senior notes, due in November 2006, are unsecured unsubordinated obligations and rank
equally with all of our other unsecured unsubordinated indebtedness. We may redeem some or
all of the senior notes at any time at the greater of the full principal amount of the notes being
redeemed, or the present value of the remaining scheduled payments of principal and interest
discounted to the redemption date on a semi-annual basis at the treasury rate plus 35 basis
points, plus, in both cases, accrued and unpaid interest. The original notes were priced at
99.48% of par. Although the coupon rate of these senior notes is 6.4%, the effective interest rate
is 6.3% after taking into account the impact of this discount, offset by the gain on interest rate
locks related to the debt issuance, both of which are amortized over the life of the notes.
(2) Notes payable represents amounts payable to various banks and other creditors, a portion of
which is collateralized by the underlying assets. Certain agreements relating to notes payable
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contain financial covenants that include, among others, a minimum interest coverage ratio and a
minimum debt ratio. As of February 24, 2006, we were in compliance with all covenants under
these agreements.
The decrease in notes payable was primarily due to the retirement for the debt related to our
corporate aircraft.
Approximately $3.3 of notes payable as of February 24, 2006 and $6.3 of notes payable as of
February 25, 2005 are collateralized by lease receivables.
(3) During Q2 2006. we entered into a new $200 global committed bank facility. The facility replaced
the $250 unsecured revolving credit facility that was originally scheduled to expire in July 2006.
As of February 24, 2006, we had no borrowings against the new facility. As of February 25,
2005, we had no borrowings against our previous facility. Our obligations under this new facility
are unsecured and unsubordinated. The Company may, at its option, and subject to certain
conditions, request to increase the aggregate commitment by up to $100 million by obtaining at
least one commitment from one or more lenders. We can use borrowings under this facility for
general corporate purposes, including friendly acquisitions. Maturities range from overnight to six
months as determined by us, subject to certain limitations. Interest on borrowings of a term of
one month or greater is based on LIBOR plus a margin or a base rate, as selected by us. Interest
on borrowings of a term of less than one month is based on prime rate plus a margin or a base
rate. This facility requires us to satisfy financial covenants including a maximum debt ratio
covenant and a minimum interest coverage ratio covenant. As of February 24, 2006, we were in
compliance with all covenants under this facility.
Additionally, we have entered into agreements with certain financial institutions, which provide for
borrowings on unsecured non-committed short-term credit facilities of up to $36.6 of U.S. dollar
obligations and $61.4 of foreign currency obligations as of February 24, 2006. Interest rates are
variable and determined by agreement at the time of borrowing. These agreements expire within
one year, and subject to certain conditions may be renewed annually. Borrowings on these
facilities as of February 24, 2006 were $4.9 and as of February 25, 2005 were $7.8.
(4) The weighted average interest rate for short-term borrowings and the current portion of long-term
debt were 6.3% and 6.4% at February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, respectively.
Annual Maturities of Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt
Year Ending February
Amount

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$261.8
2.1
.1
$264.0

The entire amount of our senior notes has been classified as a current liability because these
notes are due in November 2006.
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8. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OBLIGATIONS
Employee Benefit Plan Obligations

Defined contribution retirement plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Post-retirement medical benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Defined benefit pension plans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred compensation plan and agreements ÏÏÏÏÏ
Current portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Long-term portion ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

$ 16.8
186.8
38.2
32.0
273.8
34.1
$239.7

$ 14.6
191.0
43.6
32.2
281.4
31.7
$249.7

Defined Contribution Retirement Plans
Substantially all United States employees are eligible to participate in defined contribution
retirement plans, primarily the Steelcase Inc. Retirement Plan (the ""Retirement Plan''). Company
contributions and 401(k) pre-tax employee contributions fund the Retirement Plan. All contributions
are made to a trust, which is held for the sole benefit of participants. For certain participating
locations, the Retirement Plan requires minimum annual Company contributions of 5% of eligible
annual compensation. Additional Company contributions for this plan are discretionary and declared
by the Compensation Committee at the end of each fiscal year. As of February 24, 2006, the
Company-funded portion of the trust had net assets of approximately $1.0 billion. The Company's
other defined contribution retirement plans provide for matching contributions and/or discretionary
contributions declared by management.
Total expense under all defined contribution retirement plans was $20.4 for 2006, $17.7 for 2005
and $18.7 for 2004. We expect to contribute approximately $20.8 to our defined contribution plans in
2007.
Post-retirement Medical Benefits
We maintain unfunded post-retirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance
benefits to certain North American based retirees and eligible dependents. We accrue the cost of
post-retirement insurance benefits during the service lives of employees based on actuarial
calculations for each plan. These plans are unfunded, but we have purchased company-owned life
insurance policies with the intention of utilizing them as a long-term funding source for post-retirement
medical benefits and other obligations (see Note 5). However, it is likely that over the next several
years annual inflows from the policies will not be sufficient to meet annual outflows for the benefit
plans. The difference will represent a use of cash.
On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of
2003 (the ""Medicare Act'') was signed into law. The Medicare Act entitles employers who provide
certain prescription drug benefits for retirees to receive a federal subsidy beginning in calendar year
2006, thereby creating the potential for significant benefit cost savings. We provide retiree drug
benefits through our U.S. post-retirement benefit plans that exceed the value of the benefits that will
be provided by Medicare Part D. We remeasured our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation
as of September 1, 2004 based on the preliminary regulations and on February 25, 2005 for the final
regulations because we believe the value of our benefits is at least ""actuarially equivalent'' to
Medicare Part D benefits. The impact of the remeasurement was a reduction of our accumulated
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benefit obligation of $34.0. In 2006 and 2005, the Medicare Act reduced pre-tax post-retirement
expense by $5.0 and $1.2, respectively.
During 2004, the plans were amended limiting certain benefits. These amendments resulted in
the establishment of unrecognized prior service gains that are being amortized over the remaining
service life of the affected plans' participants. Due to the workforce reductions in the past three years,
curtailment accounting rules were triggered, and we recognized plan curtailment gains of $2.5 in
2006, $2.6 in 2005, and $3.8 in 2004.
In the fourth quarter of 2006, we remeasured our accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation
as of November 30, 2005, due to a curtailment as defined in SFAS No. 88, Employers' Accounting for
Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for Termination Benefits, related to
our workforce reduction. This remeasurement resulted in a $16.3 decrease in the accumulated benefit
obligation. Additionally, during 2006, we were approved for the Medicare Act subsidy and determined
one additional plan qualified for the subsidy. The impact of this additional plan was included in the
remeasurement and resulted in an additional $12.3 reduction to the accumulated benefit obligation.
The changes discussed above contributed to the reduction in total post-retirement expense over
the past three years. Total expense under post-retirement medical benefit plans was $6.7 for 2006,
$11.6 for 2005 and $14.8 for 2004.
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Our defined benefit pension plans include various qualified domestic and foreign retirement plans
as well as non-qualified supplemental retirement plans that are limited to a select group of
management or highly compensated employees. The accrued benefit plan obligation for the nonqualified supplemental retirement plan is primarily related to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan. This plan is unfunded, but we have purchased company-owned life insurance
policies with the intention of utilizing them as a long-term funding source for the plan and other postretirement benefit plan obligations (see Note 5). Our foreign plans are subject to currency translation
impacts. The funded status of our defined benefit pension plans is as follows:
February 24, 2006
Nonqualified
Qualified Plans
Supplemental
Domestic
Foreign
Retirement Plan

February 25, 2005
Non-qualified
Qualified Plans
Supplemental
Domestic
Foreign
Retirement Plans

Plan assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Projected benefit plan
obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Funded status ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$11.2

$ 38.7

$ Ì

$11.3

$ 36.2

$ Ì

10.2
$ 1.0

56.0
$(17.2)

23.6
$(23.6)

10.3
$ 1.0

57.6
$(21.4)

24.4
$(24.4)

Accrued benefit plan
obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 0.6

$ 17.2

$ 20.4

$ 0.6

$ 22.3

$ 20.7

Accumulated benefit
obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$10.2

$ 52.6

$ 19.6

$10.3

$ 53.1

$ 20.3
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Summary Disclosures for Defined Benefit and Post-retirement Plans
The following tables summarize the required disclosures related to our defined benefit pension
and post-retirement plans. We used a measurement date of December 31, 2005 for our foreign
pension plans, and February 24, 2006 for our domestic pension plans, non-qualified supplemental
retirement plans and foreign and domestic post-retirement plans.

Changes in Projected Benefit Obligations, Assets and
Funded Status

Pension Plans
February 24, February 25,
2006
2005

Post-retirement Plans
February 24,
February 25,
2006
2005

Change in benefit obligations:
Projected benefit plan obligations, beginning
of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amendments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net actuarial loss (gain) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Plan participants' contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Currency changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to plan curtailmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to plan settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to special termination benefits
Benefits paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other adjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Projected benefit plan obligations, end of year
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of yearÏÏÏ
Actual return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Employer contributions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Plan participants' contributionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Currency changes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Benefits paid ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fair value of plan assets, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Funded status ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrecognized prior service cost (gain) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrecognized net actuarial loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 92.3
2.9
4.4
Ì
4.0
Ì
(2.9)
(0.6)
(0.6)
Ì
(6.5)
(3.3)
89.7

$ 85.2
3.0
4.7
Ì
3.0
Ì
2.7
Ì
Ì
Ì
(6.3)
Ì
92.3

$ 205.5
1.9
10.6
(8.7)
(34.6)
4.7
0.4
(1.0)
Ì
0.1
(16.0)
Ì
162.9

$ 230.8
3.2
12.9
(0.1)
(27.6)
4.2
0.3
(1.8)
Ì
Ì
(16.4)
Ì
205.5

47.5
5.6
4.3
Ì
(1.0)
(6.5)
49.9
(39.8)
0.7
14.3
$(24.8)

43.5
3.8
4.8
Ì
1.7
(6.3)
47.5
(44.8)
0.8
15.3
$(28.7)

Ì
Ì
11.3
4.7
Ì
(16.0)
Ì
(162.9)
(36.5)
12.6
$(186.8)

Ì
Ì
12.2
4.2
Ì
(16.4)
Ì
(205.5)
(35.3)
49.8
$(191.0)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets:
Accrued benefit plan obligations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Prepaid pension costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Intangible assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Accumulated other comprehensive income ÏÏÏ
Net amount recognized ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$(38.2)
6.0
Ì
7.4
$(24.8)

$(43.6)
5.6
0.1
9.2
$(28.7)

$(186.8)
Ì
Ì
Ì
$(186.8)

$(191.0)
Ì
Ì
Ì
$(191.0)
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Components of
Expense and
Weighted-Average
Assumptions

Components of
expense:
Service cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Interest cost ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of prior year
service cost (gain) ÏÏÏ
Expected return on plan
assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to plan
curtailmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to plan
settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment due to
special termination
benefits ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Amortization of
unrecognized net
actuarial loss ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net expense ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine benefit
obligations:
Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Rate of salary
progression ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Weighted-average
assumptions used to
determine net
periodic benefit
cost (1):
Discount rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Expected return on plan
assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Rate of salary
progression ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended
February 24,
2006

Pension Plans
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$ 2.9
4.4

$ 3.0
4.7

$ 2.4
4.4

0.1

0.3

0.7

(3.1)

(3.0)

(2.6)

Ì
(0.5)

Ì

Ì

Post-retirement Plans
February 24, February 25,
February 27,
2006
2005
2004

$

(5.1)
Ì

0.1

0.1

(2.5)

(0.3)

Ì

Ì

1.4

0.2

0.5

$ 5.2

$ 5.3

$ 5.2

5.00%

5.25%

5.75%

3.00%

3.25%

3.00%

4.50%

5.70%

5.75%

5.50%

6.00%

6.80%

3.00%

3.90%

3.75%

1.9
10.6

$

$ 3.2
12.9
(5.4)
Ì
(2.6)

$ 4.3
14.5
(3.9)
Ì
(3.8)

Ì

Ì

Ì

0.1

Ì

Ì

1.7

3.5

3.7

6.7

$11.6

$14.8

5.70%
Ì

5.60%
Ì
4.50%

5.60%
Ì

6.05%

6.10%
Ì

6.41%

Ì

Ì

n/a

n/a

We set the discount rate assumption annually for each of our retirement-related benefit plans at
their respective measurement dates to reflect the yield of a portfolio of high quality, fixed-income debt
instruments matched against the timing and amounts of projected future benefits. In evaluating the
expected return on plan assets, we have considered the expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets based on the specific allocation of assets for each plan, an analysis of current market
conditions and the views of leading financial advisors and economists.
The assumed health care cost trend was 10.0% as of February 24, 2006, gradually declining to
4.5% in 2016 and thereafter. At February 25, 2005, the assumed health care cost trend was 11.0%
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gradually declining to 4.5% in 2015 and thereafter. A one percentage point change in assumed health
care cost trend rates would have the following effects:
One percentage
point increase

Effect on total of service and interest cost components
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 1.0
$12.6

One percentage
point decrease

$ (0.8)
$(10.6)

Our pension plans' weighted-average investment allocation strategies and weighted-average
target asset allocations by asset category as of February 24, 2006 are in the following table. The
target allocations are established by the investment committees of each plan. The targets are
established in an effort to provide a return after considering the risk and return of the underlying
investments. There were no significant changes in the target allocations of our plan investments
during 2006. The changes in weighted average target allocations between asset categories in the
table below primarily relate to the weighting of our various plans.

Asset Category

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Debt securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Real estateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24, 2006
Actual
Target
Allocations
Allocations

50%
30
2
18
100%

February 25, 2005
Actual
Target
Allocations
Allocations

50%
33
2
15
100%

50%
30
2
18
100%

48%
31
2
19
100%

(1) Represents guaranteed insurance contracts, money market funds and cash.
We expect to contribute approximately $3.6 to our pension plans and $10.1 to our postretirement plans in 2007. Our estimated future cash outflows for benefit payments under our pension
and post-retirement plans are as follows:
Post- retirement Plans

Year Ending February

2007ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2010ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2011ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2012-2016 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Pension Plans

Before
Medicare Act
Subsidy

$ 8.1
5.0
4.9
6.1
4.0
24.6

$11.6
12.2
12.7
13.0
13.6
74.6

Medicare Act
Subsidy

$ (1.5)
(1.8)
(2.1)
(2.3)
(2.6)
(16.8)

After Medicare
Act Subsidy

$10.1
10.4
10.6
10.7
11.0
57.8

Deferred Compensation Plans and Agreements
We have deferred compensation obligations to certain employees who have elected to defer a
portion of their salary each year for a period of one to five years. These deferred compensation
obligations are unfunded, but we have purchased company-owned life insurance policies, with the
intention of utilizing them as a future funding source for the deferred compensation obligation and
other post-retirement benefit plan obligations (see further discussion in Note 5). We also maintain a
deferred compensation plan that is intended to restore retirement benefits that would otherwise be
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paid under the Retirement Plan but are lost as a result of the limitations on eligible compensation
under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17). Deferred compensation expense, which represents
annual participant earnings on amounts that have been deferred, approximated $2.8 for 2006, 2005
and 2004.
9. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Terms of Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock
The holders of Common Stock are generally entitled to vote as a single class on all matters upon
which shareholders have a right to vote, subject to the requirements of applicable laws and the rights
of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock to vote as a separate class. Each share of Class A
Common Stock entitles its holder to one vote and each share of Class B Common Stock entitles its
holder to 10 votes. The Class B Common Stock is convertible into Class A Common Stock on a sharefor-share basis (i) at the option of the holder at any time, (ii) upon transfer to a person or entity
which is not a Permitted Transferee (as defined in our Second Restated Articles of Incorporation),
(iii) with respect to shares of Class B Common Stock acquired after February 20, 1998, at such time
as a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust or charitable organization holding such
shares ceases to be controlled or owned 100% by Permitted Transferees and (iv) on the date on
which the number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding is less than 15% of all of the then
outstanding shares of Common Stock (calculated without regard to voting rights).
Except for the voting and conversion features described above, the terms of Class A Common
Stock and Class B Common Stock are generally similar. That is, the holders are entitled to equal
dividends when declared by the Board and generally will receive the same per share consideration in
the event of a merger and be treated on an equal per share basis in the event of a liquidation or
winding up of the Company. In addition, the Company is not entitled to issue additional shares of
Class B Common Stock, or issue options, rights or warrants to subscribe for additional shares of
Class B Common Stock, except that the Company may make a pro rata offer to all holders of
Common Stock of rights to purchase additional shares of the class of Common Stock held by them,
and any dividend payable in Common Stock will be paid in the form of Class A Common Stock to
Class A holders and Class B Common Stock to Class B holders. Neither class of stock may be split,
divided, or combined unless the other class is proportionally split, divided or combined.
Preferred Stock
Our Second Restated Articles of Incorporation authorize our board of directors, without any vote
or action by our shareholders, to create one or more series of Preferred Stock up to the limit of the
Company's authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock and to fix the designations,
preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, including the voting rights,
dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, terms of redemption (including sinking fund
provisions), redemption price or prices, liquidation preferences and the number of shares constituting
any series.
10.

STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

Our stock incentive plans include the Steelcase Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ""Stock
Purchase Plan'') and the Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (the ""Incentive Compensation
Plan''). Awards currently outstanding include restricted shares, restricted stock units, performance
shares, performance units and non-qualified stock options.
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Stock Purchase Plan
We reserved a maximum of 1,500,000 shares of Class A Common Stock for use under the Stock
Purchase Plan, which is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended (the ""Code''). Pursuant to the Stock Purchase Plan, each eligible employee, as of the
start of any purchase period, is granted an option to purchase a designated number of shares of
Class A Common Stock. The purchase price of shares of Class A Common Stock to participating
employees is designated by the Compensation Committee but in no event shall be less than 85% of
the lower of the fair market values of such shares on the first and last trading days of the relevant
purchase period. However, no employee may purchase shares under the Stock Purchase Plan in any
calendar year with an aggregate fair market value (as determined on the first day of the relevant
purchase period) in excess of $25,000. As of February 24, 2006, 454,721 shares remain available for
purchase under the Stock Purchase Plan. The Board may at any time amend or terminate the Stock
Purchase Plan.
Incentive Compensation Plan
The Compensation Committee has full authority, subject to the provisions of the Incentive
Compensation Plan, to determine:
‚ persons to whom awards under the Incentive Compensation Plan will be made,
‚ exercise price,
‚ vesting,
‚ size and type of such awards, and
‚ specific performance goals, restrictions on transfer and circumstances for forfeiture applicable
to awards.
A variety of awards may be granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan including stock
options, stock appreciation rights (""SARs''), restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
shares, performance units, cash-based awards, phantom shares and other share-based awards.
Outstanding awards under the Incentive Compensation Plan vest over a period of three to five years.
Stock options granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan may be either incentive stock options
intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Code or non-qualified stock options not so intended. The
Board may amend or terminate the Incentive Compensation Plan.
In the event of a ""change of control'', as defined in the Incentive Compensation Plan,
‚ all outstanding options and SARs granted under the Incentive Compensation Plan will become
immediately exercisable and remain exercisable throughout their entire term;
‚ any performance-based conditions imposed with respect to outstanding awards shall be
deemed to be fully earned and a pro rata portion of each such outstanding award granted for
all outstanding performance periods shall become payable in shares of Class A Common Stock,
in the case of awards denominated in shares of Class A Common Stock, and in cash, in the
case of awards denominated in cash, with the remainder of such award being canceled for no
value; and
‚ all restrictions imposed on restricted stock and restricted stock units that are not performancebased shall lapse.
We have reserved for issuance 21,000,000 shares of Class A Common Stock (see further
discussion of stock-based compensation in Note 2) under our Incentive Compensation Plan, as
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amended and restated March 1, 2002. As of February 24, 2006, there were 9,931,771 shares
remaining for future issuances under our Incentive Compensation Plan.
Restricted Stock
Under the Incentive Compensation Plan, the Compensation Committee approved the granting of
restricted shares of Class A Common Stock and restricted stock units (""RSUs'') during 2006 and
2005 to key employees. Restricted shares and RSUs will be forfeited if a participant leaves the
Company for reasons other than retirement, disability or death prior to the vesting date. These
restrictions lapse when the restricted shares and RSUs vest three years from the date of grant. When
RSUs vest, they will be converted to unrestricted shares of Class A Common Stock.
The aggregate market value on the grant date of the restricted shares issued during 2006 and
2005 totaled $3.0 and $3.7, respectively. These amounts were recorded as common stock and
deferred compensation, a separate component of shareholders' equity, and are being expensed over
the three-year vesting period of the grants.
RSUs are expensed and recorded in Additional paid-in capital within the Consolidated
Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity over the three-year vesting period based on the value
of the shares on the grant date. The amount expensed in 2006 and 2005 was $0.5 and $0.2,
respectively.
At the time restricted stock or RSUs are forfeited, the expense recognized to date is reversed in
the current period. The total compensation expense expected to be recognized through fiscal year
2009 for non-vested restricted stock and RSUs is $3.9.
Holders of restricted stock receive cash dividends equal to the dividends that the Company
declares and pays on the Class A Common Stock, which is included in Dividends paid in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. Holders of RSUs receive quarterly cash payments equal to
the dividend that the Company declares and pays on its Class A Common Stock, which are expensed
as paid.
Additionally, the Board of Directors and the Compensation Committee have delegated to the
Chief Executive Officer the administrative authority to award restricted shares to employees in
amounts considered immaterial to the Incentive Compensation Plan. The awards are subject to
limitations and the provisions of the Incentive Compensation Plan and are reviewed by the
Compensation Committee. The limitations include, but are not limited to, the number of shares of
restricted stock that may be awarded in any plan year and the number of shares of restricted stock
that may be awarded to any individual in one plan year.
The 2006 and 2005 activity for restricted shares of stock and RSUs is as follows:
Restricted Shares

February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Vested ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ForfeitedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 24, 2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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222,600
276,650
(3,600)
(17,750)
477,900
221,850
(39,750)
660,000

Restricted Stock Units

48,000
58,000
Ì
(17,000)
89,000
32,750
Ì
121,750
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Performance Shares
In 2005 and 2006, the Company made awards of performance shares and performance units
(""PSUs'') under the Incentive Compensation Plan. The performance measure for these awards is
based on a cumulative three-year cash flow calculation which meets one of the definitions within the
Incentive Compensation Plan for performance-based compensation.
After completion of the performance period for performance shares, the number of the shares
earned is determined and these shares are issued as Class A Common Stock. One-third of the shares
vest immediately and the remaining two-thirds vest over the next two years.
At the end of the performance period for PSUs, the number of units earned is determined. Onethird are issued as Class A Common Stock. The remaining two-thirds will vest and will be issued as
Class A Common Stock over the next two years. The total compensation expense expected to be
recognized through fiscal year 2010 for non-vested performance shares and PSUs is $36.
Performance shares and PSUs are expensed and recorded in Additional paid in capital within the
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity over the five-year performance and
vesting period based on the market value on the grant date of the estimated number of shares to be
issued. The amount expensed in 2006 and 2005 was $1.6 and $0.9, respectively. For both
performance shares and PSUs, a dividend equivalent is calculated on the basis of the actual number
of shares earned at the end of the three-year performance period. The dividend equivalent is equal to
the dividends that would have been payable on the earned shares had they been held during the
entire performance period. The dividend equivalent on performance shares and PSU's are expensed
and accrued over the three-year performance period. At the end of this period, the dividend
equivalents will be paid. The target awards granted in 2006 and 2005 represented a total of 138,000
and 207,000 performance shares and PSUs, respectively. As of February 24, 2006, PSUs forfeited
totaled 19,000. The actual number of common shares that ultimately may be issued ranges from zero
to 652,000 shares based on actual performance levels.
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Stock Options
Information relating to our stock options, which pursuant to APB Opinion No. 25 did not result in
any compensation expense recognized by us, is as follows:
Number of
Shares

Unexercised Options Outstanding

February 28, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options granted ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Options forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
February 24, 2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Exercisable
February 27,
February 25,
February 24,

options:
2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Weighted Average Option
Price Per Share

10,947,633
Ì
(146,860)
(558,998)
10,241,775
Ì
(346,181)
(765,509)
9,130,085
Ì
(1,006,637)
(519,006)
7,604,442

$16.76
$ Ì
$10.91
$20.12
$16.66
$ Ì
$11.92
$23.25
$16.30
$ Ì
$12.35
$21.52
$16.46

7,297,914
8,110,381
7,604,442

$17.22
$16.33
$16.46

Stock Option Information
February 24, 2006
Outstanding Options
Weighted-Average
WeightedRemaining Contractual
Average
Term (Years)
Exercise Price

Exercisable Options
WeightedAverage
Options
Exercise Price

Range of
Exercise Prices

Options

$10.50 to $15.30
$16.03 to $17.31
$28.00 to $36.50

3,515,991
2,829,601
1,258,850

4.5
6.0
2.0

$12.33
$16.46
$28.01

3,515,991
2,829,601
1,258,850

$12.33
$16.46
$28.01

$10.50 to $36.50

7,604,442

4.6

$16.46

7,604,442

$16.46

The exercise price per share of options outstanding ranged from $10.50 to $36.50 as of
February 24, 2006, February 25, 2005, and February 27, 2004.
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11.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE), NET

Other Income (Expense), net

Interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Unrealized gains on derivative instruments ÏÏÏ
Elimination of minority interest in consolidated
dealers ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Equity in income of unconsolidated ventures
Gain (loss) on disposal of property and
equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gain (loss) on dealer transitions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign exchange gain (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Miscellaneous expense, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$11.1
2.1

$ 6.7
Ì

$ 3.5
Ì

(2.9)
2.0

0.3
3.0

Ì
1.4

1.2
(0.5)
1.9
(2.9)
$12.0

(0.1)
1.2
Ì
(3.4)
$ 7.7

9.8
(8.7)
(4.6)
(1.4)
$ Ì

Interest income increased in 2006 and 2005 primarily due to higher cash and investment
balances and higher interest rates.
The unrealized gains on derivative instruments in 2006 relate to interest rate lock derivative
contracts. In anticipation of refinancing our senior notes which mature in November 2006, we entered
into derivative contracts with a notional amount of $225.0 to effectively lock in the five-year treasury
note interest rate which is expected to be the base component of the coupon rate for the debt.. A
gain on these derivatives was recorded to adjust the contracts to fair market value at February 24,
2006. On March 16, 2006, we designated the interest rate locks as hedges. Therefore, beginning on
the designation date, all changes in the fair market value of the contracts will be recorded in Other
comprehensive income (loss). Although the designation date is later than the date that the
contracts were entered into, we expect the hedges to be highly effective as required for hedge
accounting.
Our consolidated results include the results of several dealers where either we own a majority
interest in the dealer or we maintain participative control but our investments are structured such that
we do not share in the profits or losses. Elimination of minority interest in consolidated dealers
represents the elimination of earnings where either our class of equity does not share in the earnings
or the earnings are allocated to the minority interest holder. These amounts were previously included
in Miscellaneous expense, net. Prior year amounts have been reclassified. The increase in the current
year elimination is due to improved profitability of the dealers.
Equity in income of unconsolidated ventures represents our portion of the income from our joint
ventures.
During 2006, the gain on disposal of property and equipment related to the sale of excess idle
land in Morocco for net cash proceeds and a pre-tax gain of $1.2. The gain in 2004 primarily related
to property sold in the United Kingdom for net cash proceeds of $11.5 and a pre-tax non-operating
gain of $7.0. This facility had been idle for about three years prior to the sale as a result of prior
restructuring activities.
The loss on dealer transitions recorded in 2006 relates to an additional reserve against a lease
that was retained as part of a previous dealer transition. In 2005, we recorded a gain on dealer
transitions which represented an equity return related to a previous international dealer transition and
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a recovery on dealer transition financing that was previously reserved. The majority of the loss
recorded in 2004 related to an International dealer transition.
The foreign exchange gain in 2006 primarily represents the gain on derivative instruments related
to our euro-denominated intercompany loans.
Miscellaneous, net includes items such as gains and losses on the sale of venture investments
and royalty income and expense.
12.

INCOME TAXES

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes
The provision (benefit) for income taxes on income from continuing operations consists of:

February 24,
2006

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

Current income taxes:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State and local ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income taxes:
Federal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State and local ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income tax expense (benefit)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$11.9
(5.3)
19.0
25.6

$ (6.1)
(4.8)
19.5
8.6

$(23.6)
(1.9)
13.1
(12.4)

(3.7)
2.3
3.3
1.9
$27.5

8.7
1.0
(25.0)
(15.3)
$ (6.7)

(12.4)
(3.3)
(22.8)
(38.5)
$(50.9)

Income taxes have been based on the following components of earnings (loss) before income
taxes on continuing income:

February 24,
2006

Domestic ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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$42.5
33.9
$76.4

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$11.8
(6.8)
$ 5.0

February 27,
2004

$(126.5)
33.6
$ (92.9)
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The total income tax expense (benefit) we recognized is reconciled to that computed under the
federal statutory tax rate of 35% as follows:

Income Tax Provision (Benefit) Reconciliation

Tax expense (benefit) at federal statutory
rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
State and local income taxes, net of federal
taxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Corporate-owned life insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Research and experimentation credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Medicare prescription drug benefit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net tax expense relating to foreign
operations, less applicable foreign tax
credit, net of valuation allowance on
foreign losses (1) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Adjustment to tax reserves (2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total income tax expense (benefit)
recognizedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

$26.7

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

$

1.8

February 27,
2004

$(32.4)

(1.6)
(3.7)
(2.3)
(2.2)

(2.3)
(3.2)
(2.3)
Ì

(2.7)
(5.3)
(2.5)
Ì

12.5
(1.3)
(0.6)

9.4
(10.9)
0.8

2.6
(5.3)
(5.3)

$ (6.7)

$(50.9)

$27.5

(1) We increased our valuation allowance reserve for net operating loss carryforwards in certain
international jurisdictions, which increased tax expense relating to foreign operations.
(2) The 2006 reserves were adjusted to better reflect our estimates of potential audit exposure. The
change in reserves for 2005 was a result of a favorable IRS appeal settlement for the year ended
1997. The change in reserves for 2004 was based on the results of a completed IRS tax audit for
years ended 1999, 2000 and 2001.
Deferred Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax effects of temporary
differences between tax bases of an asset or liability and its reported amount in the financial
statements. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on enacted tax laws and
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rates currently in effect in each of the jurisdictions in which the Company has operations. The
significant components of deferred income taxes are as follows:

Deferred Income Taxes

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

$124.9

$120.2

87.8
43.6

99.6
44.7

26.8
9.5
292.6

23.4
12.0
299.9

(44.7)
(15.1)
(59.8)
$232.8

(53.9)
(10.6)
(64.5)
$235.4

80.3
154.6
(0.2)
(1.9)

90.6
147.6
(0.2)
(2.6)

Deferred income tax assets:
Employee benefit plan obligationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Foreign and domestic operating losses, net of valuation
allowances of $36.3 and $26.0 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Reserves and accruals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Tax credit carryforwards, net of valuation allowances of
$2.3 and $4.3 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total deferred income tax assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property and equipment ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Intangible assets and other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total deferred income tax liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net deferred income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net deferred income taxes is comprised of the following
components:
Deferred tax assets, netÌcurrentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax assets, netÌnon-currentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax liabilitiesÌcurrent ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deferred tax liabilitiesÌnon-current ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

No provision has been made for foreign withholding taxes or United States income taxes on
undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries totaling $99.9 as of February 24, 2006. Recording
deferred income taxes on these undistributed earnings is not required, because these earnings have
been deemed to be permanently reinvested. These amounts would be subject to possible withholding
taxes or U.S. taxation only if remitted as dividends.
Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwards
Operating loss and tax credit carryforwards expire as follows:

Year Ending February

Operating Loss
Carryforwards
(gross)

2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2011-2026 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
No expiration ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$

6.4
12.4
9.3
104.1
199.8

$332.0
Valuation allowanceÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net benefit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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Operating Loss
Carryforwards
(tax effected)

$

Tax Credit
Carryforwards

2.7
5.5
3.5
45.3
67.1

$Ì
Ì
Ì
27.7
1.4

124.1

29.1

(36.3)
$ 87.8

(2.3)
$26.8
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As of February 24, 2006, we had $332.0 of foreign and domestic operating loss carryforwards
and $29.1 of tax credit carryforwards. Future tax benefits for operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards are recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely
than not. It is considered more likely than not that a benefit of $114.6 will be realized on these
carryforwards. This determination is based on the expectation that related operations will be
sufficiently profitable or various tax, business and other planning strategies available to us will enable
us to utilize the carryforwards. We cannot be assured that we will be able to realize these future tax
benefits or that future valuation allowances will not be required.
13.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK, COMMITMENTS,
GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES

Financial Instruments
Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to concentrations of investment and credit risk,
primarily consist of cash and equivalents, investments, accounts and notes receivable, direct finance
lease receivables, company-owned life insurance policies, accounts payable and short-term borrowings and long-term debt. We place our cash and equivalents with high-quality financial institutions and
invest in high-quality securities and commercial paper. Under our investment policy, we limit our
exposure to any one debtor.
Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts
A portion of our revenues and earnings are exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates. We
seek to manage our foreign exchange risk in part through operational means, including matching
same currency revenues with same currency costs and same currency assets with same currency
liabilities. Foreign exchange risk is also managed through the use of foreign exchange forward
contracts. These financial instruments serve to protect net income, assets, and liabilities against the
impact of the translation into U.S. dollars of certain foreign exchange denominated transactions. The
principal currency that we hedge through foreign exchange forward contracts is the European euro.
We recorded a net gain of $1.9 in 2006, in Other Income (Expense), net on the Consolidated Income
Statements related to these contracts. The notional amounts of all of the outstanding foreign
exchange forward contracts were $225.2 at February 24, 2006 and $171.8 at February 25, 2005. The
fair value of these contracts was $12.8 and ($0.7) at February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005,
respectively, and is recorded in Other current assets and Other current liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
Net Investment Hedge
In 2005 and 2006, we entered into currency contracts to hedge a portion of our net investment in
Steelcase Canada. This hedge serves to protect our net investment in Canada from the impact of
translation into U.S. dollars. The notional amount of the currency contracts was $78.4 and $36.7 as of
February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005, respectively. An unrealized currency translation adjustment
of $4.0 from the deferred losses on these contracts is recorded in cumulative translation adjustment
account within shareholders' equity as of February 24, 2006. In the prior year, the amount recorded in
cumulative adjustment account was immaterial. There was no hedge ineffectiveness in 2006 or 2005.
Interest Rate Locks
In anticipation of refinancing our senior notes which mature in November 2006, we entered into
derivative contracts to lock in the five-year treasury note interest rate (""treasury rate'') which is the
base component of the coupon rate for this debt. The notional amount of these interest rate lock
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derivative contracts (""derivative contracts'') was $225.0 at February 24, 2006, and the fair value of
these derivative contracts was $2.1 at February 24, 2006. We had not designated these derivative
contracts as hedging instruments during 2006, and therefore we recorded a gain of $2.1 in Other
income (expense) in 2006 to record these derivative contracts at fair value. On March 16, 2006
(""designation date''), we completed documentation to designate the derivative contracts as hedges.
When we issue the new senior notes, the coupon rate will be based on the then current treasury rate
plus a credit spread. The gain or loss on our derivative contracts will offset the movement in the
treasury rate from the designation date until the date that we issue the new senior notes. We are still
exposed to changes in the credit spreads in the corporate bond market until the new bonds are
issued. The derivative contracts will expire at the same time that the existing debt matures.
Interest Rate Swaps
In 2005 and Q1 2006, we had interest rate swap contracts to effectively convert floating rate
debt to a fixed rate. These contracts were designated as hedges against possible changes in the
amount of future cash flows associated with interest payments of the existing variable-rate obligations.
The net effect on our operating results was that interest expense on the variable-rate debt that was
hedged was recorded based on fixed interest rates. As of February 25, 2005, we had two of these
swap contracts in place. These contracts matured in Q1 2006 at the same time as the underlying
debt. There was no ineffectiveness in 2006 or 2005.
Information regarding our interest rate swaps is summarized below.
Fair Value
of Liability

Interest Rate Swaps

Cash flow hedges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$0.6

February 25, 2005
Notional
Amount
Interest Rate

$47.1

6.6%

The notional amounts discussed above do not necessarily represent amounts exchanged by the
parties and, therefore, are not a direct measure of our exposure from our use of derivatives. The
amounts exchanged are calculated by reference to the notional amounts and by other terms of the
derivatives, such as interest rates, exchange rates or other financial indices.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
Our trade receivables are primarily due from independent dealers, who in turn carry receivables
from their customers. We monitor and manage the credit risk associated with individual dealers.
Dealers, rather than the Company, are responsible for assessing and assuming credit risk of their
customers and may require their customers to provide deposits, letters of credit or other credit
enhancement measures. Some sales contracts are structured such that the customer payment or
obligation is direct to the Company. In those cases, the Company assumes the credit risk. Whether
from dealers or customers, our trade credit exposures are not concentrated with any particular entity.
We also have net investments in lease assets related to furniture leases originated and funded by
Steelcase Financial Services. Because the underlying net investment in leases represents multiple
orders from individual customers, there are some concentrations of credit risk with certain customers.
Our three largest lease customers make up $7.6 of gross lease receivables at the end of 2006 which
represents 42.6% of our total net investments in lease assets. Although we believe that reserves are
adequate in total, a deterioration of one of these larger credit exposures would likely require additional
charges and reserves.
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Commitments
We lease certain sales offices, showrooms and equipment under non-cancelable operating leases
that expire at various dates through 2018. During the normal course of business, we have entered
into several sale-leaseback arrangements for certain facilities. Accordingly, these leases are accounted
for as operating leases and any gains from the sale of the original properties were recorded as
deferred gains and are amortized over the lease term. The deferred gains are included as a
component of Other Long-term Liabilities, and amounted to $22.9 as of February 24, 2006 and $25.2
as of February 25, 2005.
Minimum Annual Rental Commitments Under Non-cancelable Operating Leases
Year Ending February
Amount

2007 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2008 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2009 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2010 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2011 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ThereafterÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 50.8
42.0
34.8
31.0
27.3
84.9
$270.8

Rent expense under all operating leases was $56.7 for 2006, $57.9 for 2005 and $57.2 for 2004.
Sublease rental income was $2.6 for 2006, $2.4 for 2005 and $1.7 for 2004.
We have an outstanding commitment to purchase a corporate aircraft that is intended to replace
an existing aircraft. We currently have $6.3 on deposit toward this purchase and are committed to
make additional payments of $34.4 in 2007 and 2008. We expect to take delivery of the aircraft in
2008.
Guarantees and Performance Bonds
The maximum amount of future payments (undiscounted and without reduction for any amounts
that may possibly be recovered from third parties) we could be required to make under the
guarantees and performance bonds are as follows:

Performance bondsÌdealers and joint ventures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Guarantees with dealers and joint ventures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
GuaranteesÌotherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

February 25,
2005

$ 7.6
1.4
1.0
$10.0

$11.0
15.4
0.3
$26.7

We are party to performance bonds for certain installation or construction activities for a limited
number of Steelcase dealers and joint ventures. Under these agreements, we are liable to make
financial payments if the installation or construction activities are not completed under their specified
guidelines and claims are filed. Projects with performance bonds have completion dates ranging from
one to five years. Where we have supplied performance bonds, we have the ability to step in and cure
performance failures thereby mitigating our potential losses. No loss has been experienced under
these performance bonds; however, reserves totaling $0.2 are recorded as of February 24, 2006 to
cover potential losses.
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We are contingently liable under guarantees to third parties for the benefit of certain Steelcase
dealers and joint ventures in the event of default of a financial obligation. Reserves totaling $0.3 are
recorded as of February 24, 2006 to cover potential losses for guarantees.
We occasionally provide guarantees of the performance of certain of our dealers to third parties.
These performance guarantees typically relate to dealer services such as delivery and installation of
products. In the event that a dealer cannot complete these services in a timely manner, we guarantee
the completion of these activities. It is not possible to estimate a potential liability under these types
of guarantees because of the conditional nature of our obligations and the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular agreement.
Contingencies
We are party to sales contracts with various customers and dealers. There are issues with certain
of these contracts that could give rise to claims against us. Based on our continued analysis of
available information, we have a reserve for these contract-related contingencies of $3.3 at
February 24, 2006. The amount that may ultimately be required to settle any potential obligation may
be lower or higher than our estimated reserve, which we will adjust as appropriate as additional
information becomes available. If actual settlements are significantly lower or higher than our
estimated reserve, our results of operations may be materially affected.
During 2006, we recorded restructuring charges as we began the consolidation of our operations
in the Grand Rapids, Michigan area (see Note 17). We are in the process of marketing several
properties in the Grand Rapids complex and have recorded an impairment charge during Q4 2006 for
the difference between the estimated net realizable value and the book value of these assets. It is
possible that as this project continues, the net realizable value could change.
We are involved in various tax matters. We establish reserves at the time that we determine that
it is probable that we will be liable to pay additional taxes related to certain matters. We adjust these
reserves, including any impact of related interest and penalties, in light of changing facts and
circumstances, such as the progress of tax audits. A number of years may elapse before a particular
matter, for which we have established a reserve, is audited and finally resolved or when a tax
assessment is raised. The number of years with open tax audits varies depending on the tax
jurisdiction. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome or the timing of resolution of any
particular matter, we record a reserve when we determine the likelihood of loss is probable and the
amount of loss is reasonably estimable. Such liabilities are recorded in Income taxes payable on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Favorable resolution of tax matters that had been reserved would be
recognized as a reduction in our income tax expense when known.
Litigation
We are involved in litigation from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Based on known
information, management believes we are not currently a party to any material litigation.
14.

REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

We operate on a worldwide basis within three reportable segments: North America, SDP and
International plus an ""Other'' category.
The North America segment consists of sales and marketing operations serving customers
through a network of over 330 dealer locations in the United States and Canada. This segment sells
furniture, technology and architecture products under the Steelcase and Turnstone brands.
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The SDP segment is comprised of five brands focused on higher end design furniture products
and niche applications. DesignTex is focused on surface materials including textiles, wall covering,
shades, screens and surface imaging. Details designs and markets ergonomic tools and accessories
for the workplace. Brayton, Vecta, and Metro each provide different furniture products, including
solutions for lobby and reception areas, conference rooms, private offices, health care and learning
environments. The SDP segment markets and sells its products through many of the same dealers as
the North America segment.
The International segment includes all sales and marketing operations of the Steelcase and SDP
brands outside the United States and Canada. The International segment serves customers through a
network of approximately 470 dealer locations.
In the past year, we continued to evolve towards a more centralized organization structure for
manufacturing, rather than decentralized by segment. However, we primarily review and evaluate
gross margin and operating income by segment in both our internal review processes and for external
financial reporting. Total assets by segment includes manufacturing assets more closely associated
with each segment.
The Other category includes PolyVision, IDEO, and Steelcase Financial Services subsidiaries and
unallocated corporate expenses. Steelcase Financial Services provides leasing services to customers
primarily in North America to facilitate the purchase of our products and provides selected financing
services to our dealers. PolyVision designs and manufactures visual communications products, such
as static and electronic whiteboards, for learning environments and office settings. IDEO provides
product design and innovation services. Approximately 83% of corporate expenses, which represent
shared services, are charged to the operating segments as part of a corporate allocation. Unallocated
expenses are reported within the Other category.

Operating Segment Data

Fiscal 2006
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2005
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Fiscal 2004
Revenue ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Capital expenditures ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Depreciation & amortization ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

North
America

SDP

$1,628.0
64.6
1,073.7
48.6
78.4

$340.8
34.9
140.1
3.5
6.2

$644.5
(1.3)
493.4
15.9
21.8

$255.6
(15.7)
637.3
3.9
13.0

$2,868.9
82.5
2,344.5
71.9
119.4

$1,439.4
5.5
1,126.2
25.4
81.6

$322.2
26.2
143.1
3.0
7.4

$590.5
(5.4)
523.5
16.3
26.4

$261.7
(8.1)
571.8
4.5
12.2

$2,613.8
18.2
2,364.6
49.2
127.6

$1,280.4 $275.6
(46.9)
12.8
1,130.5
137.1
18.2
4.4
93.6
8.5

$539.2
(27.5)
454.5
16.4
27.6

$250.4
(12.8)
637.3
4.0
11.7

$2,345.6
(74.4)
2,359.4
43.0
141.4
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We evaluate performance and allocate resources based on operating income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant
accounting policies included in Note 2.
During 2004, we sold substantially all of the net assets of our marine hardware and accessories
business, Attwood Corporation. The operating results of this business, formerly included within the
Other category, have been segregated and reported as discontinued operations for all periods
presented.
Reportable geographic information is as follows:

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

Revenue:
United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
France ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other foreign locations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$2,107.8
166.5
594.6
$2,868.9

$1,861.9
142.2
609.7
$2,613.8

$1,690.4
122.7
532.5
$2,345.6

Long-lived Assets:
United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
France ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other foreign locations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 814.7
58.3
153.3
$1,029.3

$ 870.6
69.6
157.0
$1,097.2

$ 952.5
69.2
182.9
$1,204.6

Reportable Geographic Data

Revenue is attributable to countries based on the location of the customer.
15.

ACQUISITIONS

During 2006, the Company acquired a small technology services company and three small
international dealerships.
In May 2005, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the net assets of GroupComm Systems
Inc. (""GroupComm'') for $5.8 in cash plus incremental payments of $0.1 plus interest for each of the
next five years. As a result of the purchase price allocation, we recorded intangible assets and
goodwill of $3.7 and $1.5, respectively. We may be required to pay additional consideration of up to
$1.3 million in the form of an earnout payment based on GroupComm meeting cumulative financial
performance targets over a five year period. GroupComm designs and implements integrated
audiovisual solutions and is consolidated as part of our North America segment.
In June 2005, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding capital stock of a dealer
in the United Kingdom for a net purchase price of $2.3. As a result of the purchase price allocation,
we recorded goodwill of $2.3. This acquisition was completed as part of our ongoing consolidation
and restructuring of our distribution network in the United Kingdom and is consolidated in our
International segment.
In February 2006, we completed the acquisition of 100% of the outstanding capital stock of two
small French dealers for a net purchase price of $0.5. As a result of the purchase price allocation, we
recorded goodwill of $0.5. These acquisitions were completed as part of our ongoing consolidation
and restructuring of our distribution network in France and are consolidated in our International
segment.
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These acquisitions were not material individually or in the aggregate.
16.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In 2004, the Company sold substantially all of the net assets of its marine hardware and
accessories business (previously reported under the Other category) for cash proceeds of $47.9,
resulting in a pre-tax net gain of $31.9 or $20.0 after-tax. The operating results of this business have
been segregated as discontinued operations for all periods presented and include the amounts
indicated in the following table:

Discontinued Operations

RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income before income taxes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Year Ended
February 27,
2004

$31.2
$ 4.0
$ 2.4

During 2005, we reversed pre-tax reserves of $1.5 originally recorded by our former marine
hardware and accessories business. These reserves related to a legal contingency that was favorably
resolved in 2005. The $1.0 after-tax effect of this reversal was included within Income on sale of
discontinued operations in the 2005 Consolidated Statement of Income.
17.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During Q1 2006, we announced our plans to continue the consolidation of our North America
operations by closing certain facilities in the Grand Rapids, Michigan area over the next two years. At
that time, we estimated total restructuring charges of $22 to $25, which does not include relocation
costs. The 2006 North America charges included $21.1 related to this initiative including employee
termination costs and the impairment of certain fixed assets including the Grand Rapids complex,
partially offset by a gain on the sale of a manufacturing plant and curtailment gains for post-retirement
and medical benefits. We now estimate that total restructuring charges related to this initiative will be
$25 to $30 and will be completed in 2007. The remaining 2006 North America restructuring charges
of $1.5 primarily relate to a lease impairment.
We also incurred $14.3 of restructuring costs as we continued our restructuring activities in our
International segment in 2006 to reduce our cost structure. The charges primarily relate to
consolidating our French manufacturing operations, outsourcing our European wood manufacturing
business, recording an impairment charge for our Strasbourg campus, and restructuring our
operations in Malaysia.
We also incurred $2.0 of restructuring costs in our Other category which primarily related to plant
consolidation activities at our PolyVision subsidiary.
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Restructuring costs are summarized in the following table:
February 24,
2006

Restructuring Charges

Cost of sales:
North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating expenses:
North AmericaÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Steelcase Design Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Totals ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$22.6
Ì
8.6
2.0
33.2

$ 7.8
Ì
(0.6)
1.0
8.2

$21.6
0.2
20.5
Ì
42.3

Ì
Ì
5.7
Ì
5.7
$38.9

1.0
Ì
3.8
0.4
5.2
$13.4

5.4
0.9
1.4
3.5
11.2
$53.5

Below is a summary of the charges, payments, and adjustments to the restructuring reserve
balance during 2004, 2005, and 2006.

Workforce
Reductions

Restructuring Reserve

Reserve balance as of February 28, 2003 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Additions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AdjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Reserve balance as of February 27, 2004 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Additions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AdjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Reserve balance as of February 25, 2005 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Additions ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Payments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
AdjustmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Reserve balance as of February 24, 2006 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 11.2
28.4
(27.2)
(0.2)
12.2
11.9
(18.7)
(0.3)
5.1
15.4
(17.8)
1.2
$ 3.9

Business Exits
and Related
Costs

$

7.2
25.1
(24.4)
2.0
9.9
1.5
(3.0)
1.0
9.4
23.5
(13.3)
(12.6)
$ 7.0

Total

$ 18.4
53.5
(51.6)
1.8
22.1
13.4
(21.7)
0.7
14.5
38.9
(31.1)
(11.4)
$ 10.9

The reserve balance as of February 24, 2006 for business exits and related costs primarily relates
to asset impairments and plant consolidation costs within our International and North America
segments.
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18.

UNAUDITED QUARTERLY RESULTS
Unaudited Quarterly Results

2006
RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) from
continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earnings per share (basic and diluted) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
2005
RevenueÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Gross profit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Operating income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Income (loss) from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Discontinued operations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Net income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted)
from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earnings per share from discontinued operations ÏÏ
Earnings (loss) per share (basic and diluted) ÏÏÏÏ

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Total

$676.0
199.9
15.2
6.7
6.7

$702.9
214.0
25.3
13.8
13.8

$750.7
223.7
32.7
19.1
19.1

$739.3
208.7
9.3
9.3
9.3

$2,868.9
846.3
82.5
48.9
48.9

0.05
0.05

0.09
0.09

0.13
0.13

0.06
0.06

0.33
0.33

$597.7 $651.0
167.3
195.2
(5.1)
16.8
(6.7)
7.3
1.0
Ì
(5.7)
7.3

$674.1
188.3
6.2
10.1
Ì
10.1

$691.0
194.9
0.3
1.0
Ì
1.0

$2,613.8
745.7
18.2
11.7
1.0
12.7

0.07
Ì
0.07

0.01
Ì
0.01

0.08
0.01
0.09

(0.05)
0.01
(0.04)

0.05
Ì
0.05

Following is a summary of the pre-tax restructuring and other selected charges (gains) included
in our quarterly results above:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Total

2006
Restructuring charges:
Workforce reductionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 8.8
2.0

$ 1.4
8.3

$ 4.5
2.8

$ 0.7
10.4

$15.4
23.5

Total restructuring chargesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$10.8

$ 9.7

$ 7.3

$11.1

$38.9

2005
Restructuring charges:
Workforce reductionsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total restructuring chargesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

$ 3.5
1.6
$ 5.1

$ 2.5
$ 3.2
$ 2.7
(0.5)
(1.5)
1.9
$ 2.0
$ 1.7
$ 4.6

$11.9
1.5
$13.4

Quarterly Restructuring and Other Items
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Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure:

None.
Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures:

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Our management under the supervision and with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of
our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, as amended), as of February 24, 2006. Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of February 24, 2006, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis,
information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act.
(b) Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we have included a report of
management's assessment of the design and effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as part of this Report. The independent registered public accounting firm of BDO Seidman,
LLP also attested to, and reported on, management's assessment of our internal control over financial
reporting. Management's report and the independent registered public accounting firm's attestation
report are included in this Report in Item 8: Financial Statements and Supplementary Data under the
captions entitled ""Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting'' and ""Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.''
(c) Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during our
fourth fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information:
None.

PART III
Item 10.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant:

Certain information regarding executive officers required by this Item is set forth as a
Supplementary Item at the end of Part I hereof. Other information required by this item is contained in,
Item 1: Business under the caption ""Available Information'' or in our 2006 Proxy Statement under the
captions ""Our Board of Directors,'' ""Corporate Governance,'' ""Committees of the Board of Directors''
and ""Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,'' and is incorporated into this Report
by reference.
Item 11.

Executive Compensation:

The information required by Item 11 is contained in our 2006 Proxy Statement, under the captions
""Director Compensation,'' ""Corporate Governance,'' ""Compensation Committee Report,'' ""Executive
Compensation, Retirement Programs and Other Arrangements,'' and ""Stock Performance Graph,'' and
is incorporated into this Report by reference.
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Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters:

The information required by Item 12 that is not listed below is contained in our 2006 Proxy
Statement, under the caption ""Stock Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners,'' and
is incorporated into this Report by reference.
Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans as of February 24, 2006 are
as follows:

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by security
holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Equity compensation plans
not approved by security
holders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance under
equity compensation plans
(excluding securities
reflected in the
second column)

7,604,442

$16.46

9,931,771

Ì
7,604,442

N/A
$16.46

Ì
9,931,771

All stock options were awarded under our Incentive Compensation Plan, which was first approved
by our shareholders in December 1997.
Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions:

The information required by Item 13 is contained in our 2006 Proxy Statement, under the caption
""Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions,'' and is incorporated into this Report by
reference.
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Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services:

The information required by Item 14 is contained in our 2006 Proxy Statement under the caption
""Fees Paid to Principal Independent Auditor,'' and is incorporated into this Report by reference.

PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules:

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules
1. Financial Statements (Item 8)
The following consolidated financial statements of the Company are filed as part of this Report:
‚ Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
‚ Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
‚ Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended February 24, 2006, February 25, 2005
and February 27, 2004
‚ Consolidated Balance Sheets as of February 24, 2006 and February 25, 2005
‚ Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended February 24,
2006, February 25, 2005, and February 27, 2004
‚ Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended February 24, 2006, February 25,
2005, and February 27, 2004
‚ Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Financial Statement Schedules (S-1)
Schedule IIÌValuation and Qualifying Accounts
All other schedules required by Form 10-K have been omitted because they are not applicable or
the required information is disclosed elsewhere in this Report.
3. Exhibits Required by Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-K
See Index of Exhibits (pages E-1 through E-8)
(b) Exhibits
The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
Item 15(a)(3) above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedules
The response to this portion of Item 15 is submitted as a separate section of this Report. See
Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

STEELCASE INC.

By:

/s/

JAMES P. KEANE
James P. Keane
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 2, 2006
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been
signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the
dates indicated:
Signature

/s/

May 2, 2006

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

Chairman of the Board of Directors and
Director

May 2, 2006

Robert C. Pew III

CATHY D. ROSS

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

James P. Hackett

JAMES P. KEANE
James P. Keane

/s/

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

JAMES P. HACKETT

/s/

Title

WILLIAM P. CRAWFORD
William P. Crawford

/s/

EARL D. HOLTON
Earl D. Holton

/s/

MICHAEL J. JANDERNOA
Michael J. Jandernoa

/s/

DAVID W. JOOS
David W. Joos

/s/

ELIZABETH VALK LONG
Elizabeth Valk Long

/s/

/s/

ROBERT C. PEW III

Cathy D. Ross

/s/

PETER M. WEGE II
Peter M. Wege II
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Signature

/s/

P. CRAIG WELCH, JR.

Title

Date

Director

May 2, 2006

Director

May 2, 2006

P. Craig Welch, Jr.

/s/

KATE PEW WOLTERS
Kate Pew Wolters
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SCHEDULE II
STEELCASE INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Allowance for Losses on Accounts Receivable

Balance at beginning of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Additions:
Charged to costs and expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Charged to other accounts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Deductions and other adjustments (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Balance at end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

February 24,
2006

Year Ended
February 25,
2005

February 27,
2004

$ 41.6

$ 44.4

$ 61.5

8.6
0.3
(18.4)
$ 32.1

9.6
0.2
(12.6)
$ 41.6

2.7
0.4
(20.2)
$ 44.4

(1) Represents excess of accounts written off over recoveries and other adjustments necessary in
order for amounts to conform to the current year presentation.

S-1

Index of Exhibits
Exhibit
No.

3.1
3.2
4.1

4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11
4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19
4.20
4.21

Description

Second Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (1)
Amended By-laws of Steelcase Inc., as amended March 27, 2004 (2)
Instruments which define the rights of holders of long-term debt represent debt of less than
10% of total assets. In accordance with Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K, the
Company agrees to furnish a copy of such instruments to the Securities and Exchange
Commission upon request.
Credit Agreement, dated as of July 29, 2003 among Steelcase Inc. and various lenders. (3)
Indenture dated November 27, 2001, between the Company and Bank One Trust Company,
N.A. (4)
First Supplemental Indenture dated November 27, 2001, between the Company and Bank
One Trust Company, N.A. (5)
Registration Rights Agreement, dated November 19, 2001, by and among the Company,
Goldman, Sachs & Co., Salomon Smith Barney Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC,
Banc One Capital Markets, Inc. and BNP Paribas Securities Corp. (6)
Form of Notes (included in Exhibit 4.4)
Loan Agreement dated April 9, 1999, by and among Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and
Societe Generale (7)
Participation Agreement dated as of April 9, 1999, by and between Steelcase Europe LLC
and Societe Generale (8)
First Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of June 15, 2001, by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (9)
Second Amendment to Loan Agreement dated November 12, 2001, by and among
Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (10)
Third Amendment to Loan Agreement dated November 5, 2002, by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (11)
Fourth Amendment to Loan Agreement and Waiver dated April 17, 2003, by and among
Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (12)
Fifth Amendment to Loan Agreement dated as of August 7, 2003 by and among Steelcase
SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (13)
Sixth Amendment to the Loan Agreement dated as of August 24, 2005 by and among
Steelcase SAS, Steelcase Inc. and Societe Generale (14)
Master Aircraft Lease Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000
among First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase Inc. (15)
Lease Supplement and Acceptance Certificate No. 1 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as
of May 26, 2000 between First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase
Inc. (16)
Lease Supplement and Acceptance Certificate No. 2 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as
of August 23, 2000 between First Security Bank, National Association and Steelcase
Inc. (17)
Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000 among
Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America, National Association (18)
Appendix A to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America, National
Association (19)
Security Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of May 26, 2000 from First
Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of Nevada and
accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (20)
Security Agreement Supplement No. 1 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
between First Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of
Nevada and accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (21)
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Exhibit
No.

4.22
4.23

4.24

4.25
4.26
4.27
4.28

4.29

4.30
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9
10.10
10.11
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15
10.16
10.17
10.18
10.19

Description

Security Agreement Supplement No. 2 (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated May 26, 2000
between First Security Bank, National Association to First Security Trust Company of
Nevada and accepted and agreed to by Steelcase Inc. (22)
Notice of Delivery pursuant to Section 2.3(b) of the Participation Agreement dated as of
May 26, 2000 among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America,
National Association give notice that the Aircraft shall be delivered to the Certificate
Trustee on May 26, 2000 (23)
Notice of Delivery pursuant to Section 2.3(b) of the Participation Agreement dated as of
May 26, 2000 among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders and Bank of America,
National Association give notice that the Aircraft shall be delivered to the Certificate
Trustee on August 23, 2000 (24)
First Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated as of
June 8, 2001 by and among Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (25)
Second Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated
May 16, 2003 between Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (26)
Third Amendment to Participation Agreement (Steelcase Trust No. 2000-1) dated August 1,
2003 between Steelcase Inc. and various facility lenders (27)
Aircraft Sale and Aircraft Lease Assignment, Assumption and Amendment Agreement dated
May 20, 2005 by and among Steelcase Financial Services Inc., Bank of America, National
Association, Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, National Association, and certain other lenders
and liquidity banks (28)
Credit Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2005 among Steelcase Inc. and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Bank of America, N.A., and BNP Paribas, as CoSyndication Agents; Fifth Third Bank and Societ
π eπ Gen
π erale,
π
as Co-Documentation Agents;
and certain other lenders(29)
Amended and Restated Agreement, dated as of October 29, 2004, by and between
Steelcase Inc. and the Shareholders listed on Schedule A thereto (30)
Deferred Compensation Agreement dated January 12, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and
James P. Hackett (31)
Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (32)
First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (33)
2003-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (34)
2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan (35)
2007-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Restoration Retirement Plan
Deferred Compensation Agreement dated May 4, 1998, between Steelcase Inc. and
William P. Crawford (36)
Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan (37)
2004-1 Amendment to Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation
Plan (38)
2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation
Plan (39)
Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (40)
First Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (41)
2002-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (42)
2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (43)
2007-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (44)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan, amended and restated as of March 1,
2002 (45)
2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan (46)
Steelcase Inc. Management Incentive Plan, amended and restated as of March 1,
2002 (47)
Resignation Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James R. Stelter dated September 27,
2002 (48)
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Exhibit
No.

10.20
10.21
10.22
10.23
10.24
10.25
10.26
10.27
10.28
10.29
10.30
10.31
10.32
10.33
10.34
10.35
10.36
10.37
10.38
10.39
10.40
21.1
23.1
31.1
31.2
32.1
99.1
99.2

Description

Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan, amended and restated as of
March 27, 2003 (49)
2006-1 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan (50)
2006-2 Amendment to the Steelcase Inc. Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan (51)
Employment Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and James G. Mitchell dated January 20,
2003 (52)
Amendment dated June 28, 2004 to Employment Agreement between Steelcase Inc. and
James G. Mitchell dated January 20, 2003 (53)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Board of
Directors Members (54)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Executive
Management Team Members (55)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement Form for Participants in
France (56)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the
United States (57)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Stock Option Agreement for Participants in the
United Kingdom (58)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement (59)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement (60)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form for Board of
Directors Members (61)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Agreement Form (62)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Restricted Stock Units Agreement Form (63)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Shares Agreement (64)
Steelcase Inc. Incentive Compensation Plan Form of Performance Units Agreement (65)
Summary of Steelcase Benefit Plan for Outside Directors (66)
Summary of Compensation for the Board of Directors for Steelcase Inc (67)
Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement, dated December 15, 2005, between Steelcase Inc. and
James P. Hackett (68)
Aircraft Time-Sharing Agreement, dated December 15, 2005, between Steelcase Inc. and
James P. Hackett (69)
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP
Certification of CEO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of CFO pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of CEO and CFO pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Asset Purchase Agreement between Steelcase Financial Services Inc. and General Electric
Capital Corporation, dated May 24, 2002 (70)
Guaranty by Steelcase Inc., in favor of General Electric Capital Corporation, dated May 24,
2002 (70)

(1) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (#333-41647) as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(""Commission'') on December 5, 1997.
(2) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 28, 2004, as filed with the Commission on
July 7, 2004.
(3) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 to the Company's Form 8-K, as filed with the Commission on
August 7, 2003, and incorporated herein by reference.
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(4) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.6 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as filed with the Commission on January 7, 2002.
(5) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.7 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as filed with the Commission on January 7, 2002.
(6) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.8 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 23, 2001, as filed with the Commission on January 7, 2002.
(7) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.20 in the Company's S-4 filing, as filed with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.
(8) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.21 in the Company's S-4 filing, as filed with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.
(9) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.22 in the Company's S-4 filing, as filed with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.
(10) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.23 in the Company's S-4 filing, as filed with the Commission on
February 22, 2002, and incorporated by reference herein.
(11) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.37 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as filed with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(12) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.38 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as filed with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(13) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.44 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as filed with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(14) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
August 30, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(15) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.36 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(16) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.37 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(17) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.38 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(18) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.39 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(19) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.40 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(20) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.41 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(21) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.42 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
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(22) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.43 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(23) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.44 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(24) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.45 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(25) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.46 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2004, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(26) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.41 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 30, 2003, as filed with the Commission on July 14, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(27) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.43 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as filed with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(28) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on May 26,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(29) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
August 1, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(30) Filed as Exhibit No. 4.11 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-3(#333-119757) as filed with the Commission on November 23, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(31) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to Amendment 2 to the Company's
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (#333-41647) as filed with the Commission on
January 20, 1998.
(32) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.4 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 26, 1999, as filed with the Commission on May 27, 1999, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(33) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.22 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(34) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.21 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 28, 2003, as filed with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(35) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(36) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.8 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 1998, as filed with the Commission on May 28, 1998, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(37) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.10 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 1999, as filed with the Commission on October 12, 1999, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(38) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 29, 2003, as filed with the Commission on October 10, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
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(39) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.36 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(40) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.11 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 1999, as filed with the Commission on January 10, 2000, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(41) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.23 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(42) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.24 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2001, as filed with the Commission on July 9, 2001, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(43) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.34 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(44) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
November 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(45) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.27 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as filed with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(46) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.35 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 6, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(47) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.28 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 24, 2002, as filed with the Commission on July 8, 2002, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(48) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 22, 2002, as filed with the Commission on January 6, 2003, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(49) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.19 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 28, 2003, as filed with the Commission on May 16, 2003, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(50) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.33 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended February 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on May 5, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(51) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended May 25, 2005, as filed with the Commission on July 1, 2005, and incorporated
herein by reference.
(52) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.26 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on October 6, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(53) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.27 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended August 27, 2004, as filed with the Commission on October 6, 2004, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(54) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.28 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
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(55) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.29 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(56) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.30 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(57) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.31 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(58) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.32 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(59) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on May 25,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(60) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on May 25,
2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(61) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.33 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(62) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.34 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(63) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.35 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended November 26, 2004, as filed with the Commission on January 5, 2005, and
incorporated herein by reference.
(64) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
March 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(65) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
March 22, 2005, and incorporated herein by reference.
(66) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.1 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
March 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(67) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.2 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
March 31, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(68) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.01 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
January 30, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(69) Filed as Exhibit No. 10.02 in the Company's 8-K filing, as filed with the Commission on
January 30, 2006, and incorporated herein by reference.
(70) Incorporated by reference to the like numbered exhibit to the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended May 24, 2002, as filed with the Commission on
July 8, 2002.
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT SECTION 302
I, James P. Hackett, President and Chief Executive Officer of Steelcase Inc., certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Steelcase Inc.;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/

JAMES P. HACKETT

Name: James P. Hackett
Title: President and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 2, 2006

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT SECTION 302
I, James P. Keane, Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer of Steelcase Inc., certify that:
1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Steelcase Inc.;
2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances
under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4) The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls
and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
5) The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

/s/

JAMES P. KEANE

Name: James P. Keane
Title: Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 2, 2006

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Steelcase Inc. (the ""Company'') for the
year ended February 24, 2006 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ""Report''), James P. Hackett, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and James P.
Keane, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, based on
his knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/

JAMES P. HACKETT

Name: James P. Hackett
Title: President and
Chief Executive Officer

May 2, 2006

/s/

JAMES P. KEANE

Name: James P. Keane
Title: Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer

May 2, 2006
This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by
the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL MEETING
The Board of Directors of Steelcase Inc. cordially invites all shareholders to attend the Company's 2006
Annual Meeting as follows:
Date:
Time:
Location:

June 22, 2006
11:00 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time
Steelcase Town Hall
1111 44th Street SE
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49508

The Annual Meeting is being held to allow you to vote on any matter properly brought before the
shareholders, including the following proposal for the election of directors nominated to a three-year term
by the Board of Directors:
William P. Crawford
Elizabeth Valk Long
Robert C. Pew III
Cathy D. Ross
If you were a shareholder of record as of the close of business on April 26, 2006, you are eligible to
vote. You may either vote at the meeting or by proxy, which allows your shares to be voted at the meeting
even if you are not able to attend. If you choose to vote by proxy:
‚ Please carefully review the enclosed proxy statement and proxy card.
‚ Select your preferred method of voting, including by telephone, Internet or signing and mailing the
proxy card.
‚ You can withdraw your proxy and vote your shares at the meeting if you decide to do so.
Every vote is important, and you are urged to vote your shares as soon as possible.
We look forward to seeing you at the meeting.
By Order of the Board of Directors,

Jon D. Botsford
Senior Vice President, Secretary
and Chief Legal Officer
May 18, 2006

Steelcase Inc., P.O. Box 1967, Grand Rapids, MI 49501-1967 USA www.steelcase.com
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QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS
What am I voting on?
You are being asked to vote on the election of nominees to serve on our Board of Directors and
any other business properly coming before the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shareholders (the ""Meeting'').
How does the Board of Directors recommend I vote?
The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees for director listed
on pages 3 and 4.
Who is entitled to vote?
Shareholders of record of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock at the close of
business on April 26, 2006 may vote at the Meeting.
How many shares can be voted at the Meeting?
At the close of business on April 26, 2006, there were 77,169,035 shares of Class A Common
Stock and 72,774,442 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding.
How many votes do I have?
Each shareholder has one vote per share of Class A Common Stock and ten votes per share of
Class B Common Stock owned of record at the close of business on April 26, 2006.
How do I vote?
If you are a registered shareholder (that is, if you hold your Steelcase stock directly in your
name), you may vote by telephone, Internet or mail or by attending the Meeting and voting in person.
To vote by telephone or Internet: Please follow the instructions on the proxy card. The deadline
for voting by telephone or Internet is 11:59 p.m. Eastern Daylight Time on June 21, 2006.
To vote by mail: Please complete, sign and date the accompanying proxy card and return it in
the enclosed postage-paid envelope. Only cards received and processed before 11:00 a.m.
Eastern Daylight Time on June 22, 2006 will be voted.
If you hold your stock in ""street name'' (that is, your shares are registered in the name of a
bank, broker or other nominee, which we will collectively refer to as your ""broker''), you must vote
your shares in the manner required by your broker.
Whether you vote by telephone, Internet or mail, you may specify whether your shares should be
voted for all, some or none of the nominees for director.
If you do not specify a choice and you use the enclosed proxy card, your shares will be voted
FOR the election of all nominees for director listed under Proposal Requiring Your Vote Ì Election of
Directors on pages 3 and 4.
If you do not specify a choice and you use a ballot card supplied by your broker, the rules of the
New York Stock Exchange (""NYSE'') provide that your broker can vote as they wish on the election
of nominees for director.
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What should I do if I received more than one proxy card?
If you received more than one proxy card, it is likely that your shares are registered differently or
are in more than one account. You should sign and return all proxy cards to ensure all of your shares
are voted.
How will voting on any other business be conducted?
For any other matter that properly comes before the Meeting, your shares will be voted in the
discretion of the proxy holders. As of April 26, 2006, we do not know of any other matter to be
considered at the Meeting.
Can I revoke my proxy?
If you appoint a proxy, you may revoke it at any time before it is exercised by notifying the
Company's Secretary in writing, by delivering a later dated proxy to the Company's Secretary or by
attending the Meeting and voting in person.
Who can attend the Meeting?
Shareholders of record of Class A Common Stock or Class B Common Stock may attend the
Meeting.
Can I listen to the Meeting if I cannot attend?
You can listen to a live webcast of the Meeting on the Internet. Instructions for listening to the
webcast will be available on the ""Webcasts & Presentations'' page of the Investor Relations section of
our website, located at www.steelcase.com/ir, approximately one week before the Meeting. An audio
replay of the Meeting will be available on our website within two hours after the Meeting and until
September 22, 2006.
When and how are shareholder proposals for next year's Annual Meeting to be submitted?
We must receive any shareholder proposals to be included in our proxy statement for the 2007
Annual Meeting of Shareholders by January 18, 2007. Shareholder proposals to be presented from the
floor of the 2007 Annual Meeting must be received no earlier than March 26, 2007 and no later than
April 13, 2007. All shareholder proposals must be sent in the manner and meet the requirements
specified in our by-laws.
What if I have the same address as another shareholder?
We send a single copy of our annual report and proxy statement to any household at which two
or more shareholders reside if they appear to be members of the same family. This practice is known
as ""householding'' and helps reduce our printing and postage costs. Any shareholder residing at the
same address as another shareholder who wishes to receive a single document or separate
documents should call (800) 542-1061 or write to ADP Householding Department, 51 Mercedes Way,
Edgewood, New York 11717, and we will deliver the requested documents promptly.
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PROPOSAL REQUIRING YOUR VOTEÌELECTION OF DIRECTORS
Our Board of Directors currently has eleven members and is divided into three classes serving
staggered three-year terms.
There are four nominees for election this year. Each is currently a member of our Board and is
nominated to serve as a Class II director for a term that will expire at the 2009 Annual Meeting.
Our Board of Directors met four times during fiscal year 2006 (February 26, 2005ÌFebruary 24,
2006). Each of our directors attended at least 75% of the total number of meetings of the Board and
the committees on which they served during the year. Our Board's policy is that each director is
expected to attend our annual meeting of shareholders. Eight of the ten directors serving at the time
of our 2005 Annual Meeting attended that meeting.
The Board of Directors recommends that you vote FOR each of the nominees.
OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Nominees for Election as Class II Directors for the Term Expiring in 2009:
William P. Crawford
Director since 1979
Mr. Crawford held various positions at Steelcase from 1979 until his retirement
in 2000, including President and Chief Executive Officer of the Steelcase
Design Partnership. Mr. Crawford is also a director of Fifth Third BankÌa
Michigan banking corporation. Age 63.

Elizabeth Valk Long
Director since 2001
Ms. Long held various management positions at Time Inc., a magazine
publisher, until her retirement in 2001, including Executive Vice President of
Time Inc. from 1995 to 2001. Ms. Long also serves on the Board of Directors
of Belk, Inc. and The J.M. Smucker Company. Age 56.

Robert C. Pew III
Director since 1987
Mr. Pew has been a private investor since 2004 and operated Cane Creek
Farm from 1995 to 2003. From 1974 to 1984 and from 1988 to 1994,
Mr. Pew held various positions at Steelcase, including President, Steelcase
North America and Executive Vice President, Operations. Mr. Pew has served
as Chair of our Board of Directors since June 2003. Age 55.
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Cathy D. Ross
Director since 2006
Ms. Ross has been Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Federal Express Corporation, an express transportation company and
subsidiary of FedEx Corporation, since 2004. Ms. Ross also held a variety of
other positions at FedEx, including Vice President, Express Financial Planning
from 1998 to 2004. Age 48.

Class III Directors Continuing in Office for the Term Expiring in 2007:
James P. Hackett
Director since 1994
Mr. Hackett has been President and Chief Executive Officer of Steelcase since
1994. Mr. Hackett also serves as a member of the Board of Trustees of The
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company and the Board of Directors of
Fifth Third Bancorp. Age 51.

David W. Joos
Director since 2001
Mr. Joos has been President and Chief Executive Officer of CMS Energy
Corporation, an energy company, and its primary electric utility, Consumers
Energy Company, since 2004. Mr. Joos served as President and Chief
Operating Officer of CMS Energy Corporation from 2001 to 2004 and as
Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer-Electric from 2000 to
2001. Mr. Joos serves on the Board of Directors of CMS Energy Corporation
and Consumers Energy Company. Age 53.

P. Craig Welch, Jr.
Director since 1979
Mr. Welch has been Manager and a member of Honzo LLC, an investment/
venture capital firm, since 1999. From 1967 to 1987, Mr. Welch held various
positions at Steelcase, including Director of Information Services and Director
of Production Inventory Control. Age 61.
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Class I Directors Continuing in Office for the Term Expiring in 2008:
Earl D. Holton
Director since 1998
Mr. Holton served as Vice Chairman and member of the Board of Directors of
Meijer, Inc., a Grand Rapids, Michigan-based operator of retail food and
general merchandise stores, from 1999 until his retirement in 2004. He also
held a variety of other positions at Meijer, including President from 1980 until
1999. Mr. Holton also serves on the Board of Directors of CMS Energy
Corporation and Consumers Energy Company and has acted as the presiding
director at executive sessions of those Boards since 2002. Age 72.

Michael J. Jandernoa
Director since 2002
Mr. Jandernoa has been a general partner of Bridge Street Capital Fund I,
L.P., a Grand Rapids, Michigan venture capital fund, since 2004. He served as
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Perrigo Company, a manufacturer of
over-the-counter store-brand pharmaceutical and nutritional products, from
1991 through 2003. Mr. Jandernoa also served in various executive capacities
with Perrigo Company, including Chief Executive Officer from 1988 to 2000.
He is also a director of Perrigo Company and Fifth Third BankÌa Michigan
banking corporation. Age 56.
Peter M. Wege II
Director since 1979
Mr. Wege has been Chairman of the Board of Directors of Contract
Pharmaceuticals Ltd., a manufacturer and distributor of prescription and
over-the-counter pharmaceuticals, since 2000. From 1981 to 1989, he held
various positions at Steelcase, including President of Steelcase Canada Ltd.
Age 57.

Kate Pew Wolters
Director since 2001
Ms. Wolters has been engaged in philanthropic activities since 1996. She is
currently President of the Kate and Richard Wolters Foundation and is a
community volunteer and advisor. She also serves as Chair of the Board of
Trustees of the Steelcase Foundation. Age 48.

Related Directors
Robert C. Pew III and Kate Pew Wolters are brother and sister and are first cousins of William P.
Crawford and P. Craig Welch, Jr.; Mr. Crawford and Mr. Welch, Jr. are first cousins of each other.
Chairman Emeritus
Our Board has designated our former director Robert C. Pew II as Chairman Emeritus. As
Chairman Emeritus, Mr. Pew II is invited to attend Board and committee meetings, but he does not
have any right to vote as a director and does not receive any retainer or other meeting fees.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
In fiscal year 2006, we compensated our outside directors as follows:
Type of Compensation

Board Compensation:
Annual Retainer ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Meeting Attendance Fee (per meeting) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Committee Compensation:
Audit Committee Chair Annual Retainer ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Other Committee Chair Annual RetainerÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Committee Chair Attendance Fee (per meeting)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Committee Attendance Fee (per meeting) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Director

Board Chair

$25,000
$ 2,000

$90,000
Ì

$
$
$
$

7,500
3,500
1,500
1,000

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Our outside directors receive a minimum of 25% of their annual retainer in either:
‚ a deemed investment in Class A Common Stock under our Non-Employee Director Deferred
Compensation Plan or
‚ Class A Common Stock issued under our Incentive Compensation Plan.
Our Board expects that any shares issued to outside directors under our Incentive Compensation
Plan will be held by the directors while they serve on the Board.
Each outside director is also reimbursed for the out-of-pocket expenses he or she incurs to
attend Board and committee meetings. James P. Hackett, as an employee, does not receive any
compensation for his service as a director or committee member.
During fiscal year 2006, Michael J. Jandernoa earned an additional $12,250 for services provided
in his capacity as a member of the Board and the Audit Committee in connection with a special
project. During fiscal year 2006, Peter M. Wege II and William P. Crawford also served on the board of
one or more of our subsidiaries, and Mr. Wege II was paid $2,000 and Mr. Crawford was paid $4,500
for attending meetings of such boards. We also reimbursed Mr. Wege II and Mr. Crawford for the
out-of-pocket expenses they incurred to attend those meetings.
Each of our outside directors is eligible to participate in our Non-Employee Director Deferred
Compensation Plan. Under this plan, directors may defer all or part of their retainer and/or committee
fees until they no longer serve on our Board. A participating director may elect to have the deferred
amount deemed invested in Class A Common Stock or several other investment funds.
Each of our outside directors also participates in our Incentive Compensation Plan. The only
awards made to our outside directors under this plan during fiscal year 2006 were to those directors
electing to receive 25% or more of their annual retainer in Class A Common Stock.
William P. Crawford and Robert C. Pew III currently receive or are entitled to receive payments
under supplemental retirement and/or deferred compensation arrangements that were in effect when
their active employment with us ended. Mr. Crawford also participates in our retiree medical and life
insurance benefit plans on the same terms as other North American-based retirees. Their rights to
receive those payments and benefits are not conditioned on continued service on our Board.
During fiscal year 2006, each of our outside directors who is not a retiree of our Company was
eligible to receive medical and dental care coverage under our Employee Benefit Plan, the cost of
which is reported as taxable income for each participating director. The table below shows, for each
outside director who participated in the plan during fiscal year 2006, the amount of taxable income
relating to such participation.
Fiscal Year 2006
Taxable Income

Participating Directors

Robert C. Pew III ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Peter M. Wege II ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
P. Craig Welch Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Kate Pew Wolters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
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$12,629
$12,629
$ 8,839
$ 4,209

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our Board of Directors is committed to monitoring the effectiveness of policy and decision making
at the Board and management levels. Fundamental to its corporate governance philosophy is the
Board's commitment to upholding our reputation for honesty and integrity. Equally fundamental is its
commitment to serving as an independent overseer of our management and operations.
Corporate Governance Principles
Our Board adopted our Corporate Governance Principles on December 18, 2002. These principles
outline the goals, duties and responsibilities of the Board and its committees, as well as our Board's
expectations of directors, including the following:
‚ Our Board provides oversight to management that helps build long-term value for the
Company's shareholders.
‚ Our Board is responsible for monitoring the performance of the Company.
‚ Our Board is responsible for selecting our Chief Executive Officer, evaluating his or her
performance and engaging in succession planning for senior management.
‚ Our directors are expected to spend the time and effort necessary to appropriately perform
their responsibilities. Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee conducts an
annual evaluation of directors' commitments to other boards to help ensure that our directors
are able to devote the appropriate amount of time and effort to perform their duties.
‚ Our directors are subject to mandatory retirement. After turning 75, a person shall not be
nominated or re-elected as a director.
‚ If a director has a significant change in responsibilities, including a change in employment, they
are expected to volunteer to resign from the Board. Whether the Board accepts the resignation
is dependent on the continued appropriateness of Board service.
‚ Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee considers the issues of term limits in its
nominating process and member rotation in making recommendations on committee
assignments. In both instances, the Committee's goal is to ensure that our Board and its
committees are open to new ideas and are willing to critically re-examine the status quo.
‚ We conduct an orientation for new Board members.
‚ Our directors are expected to participate in continuing educational programs to maintain the
necessary level of expertise to perform their responsibilities as directors.
‚ Our Board and our Audit, Compensation and Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committees conduct annual self-evaluations.
Director Independence
A majority of the members of our Board of Directors must be independent, as defined by the
NYSE listing standards.
Our Board considers all relevant facts and circumstances in determining whether a director is
independent and adopted the following categorical standards to guide that determination. Under
these standards, none of the following is considered a material relationship impairing a director's
independence:
‚ the director is currently employed in any capacity by, or is an equity owner in, another
company that has done or does business with the Company, provided that:
7

Ì the amount of business with the Company is less than the greater of $1,000,000 or 1%
of the other company's annual gross revenue, or
Ì the director's ownership interest does not exceed 5% of the total equity interests in the
other company;
‚ the director is currently serving solely as a director, advisory director, consultant or in a similar
non-employee position with another company that has done or does business with the
Company, regardless of the amount;
‚ the director is currently employed as an executive officer of a charitable institution that has
received contributions from the Company or the Steelcase Foundation, provided that the
amount of the contributions in any of the last three years is less than the greater of $1,000,000
or 2% of the charitable institution's annual gross revenue;
‚ the director is currently serving solely as a director, trustee, volunteer, committee member or in
a similar position (and not as an executive officer) of a charitable institution that has received
contributions in any amount from the Company or the Steelcase Foundation during any of the
past three years;
‚ the Company has employed a member of the director's immediate family within the last three
years, provided such employment was not as a board-elected officer;
‚ the director, as part of his or her service on our Board of Directors also serves as a trustee of
the Steelcase Foundation and/or a director of a subsidiary or affiliate; or
‚ the Company previously employed the director in any capacity, provided that the director's
employment ceased more than five years ago.
As used in the above categorical standards, ""business with the Company'' includes the Company
selling products or services to the other company, either directly or through an independently owned
dealer, and the Company buying products or services from the other company during the last three
years. Unless the context otherwise requires, ""director'' includes the director and his or her immediate
family members as defined in the NYSE listing standards.
Applying the NYSE listing standards and the Board's categorical standards and considering all
the relevant facts and circumstances, our Board of Directors determined that William P. Crawford, Earl
D. Holton, Michael J. Jandernoa, David W. Joos, Elizabeth Valk Long, Robert C. Pew III, Cathy D.
Ross, Peter M. Wege II, P. Craig Welch, Jr. and Kate Pew Wolters are independent. James P. Hackett
was found to be not independent because of his executive management position.
Audit Committee Matters
Our Corporate Governance Principles prohibit any member of our Audit Committee from sitting on
the audit committees of more than two other public companies. Additionally, the Board of Directors
has designated Michael J. Jandernoa as an ""audit committee financial expert'' as defined by the rules
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ""SEC''), based on his financial and accounting
education and experience.
Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation
Earl D. Holton, Michael J. Jandernoa, David W. Joos, P. Craig Welch, Jr. and Kate Pew Wolters
currently serve as members of our Compensation Committee, and there is no insider participation.
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Executive Sessions of Non-Management Directors
The only member of our Board who is also a member of management is James P. Hackett, our
President and Chief Executive Officer. Our Board meets quarterly in executive session without
Mr. Hackett present. During these sessions, Robert C. Pew III, as Chair of the Board, presides. Our
Corporate Governance Principles provide that if the Chair of the Board is a member of management,
the outside directors will designate a member to preside at executive sessions. You may contact the
Chair of the Board (or the lead non-management director, if one is subsequently appointed) by
sending a certified letter to:
Chair of the Board/Lead Non-Management Director
c/o Steelcase Inc.
P.O. Box 1967
Grand Rapids, MI 49501-1967
Code of Ethics, Code of Business Conduct and Board Committee Charters
Our Board has adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our chief executive and senior financial
officers, as well as a Code of Business Conduct that applies to all of our employees and directors.
Only our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee may grant any waivers of either code for
a director or executive officer. Each of these codes, the charters of our Audit, Compensation and
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committees, and our Corporate Governance Principles are
available in the Corporate Governance section (found under Our Company Ì About Steelcase) of our
Internet website, located at www.steelcase.com. If any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of
our Code of Ethics is made for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will also post such
information in the Corporate Governance section of our website.
We will provide a printed copy of any of these materials to you upon request and without charge.
Please send any such requests to us by email at ir@steelcase.com or by mail at:
Steelcase Inc.
Investor Relations
GH-3C
P.O. Box 1967
Grand Rapids, MI 49501-1967
Contacting Our Board
Our Board has adopted a process for our shareholders to send communications to the Board. To
contact the Board, any of its committees or any of our directors, please send a certified letter
addressed to:
Board of Directors
c/o Jon Botsford, Secretary
Steelcase Inc.
P.O. Box 1967
Grand Rapids, MI 49501-1967
All such letters will be opened by the Company's Secretary. Any contents that are not in the
nature of advertising, promotions of a product or service or patently offensive material will be
forwarded promptly to the addressee. In the case of communications to the Board or any committee
or group of directors, the Secretary will make sufficient copies of the contents and send them to each
director who is a member of the committee or group to which the envelope is addressed.
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The Steelcase Foundation
The Steelcase Foundation is included in the categorical independence standards described on
pages 7 and 8. The Foundation was established in 1951 to make grants to non-profit organizations,
projects and programs in the communities where our employees live and work. Established by the
founders of Steelcase Inc., the Foundation seeks to give back to the communities that have been
instrumental to the Company's operations and growth. From time to time, the Company has donated
a portion of its earnings to the Foundation. Our Board of Directors determines whether a donation will
be made to the Foundation and determines the amount. Several of our directors also serve as
Foundation Trustees, including James P. Hackett, Earl D. Holton, Robert C. Pew III and Kate Pew
Wolters, who serves as Chair of the Board of Trustees. The other Trustees of the Foundation include
David D. Hunting, Jr., Mary Goodwillie Nelson, Peter M. Wege and James C. Welch. During fiscal year
2006, Fifth Third Bank also served as a trustee and was compensated for its services in connection
with the Foundation, but individual trustees are not compensated for their service.
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COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Four standing committees assist our Board of Directors in fulfilling the responsibilities summarized
below. Each committee has the power to conduct or authorize investigations or studies of matters
within the scope of its responsibilities and may, at the Company's expense, retain independent
counsel or other consultants or advisors as deemed necessary. Each committee also has the sole
authority to retain or terminate its consultants and approve the payment of fees.
Audit Committee
Current Members:

Responsibilities:

Michael J. Jandernoa (Chair)
Earl D. Holton
Elizabeth Valk Long
Robert C. Pew III
Cathy D. Ross
Peter M. Wege II

‚ Appoints the independent auditor and reviews and approves its
services and fees in advance

Number of Meetings
in Fiscal Year 2006: 7

‚ Reviews the performance of our independent auditor and, if
circumstances warrant, makes decisions regarding its replacement
or termination
‚ Evaluates the independence of the independent auditor
‚ Reviews the appointment, replacement, reassignment or dismissal
of the head of our internal audit function, as well as the function's
budget and staffing
‚ Reviews the scope of the internal and independent annual audit
plans and monitors progress and results
‚ Reviews our critical accounting policies and practices
‚ Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of our accounting and
internal control policies and procedures
‚ Reviews our financial reporting, including the results of the annual
audit and interim financial statements, as well as the type of
information included in our earnings press releases
‚ Reviews the process by which we monitor, assess and manage our
exposure to risk
‚ Reviews compliance with our Global Business Standards, as well as
legal and regulatory compliance
‚ Performs an annual self-evaluation of the Committee, as well as
other duties specified in its charter
‚ Reports to our Board of Directors about these and other matters
undertaken by the Committee
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Compensation Committee
Current Members:

Responsibilities:

David W. Joos (Chair)
Earl D. Holton
Michael J. Jandernoa
P. Craig Welch, Jr.
Kate Pew Wolters

‚ Establishes our compensation philosophy

Number of Meetings in
Fiscal Year 2006: 7

‚ Establishes the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer
‚ Reviews the compensation of our executive officers
‚ Reviews executive and non-executive compensation programs and
benefit plans to assess their competitiveness, reasonableness and
alignment with our compensation philosophy
‚ Makes awards and takes other actions under our incentive
compensation and equity-based compensation plans
‚ Performs an annual self-evaluation of the Committee, as well as
other duties specified in its charter
‚ Reports to our Board of Directors about these and other matters
undertaken by the Committee

Executive Committee
Current Members:

Responsibilities:

Earl D. Holton (Chair)
William P. Crawford
James P. Hackett
Robert C. Pew III
Peter M. Wege II
P. Craig Welch, Jr.

‚ Exercises the powers of our Board of Directors when necessary
between regular meetings, subject to any legal or regulatory
limitations
‚ Performs other duties as assigned by our Board of Directors from
time to time

Number of Meetings
in Fiscal Year 2006: 1

‚ Reports to our Board of Directors about these and other matters
undertaken by the Committee
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Current Members:

Responsibilities:

Kate Pew Wolters (Chair)
William P. Crawford
Elizabeth Valk Long
Robert C. Pew III
Peter M. Wege II
P. Craig Welch, Jr.

‚ Establishes procedures for identifying and evaluating potential
director nominees and recommends nominees for election to our
Board of Directors

Number of Meetings in
Fiscal Year 2006: 2

‚ Reviews the suitability for continued service of directors when their
terms are expiring or a significant change in responsibility occurs,
including a change in employment
‚ Reviews annually the composition of our Board of Directors to
ensure that it reflects an appropriate balance of knowledge,
experience, skills, expertise and diversity
‚ Makes recommendations to our Board regarding its size, the
frequency and structure of its meetings and other aspects of the
governance procedures of our Board of Directors
‚ Makes recommendations to our Board regarding the functioning and
composition of Board committees
‚ Reviews our Corporate Governance Principles at least annually and
recommends appropriate changes to our Board of Directors
‚ Oversees the annual self-evaluation of our Board of Directors and
annual evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer
‚ Reviews director compensation and recommends appropriate
changes to our Board of Directors
‚ Administers the Board's policy on disclosing and managing conflicts
of interest
‚ Considers any waiver request under our Code of Ethics and Code
of Business Conduct
‚ Performs an annual self-evaluation of the Committee, as well as
other duties specified in its charter
‚ Reports to our Board of Directors about these and other matters
undertaken by the Committee
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NOMINATING AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee has six members, all of whom are
independent under the NYSE listing standards. Our Committee performs the duties described in
Committees of the Board of Directors on page 13 and operates under a written charter adopted by
the Board of Directors that is reviewed and assessed at least annually.
Corporate Governance
Since its formation in June 2002, our Committee has focused on seeking out and implementing
world class governance policies and practices. Some of the resulting policies and practices are
summarized in Corporate Governance on pages 7 through 10.
Board Composition
Our Committee also identifies and recommends to the Board of Directors qualified candidates for
election as directors. As a part of that responsibility, we conduct an annual review of the composition
of the Board and evaluate whether it continues to reflect the balance of knowledge, experience, skills,
expertise and diversity necessary to provide oversight and direction to management in a manner that
builds long-term shareholder value.
Qualifications
Nominees for director are selected on the basis of several criteria, the most fundamental of which
is integrity. We are committed to diversity, and a candidate's ability to add to the diversity of our
Board is also considered. Directors are expected to be curious and demanding independent thinkers
who possess appropriate business judgment and are committed to representing the long-term
interests of shareholders. Directors must possess knowledge, experience, skills or expertise that will
enhance our Board's ability to direct our business. They must also be willing and able to spend the
time and effort necessary to effectively discharge their responsibilities. Directors must be prepared to
resign from our Board in the event that they have a significant change in responsibilities, including a
change in employment, as required by our Corporate Governance Principles.
In addition to the above qualifications, we also review the effectiveness of directors when
determining whether to re-nominate a current member of our Board for an additional term.
Identification of Candidates for Director
Our Committee considers candidates suggested by its members, other directors and senior
management in anticipation of potential or expected Board vacancies. After identifying a potential
candidate, we collect and review publicly available information to assess whether they should be
considered further. If the candidate warrants further consideration, the Chair or another member of our
Committee will initiate a contact. Generally, if the person expresses a willingness to be considered, we
request information from the candidate, review their qualifications and accomplishments and conduct
one or more interviews with the candidate. Committee members may also contact references or others
that have personal knowledge of the candidate's accomplishments.
We will also consider candidates recommended by shareholders for nomination by the Board,
taking into consideration the needs of the Board and the qualifications of the candidate. Shareholders
must submit recommendations to the Company's Secretary in writing and include the following
information:
‚ the recommending shareholder's name and evidence of ownership of our stock, including the
number of shares owned and the length of time owned; and
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‚ the candidate's name, resume or a listing of qualifications to be a director of the Company and
the person's consent to be named as a director if selected by the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee and nominated by the Board.
Shareholders may also make their own nominations for director by following the process specified
in our by-laws.
Our Committee has the sole authority to retain search firms to assist in identifying candidates.
During fiscal year 2006, we retained a third party firm, Boyden Global Executive Search, to assist us
with identifying and evaluating potential candidates. Cathy D. Ross, who was appointed to our Board
in March 2006 and is a nominee for re-election at this year's annual shareholder meeting, was
identified as a potential candidate by Boyden Global Executive Search.

Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee
Kate Pew Wolters (Chair)
William P. Crawford
Elizabeth Valk Long
Robert C. Pew III
Peter M. Wege II
P. Craig Welch, Jr.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee has six members, all of whom are financially literate as defined by the
Board of Directors and are independent under the NYSE listing standards. Our Committee performs
the duties described in Committees of the Board of Directors on page 11 and operates under a
written charter adopted by the Board of Directors that is reviewed and assessed at least annually.
Management is responsible for the Company's financial reporting process and its internal controls
regarding financial reporting, accounting, legal compliance and ethics. BDO Seidman, LLP, the
Company's independent registered public accounting firm (""independent auditor''), is responsible for
performing independent audits of the Company's consolidated financial statements and its internal
control over financial reporting and issuing opinions on:
‚ the conformity of those audited financial statements with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America,
‚ the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, and
‚ management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial
reporting.
Our Committee's role is to serve as an independent and objective party to monitor these
processes on behalf of the Board of Directors and to review the audit efforts of the Company's
internal and independent auditors.
In this context, we discussed with the independent auditor the matters required to be discussed
by Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, Communications with Audit Committees, as amended. In
addition, we received the written disclosures and letter from the independent auditor required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 and reviewed, evaluated and discussed the written
report and letter with that firm and its independence with respect to the Company.
We discussed with the Company's internal and independent auditors the overall scope and plans
for their respective audits. We also reviewed and discussed with management the Company's audited
financial statements. We met with the internal and independent auditors, with and without
management present, to discuss the results of their examinations, their evaluations of the Company's
internal control and the overall quality of the Company's financial reporting.
Based on the review and discussions referred to above, and relying on the representations of the
Company's management and the independent auditor's report, our Committee recommended to the
Board of Directors that the audited financial statements be included in the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended February 24, 2006 for filing with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.

Audit Committee
Michael J. Jandernoa (Chair)
Earl D. Holton
Elizabeth Valk Long
Robert C. Pew III
Cathy D. Ross
Peter M. Wege II
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FEES PAID TO PRINCIPAL INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BDO Seidman's fees for fiscal year 2006 (estimated) and fiscal year 2005 (actual) for work
performed for us are as follows:

Audit Fees (1)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Audit-Related Fees (2) ÏÏÏÏ
Tax Fees (3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
All Other Fees ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Fiscal Year
2006

Fiscal Year
2005

$1,797,000
234,000
277,000
Ì
$2,308,000

$1,667,000
213,000
290,000
Ì
$2,170,000

(1) Audit fees consisted of fees related to the annual audit of our consolidated financial statements,
the annual audit of our internal control over financial reporting, reviews of the financial statements
included in quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, audits of separate financial statements of subsidiaries
and affiliates, and other services related to SEC reporting matters.
(2) Audit-related fees consisted of employee benefit plan audits and related services.
(3) Tax fees consisted of assistance with tax compliance, preparation of certain subsidiary tax
returns, tax consultation, planning and implementation services, and assistance in connection
with tax audits.
Our Audit Committee determined that providing the services reflected in the above table was
compatible with the maintenance of BDO Seidman's independence.
In addition, our Audit Committee has adopted a policy under which it approves in advance
recurring audit, audit-related and tax services rendered by BDO Seidman, subject to specific fee
limits. If circumstances require hiring the independent auditors for services not previously preapproved or that would exceed the fee limits previously set, the Audit Committee must pre-approve
the new services or fee limits. The Audit Committee Chair may approve specified services between
regularly scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee, subject to review by the full Audit Committee at
its next scheduled meeting. The fiscal year 2006 services and fees reflected in the above table were
pre-approved by the Audit Committee.
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The Compensation Committee has five members, all of whom are independent under the NYSE
listing standards. The Committee performs the duties described in Committees of the Board of
Directors on page 12 and operates under a written charter adopted by the Board of Directors that is
reviewed and assessed at least annually.
Overview of Compensation Philosophy and Objectives
Steelcase values the contributions of all employees and shares profits through broad-based
incentive arrangements designed to reward performance and motivate teamwork for our success.
In line with this philosophy, the Committee's objectives for executive compensation include:
‚ attracting and retaining highly-qualified executive officers,
‚ motivating executives to achieve the Company's business objectives and rewarding them
appropriately for their contributions,
‚ aligning the interests of executive officers with the long-term interests of the Company's
shareholders, and
‚ ensuring that executive compensation is reasonable.
Each year the Committee reviews executive and non-executive compensation and benefit programs
to assess reasonableness and alignment with the Company's compensation philosophy and objectives.
In fiscal year 2006, the Committee once again engaged Towers Perrin, a leading compensation
consulting firm, to assist in assessing the compensation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer (""CEO'')
and other executives. The firm reported directly to the Committee, consulting with it on best practices in
executive compensation and providing relevant market data comparisons for executive compensation.
Taking into consideration the Towers Perrin data, the Committee reviewed the following
components of compensation paid by the Company to each of its executive officers: base salary,
projected annual and long-term incentive awards based on varying assumptions of the Company's
performance, equity awards, perquisites, amounts made available by the Company to pay for benefits
under the Company's broad-based health and welfare plans, and contributions to retirement plans,
including projected benefits payable under the Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan.
Based upon this review, the Committee believes the CEO and executive compensation for fiscal year
2006 are reasonable and consistent with the Company's compensation philosophy and objectives.
Principle Components of Executive Compensation
Base Salary
Base salaries are considered as one part of total direct compensation of executives. Total direct
compensation is targeted at the median level of a comparison group of companies selected by the
Committee. Each year the Committee reviews the companies included in the comparison group for
continued appropriateness, based primarily on revenue, industry characteristics and geographic
locations. Where there is insufficient data within the group for a specific position, general
manufacturing industry data is also considered. On an annual basis, James P. Hackett, the
Company's CEO, establishes and reviews with the Committee the base salaries of the Company's
executive officers based on his assessment of individual performance and market data from the
comparison group of companies.
In fiscal year 2006, the Committee increased Mr. Hackett's base salary from $760,000 to
$800,000. In fiscal year 2002, the Committee had approved Mr. Hackett's request to reduce his base
salary from $800,000 to $720,000 due to industry conditions, and in fiscal year 2004, the Committee
increased Mr. Hackett's salary to $760,000. In determining Mr. Hackett's base salary for fiscal year
2006, the Committee considered market data from the comparison group, the voluntary nature of his
previous salary reduction and the factors upon which his annual performance appraisal is based.
These factors include Mr. Hackett's leadership, establishment and implementation of the Company's
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strategic direction and the Company's performance on economic value added (""EVA''), which is
described below, earnings per share and return on equity goals.
Annual and Long-Term Incentive Awards
Annual and long-term incentive awards are tied to achieving specific financial goals. Consistent with
market practice and our desire to motivate performance, incentive compensation opportunities represent a
larger percentage of total compensation for executives than for other Company employees.
The Steelcase Inc. Management Incentive Plan (""MIP'') provides annual and/or long-term
incentive bonus compensation to approximately 300 participants. Annual awards under the MIP reward
participants for the Company's current year financial performance. Long-term awards encourage
retention and participant focus on decisions that impact the longer-term success of the Company. The
executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table participate in the MIP and are eligible
to receive annual and long-term awards.
Annual and long-term awards under the MIP are determined based on EVA, which is a profit
measure that reflects the Company's operating costs, including the cost of capital. EVA is calculated
based on the Company's net income less a capital charge representing the economic cost of a
reasonable return on the Company's net assets, plus an acquisition allowance and plus or minus any
accounting adjustments allowed under the plan and authorized by the Committee.
At the beginning of each fiscal year, the Committee sets EVA performance goals that must be
achieved for MIP participants to earn an award. The performance goals include two components, a growth
component and an absolute component. The growth component rewards improvements in EVA and is
automatically set each year based on the average of the prior year's EVA target and actual performance,
increased by an improvement factor. The absolute component rewards annual achievement of EVA
results. The growth and absolute components have separate leverage factors which determine the level of
EVA that is required to double the award.
The Committee also approves a schedule of target awards, expressed as a percentage of base
salary. The target percentages for annual and long-term awards increase according to base salary.
The Committee exercises discretion in setting the targets and considers factors such as the median of
market data for similar incentives and the Company's historic and projected performance.
Following the fiscal year end, both growth and absolute EVA are calculated by applying the
leverage factors. Using a weighting of 50% growth component and 50% absolute component
established by the Committee, the award multiple is determined. The award multiple is applied to the
target annual and long-term incentive percentages to calculate each employee's actual incentive
percentages, which are then multiplied by the employee's base pay to determine the annual and longterm incentive awards for the fiscal year.
The award multiple cannot exceed 2.0. The maximum annual incentive payment under the plan to
any participant is $3 million. The maximum long-term incentive payment to any participant is
$4 million, inclusive of cash and other forms of payment.
Annual awards are paid in the year declared. Long-term awards are allocated to participant
accounts and paid in three equal annual installments, beginning the year after the award is declared.
Any unpaid account balance is adjusted at the end of each fiscal year to reflect the year's change in
shareholders' equity, positive or negative, before payment of dividends. Participants whose
employment is terminated for any reason other than death, total disability or retirement, forfeit the
right to payment of any unpaid account balances credited to their account unless otherwise
determined by the Committee.
In fiscal year 2006, the Company's EVA performance resulted in a MIP award multiple of 0.95.
For fiscal year 2006, Mr. Hackett's target annual incentive percentage was 70% and his target
long-term incentive percentage was 115%. Those percentages were established in fiscal year 2004
and are reviewed annually taking into account the market data from the current comparison group of
companies.
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Equity Awards
The Company makes awards of equity-based compensation to remain competitive in attracting
and retaining management employees and to align management with the interests of shareholders.
In fiscal year 2006, the Committee granted performance shares and performance units to certain
executive officers, including the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table. Under
each award a target number of performance shares or, in the case of executives living outside of the
United States, performance units will be earned subject to achievement of specified levels of financial
performance over a three-year period.
For fiscal year 2006, the Committee selected cumulative cash flow per share as the performance
measure for performance shares and performance units because it focuses on operating results and
compliments EVA profitability goals. Upon completion of the three-year performance period, 0% to
200% of the target number of shares or units will be earned based on the total cumulative three-year
operating cash flow.
At the end of the performance period, the number of performance shares earned will be
determined and issued as Class A Common Stock, and one-third of the shares will vest immediately.
The remaining two-thirds will vest equally over the next two years. Dividend equivalents accumulate
during the performance period at the same rate as dividends declared on Class A Common Stock and
will be paid at the end of the performance period on the actual number of performance shares earned.
During the vesting period, dividends will be paid on earned shares.
Similarly, at the end of the performance period, the number of performance units earned will be
determined, and one-third will vest immediately and be issued as Class A Common Stock. The
remaining two-thirds will vest equally over the next two years and be issued as Class A Common
Stock on the annual vesting dates. Dividend equivalents accumulate during the performance period at
the same rate as dividends declared on Class A Common Stock and will be paid at the end of the
performance period on the actual number of performance units earned. During the vesting period,
dividend equivalents will be paid on earned units.
Mr. Hackett's award of performance shares in fiscal year 2006 was based on market data
provided by Towers Perrin and the Committee's desire to motivate improved Company performance.
The performance share awards made in fiscal year 2006 to the executive officers named in the
Summary Compensation Table are shown under Long-Term Incentive PlansÌAwards in the Last Fiscal
YearÌPerformance Share Awards. No other equity awards, including options and restricted stock,
were made to the executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table in fiscal year 2006.
Tax Deductibility under Section 162(m)
The Company also considers the tax deductibility of compensation paid to certain executive
officers. Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code generally limits the tax deductibility of annual
compensation paid to certain officers to $1 million. The Committee's goal is to structure the
compensation paid to these individuals to maximize deductibility for federal income tax purposes.
However, when deemed necessary, the Committee retains the flexibility to authorize compensation
that may not be deductible under Section 162(m) to promote incentive and retention goals.
Compensation Committee
David W. Joos (Chair)
Earl D. Holton
Michael J. Jandernoa
P. Craig Welch, Jr.
Kate Pew Wolters
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION, RETIREMENT PROGRAMS AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS
Summary Compensation Table
The table below shows compensation information for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 for
James P. Hackett, our President and Chief Executive Officer in fiscal year 2006, and our four next
highly paid executive officers as of the end of fiscal year 2006.
Annual Compensation
Name and
Principal Position

Fiscal
Year

Salary(1)

Bonus(2)

Other Annual
Compensation(3)

Long-Term Compensation
Awards
Payouts
Restricted
Long-Term
Stock
Incentive Plan
Awards(4)
Payouts(5)

All Other
Compensation(6)

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏ 2006 $797,231 $530,324
President and Chief 2005 $760,000 $893,760
Executive Officer
2004 $742,615
Ì

$13,357
$ 7,705
$ 6,650

Ì
Ì
$308,800

$ 77,013
Ì
$112,201

$22,398
$30,931
$30,629

Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏ 2006
President, Steelcase 2005
North America
2004

$278,601
$461,472
Ì

$ 6,359
$ 3,625
$ 3,625

Ì
Ì
$144,750

$ 38,456
Ì
Ì

$23,430
$25,073
$25,817

James P. Keane ÏÏÏÏÏ 2006 $422,959 $257,622
Sr. Vice President,
2005 $396,730 $399,059
Chief Financial
2004 $355,016
Ì
Officer

$10,501
$ 6,745
$ 5,141

Ì
Ì
$295,280

$ 34,337
Ì
$ 17,460

$22,479
$21,269
$18,588

Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏ 2006 $344,388 $176,984
Sr. Vice President,
2005 $329,558 $290,018
Chief Administrative 2004 $311,135
Ì
Officer

$ 3,614
$ 1,945
$ 1,811

Ì
Ì
$ 77,200

$ 26,365
Ì
$ 14,265

$23,772
$19,102
$18,050

Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2006 $343,462 $176,679
Sr. Vice President,
2005 $309,689 $267,229
Global Operations
2004 $277,349
Ì
Officer

$ 7,494
$ 4,225
$ 2,325

Ì
$140,100
$ 96,500

$ 24,133
Ì
$ 10,590

$21,000
$15,425
$13,860

$451,118
$437,000
$428,596

(1) Includes amounts withheld under our Deferred Compensation Plan and the 401(k) component of
our Retirement Plan. The salaries shown for fiscal year 2004 reflect an unpaid week for a
company-wide shutdown during the year.
(2) Represents amounts paid from the annual component of the MIP. For fiscal year 2005 only,
annual targets were increased by an amount equal to two-thirds of the participants' long-term
target and long-term targets were decreased by the same amount. This methodology for
establishing fiscal year 2005 target percentages was used for all MIP participants.
(3) Amounts shown for fiscal years 2006 and 2004 include the earnings credit and debit,
respectively, to the long-term amounts paid from the MIP for such fiscal year. Pursuant to the
terms of the MIP, a credit or debit is made to the long-term incentive awards based on the
percentage of positive or negative change in our shareholders' equity for the applicable fiscal
year. For enhanced disclosure, the amounts shown also include dividends earned on restricted
stock. While each of the named executive officers received limited perquisites, no amounts are
included in accordance with SEC rules because none of them received perquisites in an
aggregate amount of $50,000 or more.
(4) During fiscal year 2004, each of the named executive officers received a grant(s) of restricted
stock which vests three years from the date of grant. During fiscal year 2005, Mark Baker
received a grant of restricted stock which vests three years from the date of grant. Dividends are
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payable on the restricted shares at the same rate as our common stock. The following table
shows the market value of each grant on the date of grant and as of February 24, 2006.

Name

Number
of
Restricted
Shares

Grant Date

Fair Market Value
as of
February 24, 2006
Value
Per
Total
Share
Value

Grant Date
Fair Market Value
Value
Per
Total
Share
Value

Vest Date

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏ 3/27/2003

32,000

$ 9.65 $308,800 $17.34 $554,880 3/27/2006

Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏÏ 3/27/2003

15,000

$ 9.65 $144,750 $17.34 $260,100 3/27/2006

James P. KeaneÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3/27/2003
10/1/2003

16,000
12,000

$ 9.65 $154,400 $17.34 $277,440 3/27/2006
$11.74 $140,880 $17.34 $208,080 10/1/2006

Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏ 3/27/2003

8,000

$ 9.65 $ 77,200 $17.34 $138,720 3/27/2006

Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3/27/2003
7/1/2004

10,000
10,000

$ 9.65 $ 96,500 $17.34 $173,400 3/27/2006
$14.01 $140,100 $17.34 $173,400 7/1/2007

(5) Represents the cumulative long-term incentive awards paid under the MIP for the applicable
fiscal year prior to any return on equity adjustment for such fiscal year.
(6) Amounts shown include (a) contributions made to our Retirement Plan and Restoration
Retirement Plan, (b) the dollar value of premiums paid by the Company for term life insurance
for the named executive officers and (c) benefit dollars under our Employee Benefit Plan which
the named executive officers elected to have contributed to the 401(k) component of our
Retirement Plan. For fiscal year 2006, the amount shown for each named executive officer
includes $21,000 in combined contributions to our Retirement Plan and Restoration Retirement
Plan, and the remaining amount, if any, represents the dollar value of term life insurance
premiums paid for the fiscal year.
Aggregated Option Exercises in the Last Fiscal Year and Fiscal Year End Option Values
The table below shows information concerning the options exercised in fiscal year 2006 by each
of our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table and the value of the options held
at the end of fiscal year 2006. No stock appreciation rights are held by any of our executives.

Name

James P. HackettÏÏÏÏÏ
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏÏ
James P. Keane ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏ
Mark A. BakerÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Shares
Acquired
on
Exercise

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Value
Realized

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Number of Securities
Underlying Unexercised
Options at
February 24, 2006
Exercisable Unexercisable

1,243,660
200,000
240,372
189,060
123,026
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Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Value of Unexercised
In The Money
Options at
February 24, 2006
Exercisable
Unexercisable

$3,186,408
$1,308,000
$ 607,876
$ 385,249
$ 272,503

Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì

Long-Term Incentive Plans Ì Awards in the Last Fiscal Year
MIP Long-Term Awards
The table below shows the amount of long-term awards made under the MIP for fiscal year 2006
to our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation Table.

Performance Period Until
Maturation or Payout

Name

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James P. Keane ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nancy W. HickeyÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal

Years
Years
Years
Years
Years

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Stock PriceBased Plans Ì Target

2007-2009
2007-2009
2007-2009
2007-2009
2007-2009

$871,246
$428,617
$401,892
$294,494
$293,755

These awards are payable in cash in three equal annual installments after the end of fiscal years
2007, 2008 and 2009, and the amounts payable are multiplied by the percentage, positive or
negative, of return on our shareholders' equity for such fiscal year. For more information on awards
under the MIP, see the Compensation Committee Report on pages 18 through 20.
Performance Share Awards
The table below shows the number of performance shares awarded during fiscal year 2006 under
our Incentive Compensation Plan to our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation
Table.

Name

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏÏ
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏ
James P. KeaneÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Number of
Performance
Shares

50,000
20,000
15,000
7,000
15,000

Performance Period Until
Maturation or Payout

Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal
Fiscal

Years
Years
Years
Years
Years

2006-2008
2006-2008
2006-2008
2006-2008
2006-2008

Estimated Future Payouts Under
Non-Stock Priced-Based Plans
Threshold
Target
Maximum
Number Number of
Number
of Shares
Shares
of Shares

25,000
10,000
7,500
3,500
7,500

50,000
20,000
15,000
7,000
15,000

100,000
40,000
30,000
14,000
30,000

The performance shares are earned subject to achievement of specified levels of cumulative cash
flow per share for fiscal years 2006, 2007 and 2008. Upon completion of the performance period, the
actual number of shares earned will be determined as follows:
‚ No shares will be earned if the cumulative cash flow per share is less than $2.60.
‚ The threshold number of shares will be earned if the cumulative cash flow per share is $2.60.
‚ The target number of shares will be earned if the cumulative cash flow per share is $3.90.
‚ The maximum number of shares will be earned if the cumulative cash flow per share is $6.50
or more.
‚ If the cumulative cash flow per share is between the threshold and the target or between the
target and the maximum, the number of shares earned will be determined on a prorated basis.
At the end of fiscal year 2008, the actual number of shares earned will be issued as Class A
Common Stock. One-third of the shares will vest immediately upon issuance, and the remaining twothirds will be issued as restricted shares which will vest in two equal annual installments at the end of
fiscal year 2009 and fiscal year 2010. Dividend equivalents accumulate on the performance shares
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during the performance period at the same rate as dividends declared on Class A Common Stock and
will be paid (in cash or in stock, as determined by our Board) at the end of the performance period
on the actual number of performance shares earned. Dividends will be paid on restricted shares
during the vesting period. For more information on performance shares see the Compensation
Committee Report on pages 18 through 20.
Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan
We maintain an Executive Supplemental Retirement Plan. The Compensation Committee
determines who participates in the plan. Each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation
Table is a current participant.
Under this unfunded plan, participants receive the following benefits:
‚ five annual payments equal to 70% of average base salary for the three consecutive calendar
years prior to retirement or death, multiplied by the vested percentage, and
‚ fifteen annual payments of $50,000, multiplied by the vested percentage.
Benefits normally begin in March of the year in which any of the following occur:
‚ retirement at 65,
‚ retirement before 65 if the officer's age plus years of continuous service with Steelcase equal
80 (early retirement), or
‚ the officer's death or total disability.
In the event of early retirement and with the approval of the plan's administrative committee, a
participant can elect, within a specified time frame, to receive benefits earlier and in lower annual
amounts. Benefits would end on the date the final payment would have been made if the participant
had not elected to receive benefits earlier.
The table below shows a range of estimated annual benefits during the first five years of benefits
for plan participants who have the years of participation shown below at retirement, assuming that no
early payment election is made and all plan requirements are satisfied.
Average Base
Salary
(Final 3 years)

$1,000,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
900,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
800,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
700,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
600,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
500,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
400,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
300,000ÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Years of Participation
5

3

4

$150,000
136,000
122,000
108,000
94,000
80,000
66,000
52,000

$300,000
272,000
244,000
216,000
188,000
160,000
132,000
104,000

$450,000
408,000
366,000
324,000
282,000
240,000
198,000
156,000

6

7 or more

$600,000
544,000
488,000
432,000
376,000
320,000
264,000
208,000

$750,000
680,000
610,000
540,000
470,000
400,000
330,000
260,000

After the first five annual payments, the total benefit reduces to the amounts shown in the
following table (this benefit is paid for years 6 through 15):

3

$10,000

4

$20,000

Years of Participation
5

$30,000

6

7 or more

$40,000

$50,000

Social Security and other offsetting amounts are not deducted from the payments shown in the
previous tables. Benefits are paid to the participant or the participant's surviving spouse, as defined in
the plan.
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A participant's vested percentage is based on completed years of participation in the plan:
Years of
Participation

Vested
Percentage

less than 3ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
3 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
4 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
5 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
6 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
7 or more ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

As of the date of this proxy statement, the executive officers named in the Summary
Compensation Table have completed the following years of service while a participant under the plan:
Years of
Participation

Name

James P. Hackett ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James P. Keane ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nancy W. Hickey ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

15
3
5
9
4

A participant forfeits the right to receive benefits under the plan in the following circumstances:
‚ employment is terminated for cause;
‚ employment is terminated for any reason other than total disability or early retirement before
reaching 65;
‚ death occurs without a surviving spouse, as defined in the plan, or the surviving spouse dies
after the participant's death;
‚ the participant competes with us without the prior consent of the plan's administrative
committee; or
‚ the participant is eligible for and elects to receive benefits under any other non-qualified
deferred compensation plan or arrangement maintained by us or any of our subsidiaries or
affiliates (other than our Restoration Retirement Plan or our Deferred Compensation Plan).
Restoration Retirement Plan
Each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table participates in our Restoration
Retirement Plan. This unfunded, defined contribution plan is intended to restore retirement benefits
that would otherwise be paid under our Retirement Plan but are lost as a result of the limitations on
eligible compensation under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17).
Each participant in the MIP for the full plan year, including each executive officer named in the
Summary Compensation Table, is eligible to participate in our Restoration Retirement Plan. We make
annual contributions to a participant's account at the same combined rate of contribution for the plan
year used in determining benefits under our Retirement Plan. Eligible compensation under our
Restoration Retirement Plan is the amount of the participant's base salary and annual bonus under the
MIP that exceeds the limit under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a)(17) but not more than twice
the limit. Each participant's account balance is credited annually with earnings at the same rate of
return on investment earned by the participant under our Retirement Plan for the same plan year. No
earnings are credited following termination of employment.
25

Benefits are payable from our Restoration Retirement Plan after a participant terminates
employment according to the following vesting schedule:
Vesting
Percentage

Years of Service

less than 3 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
3 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
4 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
5 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
6 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
7 or more ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

0%
20%
40%
60%
80%
100%

Each executive officer named in the Summary Compensation Table is 100% vested except for
Mr. Merlotti who is 20% vested. Benefits are payable in lump sum or in annual installments over four
years. Unpaid benefits are forfeited if the participant is terminated for cause or engages in certain
competitive activity without the prior consent of the plan's administrative committee.
Deferred Compensation Plan
To compete with other comparable global industrial companies, we maintain a Deferred
Compensation Plan. This plan permits eligible participants, including our executive officers named in
the Summary Compensation Table, to defer up to 25% of their current base salary and up to 50% of
their MIP annual incentive payments before income taxes. Each participant elects how the deferred
amounts will be deemed invested among various investment funds we make available. The total
amount of deferral plus investment earnings is paid to the participants or their beneficiaries upon
leaving employment. Prior to establishing the plan, we entered into deferred compensation contracts
with certain executive officers, including James P. Hackett. Under the earlier agreement, Mr. Hackett
will receive payments upon reaching age 70.
During fiscal year 2006, we amended our Deferred Compensation Plan to allow participants to
reduce the time period during which their deferral election must remain in effect and to allow
participants to make a special, one-time election, as permitted by Internal Revenue Code
Section 409A, to receive a distribution of all or a portion of the amount credited to their accounts
under the plan during calendar year 2005.
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STOCK OWNERSHIP OF MANAGEMENT AND CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS
The tables on the following pages show the amount of Class A Common Stock and Class B
Common Stock beneficially owned by certain persons. Generally, a person ""beneficially owns'' shares
if the person has or shares with others the right to vote those shares or to dispose of them, or if the
person has the right to acquire voting or disposition rights within 60 days (for example, by exercising
options). Except as stated in the notes following the tables, each person has the sole power to vote
or dispose of the shares shown in the tables as beneficially owned.
Each share of Class B Common Stock can be converted at the option of the holder into one
share of Class A Common Stock. Ownership of Class B Common Stock is, therefore, deemed to be
beneficial ownership of Class A Common Stock under the SEC's rules and regulations. The number of
shares of Class A Common Stock and percentages shown for Class A Common Stock in the following
tables, however, do not account for this conversion right in order to reduce substantial duplications in
the number of shares and percentages shown in the table.
Directors and Executive Officers
This table shows the amount of common stock beneficially owned as of April 26, 2006 by
(a) each of our directors, (b) each of our executive officers named in the Summary Compensation
Table, and (c) all of our directors and executive officers as a group.

Name

Mark A. Baker ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
William P. Crawford (4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James P. Hackett (5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Nancy W. Hickey (6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Earl D. Holton ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Michael J. Jandernoa ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
David W. JoosÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James P. Keane ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Elizabeth Valk Long (7) ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Robert C. Pew III (8)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cathy D. RossÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Peter M. Wege II (9)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
P. Craig Welch, Jr. (10)ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Kate Pew Wolters (11)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Directors and executive
officers as a group
(19 persons) (12) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Class A
Common Stock (1)
Shares
Beneficially
Stock
Percent
Owned
Options (2) of Class

Class B
Common Stock
Shares
Beneficially
Percent
Owned
of Class

Deferred
Stock (3)

16,967
1,330
74,778
5,803
8,934
11,252
1,400
23,046
1,400
38,102
9,425
Ì
87,441
20,400
5,089

123,026
13,618
1,243,660
189,060
80,707
Ì
8,000
240,372
13,618
200,000
25,835
Ì
25,835
25,835
8,000

*
*
1.7%
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
Ì
*
*
*

Ì
10,165,163
81,900
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
4,033,969
Ì
287,218
5,016,765
4,475,884

Ì
14.0%
*
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
Ì
5.5%
Ì
*
6.9%
6.2%

Ì
1,302
Ì
Ì
15,345
424
8,158
Ì
17,217
Ì
Ì
Ì
1,302
23,098
1,213

325,757

2,807,367

3.9%

24,060,899

33.1%

68,059

* Less than 1%
(1) If the number of shares each director or executive officer could acquire upon conversion of his or
her Class B Common Stock were included as shares of Class A Common Stock beneficially
owned, the following directors and executive officers would be deemed to beneficially own the
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number of shares of Class A Common Stock (including stock options) and the percentage of the
total shares of Class A Common Stock listed opposite their names:
Number of
Shares

Name

William P. Crawford ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James P. HackettÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Robert C. Pew III ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Peter M. Wege II ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
P. Craig Welch, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Kate Pew Wolters ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Directors and executive officers as a group
(19 persons) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

Percent of
Class A

10,180,111
1,400,338
4,069,229
400,494
5,063,000
4,488,973

11.7%
1.8%
5.0%
*
6.2%
5.5%

27,194,023

26.1%

* Less than 1%
(2) This column shows the number of shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired as a
result of the exercise of stock options within 60 days of April 26, 2006.
(3) The numbers shown in this column represent shares of Class A Common Stock deemed to be
credited as of April 26, 2006 to the respective directors' accounts under our Non-Employee
Director Deferred Compensation Plan. Under the plan, directors have no right to receive actual
shares and have no voting or dispositive power over any shares. The deemed investment
mirrors the actual return on Steelcase Inc. common stock. See Director Compensation on
page 6 for a description of the plan.
(4) Includes (a) 460 shares of Class A Common Stock and 1,262,632 shares of Class B Common
Stock of which Mr. Crawford shares the power to vote and dispose and (b) 7,690,909 shares
of Class B Common Stock held by CRASTECOM B Limited Partnership, of which Mr. Crawford
is the managing partner.
(5) Includes 12,405 shares of Class A Common Stock and 81,900 shares of Class B Common
Stock of which Mr. Hackett shares the power to vote and dispose.
(6) Includes 220 shares of Class A Common Stock of which Ms. Hickey shares the power to vote
and dispose.
(7) Includes 1,000 shares of Class A Common Stock of which Ms. Long shares the power to vote
and dispose.
(8) Includes (a) 2,000 shares of Class A Common Stock and 193,685 shares of Class B Common
Stock of which Mr. Pew III shares the power to vote and dispose and (b) 2,731,428 shares of
Class B Common Stock of which Mr. Pew III shares the power to dispose but has the sole
power to vote.
(9) Includes 87,041 shares of Class A Common Stock and 96,600 shares of Class B Common
Stock of which Mr. Wege shares the power to vote and dispose.
(10) Includes 4,066,617 shares of Class B Common Stock of which Mr. Welch shares the power to
vote and dispose.
(11) Includes 2,931,428 shares of Class B Common Stock of which Ms. Wolters shares the power to
dispose but has the sole power to vote.
(12) Includes all nine of our executive officers, only five of whom are named in the table. The
numbers shown include (a) the shares described in notes (4) through (11) above and
(b) 400 shares of Class A Common Stock of which one of the executive officers shares the
power to vote and dispose.
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Beneficial Owners of More than Five Percent of Our Common Stock
This table shows the amount of common stock beneficially owned by each other person known
by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our Class A Common Stock or our total common stock. The
information set forth in this table is based on the most recent Schedule 13D or 13G filing made by
such persons with the SEC, except where we know of any changes in beneficial ownership holdings
after the date of such filings. Please note the percentages listed in the Percent of Class column for
Class B Common Stock add up to more than 100% because (1) as described in the notes to the
table, some of the persons listed in the table share the power to vote and dispose of shares of
Class B Common Stock with one or more of the other persons listed in the table, and (2) for many
persons listed in the table, the number of Shares Beneficially Owned is based on filings by such
persons with the SEC as of December 31, 2005 or earlier but the Percent of Class is calculated
based on the total number of shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding on April 26, 2006.
Class A
Common Stock (1)
Shares
Beneficially
Percent
Owned
of Class

Name

Fifth Third Bancorp and Fifth Third Bank (2)ÏÏÏ
Ariel Capital Management (3)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Peter M. Wege (4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Robert C. Pew II (5) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mary I. Pew (6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Allen I. Hunting, Jr. (7) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
CRASTECOM B Limited Partnership(8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Cooke & Bieler, L.P. (9) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

8,482,617
16,809,891
5,753,269
58,131
296
Ì
Ì
3,969,894

Class B
Common Stock
Shares
Beneficially
Percent
Owned
of Class

11.0% 59,199,110
21.8%
Ì
7.5%
8,424,944
*
11,337,373
*
11,337,373
Ì
8,441,404
Ì
7,690,909
5.1%
Ì

81.3%
Ì
11.6%
15.6%
15.6%
11.6%
10.6%
Ì

* Less than 1%
(1) If the number of shares each shareholder could acquire upon conversion of its, his or her Class B
Common Stock were included as shares of Class A Common Stock beneficially owned, the
following holders of Class B Common Stock would be deemed to beneficially own the number of
shares of Class A Common Stock (including stock options) and the percentage of the total
shares of Class A Common Stock listed opposite their names:
Name

Number of
Shares

Fifth Third Bancorp and Fifth Third Bank ÏÏ
Peter M. Wege ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Robert C. Pew IIÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Mary I. Pew ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Allen I. Hunting, Jr. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
CRASTECOM B Limited Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏ
W. Michael Van Haren ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James F. HuntingÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
James C. Welch ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Bonnico Limited Partnership ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Anne Hunting ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ
ABJ Investments Limited PartnershipÏÏÏÏÏÏ
Olive Shores, Inc. ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ

67,681,727
14,178,213
11,395,504
11,337,669
8,441,404
7,690,909
7,334,286
5,538,026
5,066,665
4,857,342
4,594,457
4,476,491
4,476,491

Percent of
Class A

49.6%
16.6%
12.9%
12.8%
9.9%
9.1%
9.0%
6.7%
6.2%
5.9%
5.6%
5.6%
5.5%

(2) The addresses of Fifth Third Bancorp and Fifth Third Bank Ì a Michigan banking corporation
(collectively, ""Fifth Third'') are Fifth Third Center, Cincinnati, OH 45263 and 111 Lyon Street
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NW, Grand Rapids MI 49503, respectively. Includes (a) 3,627,129 shares of Class A Common
Stock and 18,613,778 shares of Class B Common Stock which Fifth Third shares with others the
power to vote and (b) 4,440,435 shares of Class A Common Stock and 34,164,737 shares of
Class B Common Stock of which Fifth Third shares with others the power to dispose. We believe
there is substantial duplication between the shares that Fifth Third beneficially owns and the
shares which are beneficially owned by the other persons listed in this table and the previous
table, because, among other reasons, Fifth Third serves as a co-trustee of a number of trusts of
which our directors and executive officers and other beneficial owners of more than 5% of our
common stock serve as co-trustees.
(3) The address of Ariel Capital Management, Inc. (""Ariel'') is 200 East Randolph Drive, Suite 2900,
Chicago, IL 60601. Includes (a) 14,112,366 shares of Class A Common Stock which Ariel has
the sole power to vote and (b) 16,807,946 shares of Class A Common Stock of which Ariel has
the sole power to dispose.
(4) The address of Mr. Wege is P.O. Box 6388, Grand Rapids, MI 49516. Includes 5,363,348 shares
of Class A Common Stock and 5,617,755 shares of Class B Common Stock held by various
trusts, of which shares Mr. Wege has no ability to vote or direct the disposition but can prevent
the disposition of the shares by the trustees; Mr. Wege disclaims beneficial ownership of these
shares.
(5) The address of Mr. Pew II is Steelcase Inc., 901 44th Street SE, Grand Rapids, MI 49508.
Includes (a) 17,835 shares of Class A Common Stock that can be acquired as a result of the
exercise of stock options within 60 days of April 26, 2006 and (b) 296 shares of Class A
Common Stock and 3,516,674 shares of Class B Common Stock of which Mr. Pew II has the sole
power to vote but does not have any power to dispose. Of the shares reported as beneficially
owned by Mr. Pew II, 296 shares of Class A Common Stock and 11,337,373 shares of Class B
Common Stock are deemed to be beneficially owned by Mr. Pew II's wife; see note 6 below.
(6) The address of Mrs. Pew is Steelcase Inc., 901 44th Street SE, Grand Rapids, MI 49508.
Includes 296 shares of Class A Common Stock and 3,516,674 shares of Class B Common Stock
of which Mrs. Pew shares the power to dispose but does not have the power to vote. All of the
shares reported as beneficially owned by Mrs. Pew are deemed to be beneficially owned by
Mrs. Pew's husband; see note 5 above.
(7) The address of Mr. Hunting is 2820 Pioneer Club Road, Grand Rapids, MI 49506. Includes
7,813,033 shares of Class B Common Stock of which Mr. Hunting shares the power to vote and
dispose.
(8) The address of CRASTECOM B Limited Partnership is 7091 Conservation Road, Ada, MI 49301.
William P. Crawford is the managing partner of this partnership, and the shares held by this
partnership are included in his beneficial ownership in the previous table.
(9) The address of Cooke & Bieler, L.P. (""Cooke'') is 1700 Market Street, Suite 3222, Philadelphia,
PA 19103. Includes (a) 1,911,754 shares of Class A Common Stock which Cooke shares with
others the right to vote and (b) 3,893,394 shares of Class A Common Stock of which Cooke
shares with others the right to dispose.
SECTION 16(a) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMPLIANCE
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, executive officers,
and those who beneficially own more than 10% of our Class A Common Stock to file reports of initial
ownership and changes in their beneficial ownership of shares of Class A Common Stock with the
SEC. Based on our review of the reports filed with the SEC, or written representations that no reports
were required, we believe that during fiscal year 2006, all Section 16(a) reports were filed on a timely
basis, except Peter M. Wege filed a late report regarding four transactions.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During fiscal year 2006, we paid Fifth Third Bancorp and its subsidiaries (""Fifth Third'') an
aggregate of approximately $907,000 in fees for various services rendered to us, including cash
management services, trustee and investment management services under our Retirement Plan, credit
commitments under our global bank facility and other credit services. During fiscal year 2006, we
received approximately $11,830,000 in revenues from sales of products and related services to Fifth
Third. Fifth Third also received fees of approximately $203,000 during fiscal year 2006 for investment
services rendered to the Steelcase Foundation. Fifth Third is a holder of record, through various trusts
and accounts, of more than 5% of our Class A Common Stock.
We employ Jennifer C. Niemann, daughter of William P. Crawford, as a vice president, a nonexecutive officer position. Mr. Crawford is a director and the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our
Class A Common Stock. In fiscal year 2006, Ms. Niemann earned approximately $156,000 in salary
and $58,000 in annual bonus, and she also participated in other plans and received benefits available
to our other North American employees in comparable positions.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following line graph compares cumulative total shareholder return of our Class A Common
Stock to the Standard & Poor's 500 Stock Index (""S&P 500'') and to a peer group. It is assumed the
values of the investments in Class A Common Stock, the S&P 500 and the peer group were $100.00
on February 23, 2001 and all dividends were reinvested.
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103.87
139.76
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(1) The S&P 500 is used as a performance indicator of the overall stock market.
(2) The peer group consists of three companies that manufacture office furniture and have industry
characteristics that we believe are similar to Steelcase's. The peer group consists of Herman
Miller, Inc., HNI Corporation (formerly known as HON Industries Inc.), and Kimball International
Inc.

32

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION
Voting
Michigan law and our by-laws require a quorum for the Meeting, which means that holders of a
majority of the voting power entitled to vote must be present in person or represented by proxy in
order to transact business at the Meeting. Withheld votes and abstentions are counted in determining
whether a quorum has been reached.
Assuming a quorum has been reached, we must determine the results of the vote on each matter
submitted for shareholders' approval. In order to be elected, the director nominees must receive a
plurality of the votes cast at the Meeting for the election of directors.
Under NYSE rules, brokers who hold shares on behalf of their customers (shares held in street
name) can vote on certain items when they do not receive instructions from their customers.
However, brokers are not authorized to vote on ""non-routine'' matters if they do not receive
instructions from their customers. The election of directors is a ""routine'' matter under NYSE rules.
Therefore, brokers holding shares in street name for their customers can vote as they wish on behalf
of any customer who does not give his or her broker instructions on how to vote in the election of
directors.
Solicitation of Proxies
We will bear the cost of soliciting proxies, which will be done by e-mail, mail, telephone or in
person by our directors, officers and employees, who will not be additionally compensated for those
activities. We will also reimburse banks, brokers, nominees and other fiduciaries for reasonable
expenses they incur in forwarding these proxy materials at our request to the beneficial owners of
Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stock.
Independent Auditor
BDO Seidman, LLP serves as our independent auditor. BDO representatives will attend the
Meeting, have an opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so, and respond to appropriate
questions.

By Order of the Board of Directors,

Jon D. Botsford
Senior Vice President, Secretary
and Chief Legal Officer
Grand Rapids, Michigan
May 18, 2006
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Directors and Executive Officers

DIRECTORS
William P. Crawford 3,4
Retired; formerly President
and Chief Executive Officer,
Steelcase Design Partnership
James P. Hackett 3
President and
Chief Executive Officer,
Steelcase Inc.
Earl D. Holton 1,2,3
Retired; formerly Vice
Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Meijer, Inc.
Michael J. Jandernoa 1,2
a General Partner,
Bridge Street Capital Fund I, L.P.;
formerly Chairman of the Board
of Directors, Perrigo Company
David W. Joos 2
President and
Chief Executive Officer,
CMS Energy Corporation and
Chief Executive Officer,
Consumers Energy Company
Elizabeth Valk Long 1,4
Retired; formerly Executive
Vice President, Time Inc.
Robert C. Pew III 1,3,4
Chairman of the Board of
Directors, Steelcase Inc.;
Private Investor
Cathy D. Ross 1
Senior Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer,
Federal Express Corporation
Peter M. Wege II 1,3,4
Chairman of the
Board of Directors,
Contract Pharmaceuticals
Limited; formerly President,
Steelcase Canada Ltd.

1 = Audit Committee

P. Craig Welch, Jr. 2,3,4
Manager, Honzo LLC;
formerly Director of
Information Services,
Director of Production
Inventory Control,
Steelcase Inc.
Kate Pew Wolters 2,4
Philanthropist;
President, Kate and
Richard Wolters Foundation

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Mark A. Baker
Senior Vice President,
Global Operations Officer
Jon D. Botsford
Senior Vice President,
Secretary and Chief Legal Officer
Mark T. Greiner
Senior Vice President,
WorkSpace Futures
James P. Hackett
President and
Chief Executive Officer
Nancy W. Hickey
Senior Vice President,
Chief Administrative Officer
James P. Keane
Senior Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer
Michael I. Love
President and Chief
Executive Officer,
Steelcase Design Partnership
Frank H. Merlotti, Jr.
President,
Steelcase North America
James G. Mitchell
President,
Steelcase International

2 = Compensation Committee

3 = Executive Committee

4 = Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Corporate Information

Global Headquarters
Steelcase Inc.
901 44th Street
Grand Rapids, MI 49508
Phone: (616) 247-2710
Products and Services
For the address and telephone
number of your nearest
Steelcase dealer or for information
about our products, please
call (800) 333-9939 or visit our
website at www.steelcase.com.
Common Stock Data
Steelcase Inc. Class A Common
Stock has been publicly
traded since February 18, 1998,
and is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange under the
symbol SCS. The Class B
Common Stock is not publicly
traded but is convertible into
Class A Common Stock on a
one-for-one basis.
Dividends
The company has paid cash
dividends each year since 1934.
The current rate is $0.10 per
share per quarter.
Shareholder Account Inquiries
Registered shareholders can access
their account online. Log on to
www.computershare.com/equiserve
to view share balance, change
address, complete certain
transactions and get answers to
other stock-related inquiries.
You can also call or write
Steelcase’s transfer agent at:
Computershare Trust Company, N.A.
Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 43078
Providence, RI 02940-3078
Phone: (800) 958-6931
Outside the continental
U.S. and Canada:
(781) 575-3120
For the hearing-impaired:
(800) 952-9245

Independent Auditors
BDO Seidman, LLP
99 Monroe Avenue N.W.
Suite 800
Grand Rapids, MI 49503-2698
Phone: (616) 774-7000
Shareholder Reports and
Investor Inquiries
You can request copies
of financial documents such
as this annual report and
Form 10-K free of charge, or
direct financial information
inquiries to:
Investor Relations
GH-3C
P.O. Box 1967
Grand Rapids, MI 49501-1967
Phone: (616) 247-2200
Fax: (616) 475-2270
Email: ir@steelcase.com
Investor Relations on the Web
If you wish to receive investor
information as soon as it is
published, please visit the
Investor Relations section of
www.steelcase.com. You can
subscribe to email alerts and
receive notification whenever
new events, SEC filings or news
releases are posted to the
website. You may also submit
requests for printed financial
materials.
2006 Environmental Report
This report details our efforts to
protect the environment. You can
read the report online or request a
printed copy at www.steelcase.com.
Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of Steelcase
shareholders will be held on
Thursday, June 22, 2006, at
11 a.m. EDT in our Town Hall,
located on the north side of the
Steelcase University Learning
Center, adjacent to Global
Headquarters. A live webcast
will also be available at
www.steelcase.com/ir.

Contact the Steelcase
Board of Directors
To report issues about Steelcase’s
accounting, internal controls and
procedures, auditing matters or other
concerns to the Board of Directors or
Audit Committee, write to the Steelcase
Board of Directors, Chairman of the
Board/Lead Non-Management Director,
c/o Steelcase Inc., P.O. Box 1967,
Grand Rapids, Michigan 49501; or call
(800) 437-6167 in the United States,
Canada or Mexico, or call collect
(704) 943-1134 from outside the
United States.
Certifications
Steelcase has included as Exhibits 31.1
and 31.2 to its Annual Report on
Form 10-K for fiscal year 2006 filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission
all required certifications of Steelcase’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer regarding the quality of the
company’s public disclosures in its fiscal
2006 reports in accordance with Section
302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
In July 2005, Steelcase’s Chief Executive
Officer provided to the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), the annual CEO
certification regarding Steelcase’s
compliance with the NYSE’s corporate
governance listing standards.
Forward-looking Statements
Certain statements in this document
are “forward-looking statements” within
the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act. These statements
are based on management’s current
expectations and are subject to
uncertainty and changes in circumstances.
Actual results may differ materially from
those included in these statements due to
a variety of factors. For more information
about forward-looking statements and the
factors that may cause actual results to
vary, please see the Forward-looking
Statements section in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, which is included herein.

Do what you do better.
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